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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

(Important notice: This report is published in Chinese and English versions. In
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

FREH

[]F

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | would like to present the audited annual results of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2020.

I.

REVIEW OF OPERATING CONDITIONS

In 2020, facing the severe and complicated environment domestically
and abroad, particularly the outbreak of the novel coronavirus
(“COVID-19"), the Chinese government has implemented various
measures to prevent and control the spread of COVID-19 and to
facilitate economic and social developments. China’s economy recovered
steadily and the progress of fulfillment of the key targets of economic
and social development was better than expected. The annual gross
domestic product reached RMB101.6 trillion, representing a year-on-year
increase of 2.3% in terms of comparable prices. The heavy-duty truck
industry of China delivered sales volume of 1,619,000 units,
representing a year-on-year growth of 37.9%; the construction
machinery industry of China delivered sales volume of 919,000 units
(including forklift trucks using internal combustion engines), representing
a year-on-year growth of 23.9% and the agricultural equipment
industry' of China delivered sales volume of 521,000 units, representing
a year-on-year growth of 53.9%.

The data of agricultural equipment industry is the data of purchase subsidies of
agricultural machineries, including tractors with 50 horsepower or above, corn
harvesters, wheat harvesters, rice harvesters and others.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
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During the reporting period, the Company scientifically prevented and
controlled the pandemic, took the lead in resuming operation and
production, focused on technological innovation, seized market
opportunities and continuously optimised its business structure and
enhanced its operational efficiency, leading to significant improvement
in its core competitiveness. In 2020, the Company’s revenue increased
by approximately 13.3% as compared with that in the corresponding
period of 2019 to approximately RMB197,491 million. Net profit
attributable to shareholders of the listed company was approximately
RMB9,207 million, representing an increase of 1.1% as compared with
that in the corresponding period of 2019. Basic earnings per share was
RMB1.16, representing an increase of 1.1% as compared with that in
the corresponding period of 2019.

1. Power System Business
The Company upheld an innovation-driven approach to establish
its core competitiveness. Through simultaneous growth in both
products with competitive advantages and strategic products, its
product mix became more reasonable. The new generation of the
high-end platforms “N+H+M" are constantly upgraded and
market performance of products such as WP8, WP10.5H and N
series are outstanding with exponential growth in accumulated
sale volume. The performance of N-series products has been
significantly improved in terms of prime power in high-altitude
environment and fuel consumption of complete vehicles. The
Company has made breakthroughs in a brand new H-series
products development project that aims to benchmark the world’s
most advanced standard and large diameter engines project that
strives to achieve the first class in the world. Reliability of natural
gas engines has been further enhanced and the research and
development (R&D) of the technology of high thermal efficiency
and zero emission diesel engines continued to progress. All series
of engines met the China VI-b Emission Standard and preparation
work for products complying with standards including non-road-
going China IV was completed ahead of schedule, which will
enable the Company to firmly secure its leading position amidst

WEICHATI POWER Co., LTD. M4 NBRMNBERLAD
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

the new round of emission standards upgrade. Leveraging the
globally coordinated R&D platform, we made strenuous efforts in
achieving breakthroughs in core technologies, and our product
competitiveness was significantly strengthened by continuously
optimising engines and performance strengths of parts and
components, lowering costs and fuel consumption, light-
weighting, etc. The Company was committed to creating synergy
by combining its resources and speeding up the integration of the
industrial chain. With engines as our principal axis, the Company
achieved rapid breakthroughs in core technology of three major
powertrain systems, namely, commercial vehicles, construction
machineries and agricultural equipment, and took full advantage
of systematic matching of its products, thereby forming Weichai’ s
unique technological solutions. Following the completion of test
for multi-operating conditions of hydraulic powertrain for
construction machineries and agricultural equipment CVT
powertrain, the Company achieved self-development of and full
control over its core technologies. By strengthening self-
development and innovation, the Company made fruitful
technological achievements. The Company launched the first
commercial diesel engine in the world with an over 50% thermal
efficiency, setting a benchmark for thermal efficiency of diesel
engines worldwide. Its “Key Technology and Application of Diesel
Engines with High Efficiency and High Reliability” project was
awarded the special prize for technological advancement in the
mechanical industry in the PRC (F BRI #4; T SR SRS 18).
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
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WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

ETRHRE

( fig )

During the reporting period, the performance of the Company’s
power system business hit another record high: sales volume of
engines increased year-on-year by 32.2% to 981,000 units; sales
volume of gear boxes increased year-on-year by 18.4% to 1.186
million units; sales volume of axles increased year-on-year by
39.7% to 1.09 million units. In addition, our strategic high-end
products continued to develop, with sales revenue of large-
diameter engines achieving RMB950 million, representing a year-
on-year growth of 21.7%, and sales revenue of high-end hydraulic
products achieving RMB500 million, representing a year-on-year
growth of 53.8%.

Commercial Vehicles Business

Upholding a strategy driven by complete vehicles and machineries,
the Company sped up resources coordination and industrial chain
structural upgrades, and further enhanced the comprehensive
competitiveness of our products. Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor
Company Limited (BrFaE%! /T8 BR /A A)), a controlling subsidiary
of the Company, effectively overcame the impacts brought by
COVID-19 pandemic by making continuous efforts in the
adjustment of the major products, market structure and services
network, and achieved stable growth with a total heavy-duty
trucks sales volume of 181,000 units, representing a year-on-year
growth of 16.4%. We focused on the segment markets and
consolidated our leading advantages. The Company sustained the
top position in various segment markets such as coal
transportation, port tractor, sand and gravel transportation and
crane truck. The Company also overcame the impacts of

MEBRAN BHEREBHARE
SHmHEEHKBIESF
tb 1% £322% : $5 & & R #1186
EA RHLIERI84%  HEHF
109.08 1B+ [ Lt # £39.7% ° [
Fr-BRemEmMEBE N K
st TN/ AISE L AL
BE21.7% mimRBEERBE AWK
AS5.01E7T - A K53.8% °

BAEEK
BETBHSBREERERTH
BB MEREIRWG RN E X @S
%ﬁi& BERAERHEF N K
THX? AIPRPEER REH
NEIRFEEBCABREITHE®
miﬁ EEURRBEHEL  EHR
REBFE BEEEBREEK R
HESRMNREISIE®W ALK
164% - BEMO ML FERKL
B -BERERER AOES -
’J‘Eﬂ@%u BEERFZHEE D
TEF— RARBINEBTE.
BHRHREERE BEMTS K
BRI NBERA - FIAlFEE
B OTEREER - HEPEGE

R NRMBERAT



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

COVID-19 pandemic in the overseas market and actively expanded
channels of cooperation, thereby significantly enhanced our ability
in grasping market opportunities. We continued to uphold an
innovation-driven approach to create a leading edge. To satisfy the
demands in the short-to-medium distance transportation market,
the Company launched new generation of M3000S products, fully
covering tractors, self-unloading, loading and special vehicles; and
developed Delong X6000 heavy-duty trucks, which are
internationally leading in key performance such as fuel efficiency,
comfort, safety and intelligence and taking lead in the era of
smart heavy-duty trucks in China. The Company accelerated the
development of battery electric vehicles and hybrid vehicles and
the application of new energy technologies so as to win the
market initiative; we also expedited the exploration of effective
combination of management of customers’ demands with the
Internet throughout the life cycle of trucks and introduced
innovative models of cooperation with major customers and
platform customers on an ongoing basis, proactively forming a
new business format.

Intelligent Logistics Business

KION Group AG (“KION"), an overseas controlling subsidiary, is a
globally leading supplier in the area of intralogistics which assists
factories, warehouses and distribution centres to optimise their
materials flow and information flow through the design,
establishment and improvement of logistics solutions in over a
hundred countries and regions around the world. Dematic Group
is a globally leading automated logistics expert, with its products
meeting the comprehensive needs in areas of intelligent supply
chain and automated solutions. In 2020, the total order value of
KION amounted to EUR9.44 billion, representing a year-on-year
increase of 3.6%, among which the order value of supply chain
solutions amounted to EUR3.65 billion, representing a year-on-
year increase of 31.9%.
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New Business Format, New Energy and New
Technology

While we have been devoted to our traditional business, we also
focused on our 2020-2030 strategy by actively facilitating the re-
engineering of the industrial chain and upgrade of the value chain
as well as accelerating our expansion in new industries such as
new energy, hydraulics and smart driving. The Company focused
on key technologies to take lead in the development of the
industry. The strategic restructure of Germany-based ARADEX AG
allowed the Company to make up for the weakness in electric
control system and successfully developed a new energy power
system integrating “cell+ motor+ ECU” providing a market
advantage. The strategic restructure of Austria-based VDS Holding
GmbH filled the gaps in large-scale CVT power system of
agricultural equipment technology in China. We have built a
hydrogen-fueled batteries engine factory with a production
capacity of 20,000 units, which is currently the world’s largest
manufacturing base of engines powered by hydrogen-fueled
batteries. With the support of the new generation of information
technology, the Company sped up the pace of digital
transformation. With customers as the centre and digital
technology as the carrier, the Company served and empowered
our business and sped up the pace of digital transformation. We
have actively developed artificial intelligence and internet of
vehicles businesses. For the intelligent connection network, the
development and testing of major functions of driving assistance
and development of the auto-driving system have been
completed, the technology of which is capable of being
transferred to different models of vehicles under different driving
conditions. We have been continuously optimising our supply
chain business and empowering upstream and downstream
suppliers and customers, so as to achieve highly-efficient synergy
in the industry chain and enhance the consistency in product
quality.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

IT.

I11.

DivVIDENDS AND CAPITALISATION OF RESERVE

It is proposed that the Company will not make profit distribution for
2020 nor will it convert its capital reserve funds into share capital given
that Company is currently proceeding with the non-public issuance of A
shares, after making comprehensive consideration of factors such as the
interests of shareholders and the development of the Company.
Following the completion of the non-public issuance of A shares, the
Company will conduct profit distribution as soon as possible in
compliance with the requirements of relevant regulatory authorities and
its articles of association.

QUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

Looking into 2021, due to the impact of pandemic, the overall global
economy will be in a sluggish recovery under a number of constraints
including the impact brought by a new wave of the pandemic, weak
growth momentum and gloomy employment market, resulting in a high
level of uncertainties in economic outlook. From the perspective of the
domestic economy, making progress while maintaining stability remains
the general keynote. As China has a stronger momentum of economic
recovery, the domestic consumption power will be further stimulated
through the strategy of expanding domestic demand under the
development model of domestic and international dual circulation.
Remediation of shortcomings in infrastructures, “new infrastructure,
new urbanisation initiatives and major projects” ("M#¥—E") and the
expansion of strategic investments in emerging industries will constantly
boost the demands in auxiliary markets such as trucks and construction
machineries markets. Limitations on production for environmental
protection, replacement of China Ill vehicles, and anti-overloading
policies will continue to drive replacement demands in industries
including the truck industry. Motivated by the development of new
infrastructures such as 5G facility construction, market demand for
energy and electricity will gradually expand. The work concerning
agriculture, rural areas and farmers (“=/2") has shifted from “winning
the battle against poverty” to “comprehensive rural vitalisation”, thereby
creating development opportunities for agricultural machinery auxiliaries.
In view of the goals of “CO2 Emission Peak by 2030 and Carbon
Neutrality by 2060” and the huge potential brought by the trend of
energy saving and intelligent network, there will be a rapid development
in the new energy business, which will bring opportunities for the high-
quality development of related businesses of the Company.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

14

The Company will continue to carefully implement pandemic prevention
and control measures as part of our normal operations, make continuous
effort in optimising production and operation, fully expedite the pace of
technological innovation, enhance product competitiveness and brand
influence, and make best efforts to accomplish our full-year goals.

Focusing on the annual sales target, the Company will strive for market
expansion. Adhering to a customer demand-oriented approach, the
Company will seize the development opportunities in the “post-
pandemic era”, make efforts to improve product offerings, steadfastly
capture the market demands and secure orders. We will cultivate
different segment markets and adjust our marketing strategies from time
to time to precisely address diversified needs from different customers,
as well as to further upgrade our business model with innovative
marketing models and optimised sales and service systems. Through
scientific research on emission-related regulations and policies and the
development pattern of the industry, we will make scientific planning of
products and technologies based on the Company’s “14th Five-Year”
development plan. We also aim to digitalise all business processes and
efficiently respond to the needs of customers and market through
enhancement of product development, delivery, quality and services. We
will accelerate the pace of technological innovation and move towards
the high end in all aspects. Through coordinating global R&D resources,
we will continuously work on optimising the new four-in-one technology
innovation system consisting of “self-developed innovation+ open
innovation+ professional innovation+ basic-research innovation”. In
particular, in terms of the basic research area and “bottleneck”
technologies, we will strive to make breakthroughs to address thorny
issues and master the core technologies. We will efficiently introduce
road-going China VI and non-road-going China IV products and improve
product consistency to maintain a leading edge in the new cycle of
emission standard upgrade. Moreover, we will make efforts to expedite
breakthroughs in key and core technologies of fuel cells to significantly
lower the cost of fuel cell engines so as to reach a leading position in
the industry. We will accelerate the development of electric control of
engine, new energy and hydraulics to master key control technologies
and improve our forward development capacity of both software and
hardware. We will also speed up the implementation of additive
manufacturing by developing a design and simulation platform for
additive manufacturing in order to achieve the goal of integrating
product design and manufacturing. We will strengthen risk management
and control, and comprehensively enhance the quality of operation. We
will adopt innovative management approach and tools, establish a data
administration system and explore data value based on the needs of our
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

IV

customers and characteristics of their businesses, with a view to
facilitating the digital transformation of the management of the
Company. We will make continuous effort to lower costs, improve
efficiency and enhance the profitability of all series of products in a
comprehensive manner. We will further enhance the methodology, tools
and approaches of the WOS management system, and accelerate the
promotion and implementation of WOS at different classes and levels.
With a business-oriented approach, we will systematically identify
weakness in our operation and make continuous improvement to the
Company’s operational management and control. We will establish a
risk-oriented internal control system focusing on the supervision of
compliance and based on internal control guidelines in order to promote
the sound and orderly operation of domestic and overseas subsidiaries.
We will step up the construction of an innovative eco-system and build a
pool of talents. In the new era, under the new landscape and to meet
new demands, the Company will strive to establish an optimal top-level
design of the innovative eco-system, enhance the integration of industry-
university-research innovation chain and coordinate the innovation
resources for optimised allocation. We will optimise the precise appraisal
and incentive system, establish a multi-level incentive system, innovate
incentive measures such as equity-based incentive, results-sharing and
upfront incentives to encourage innovation and creativity. We will
formulate human resources planning in a scientific way, step up the
recruitment of strategic talents and expedite the training of skillful
talents with craftsmanship, with a view to building a team of
international talents with a reasonable mix of different age groups and a
scientific medium-to-high level hierarchy, thereby providing full support
for the Company to move towards high-end.

APPRECIATION

Last but not least, | would like to express my sincere appreciation to all
our shareholders, the general public and our customers for their care
and support, as well as to all of our staff for their hard work and
dedication!

Tan Xuguang
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 30 March 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Directors are pleased to present a management discussion and analysis of
the results of operations of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020
as follows:

I. INDUSTRY ANALYSIS

The Company is one of the vehicle and equipment manufacturing
conglomerates in the PRC with the best comprehensive strengths. It is a
leading company in the areas of powertrain, complete vehicles and
machineries, hydraulic controlling parts, new energy cells and
automotive ECU and parts and components, and is equipped with the
most comprehensive supply chain of engines, gear boxes and axles, and
offers related aftersales market services. Meanwhile, with its leading
advantages in intelligent logistics, the Group is able to provide the most
comprehensive logistics solutions to its customers.

1. Commercial Vehicles, Construction Machinery and
Agricultural Equipment Industries
In 2020, as the global economy was severely stricken by the
COVID-19 pandemic, various industries including international
trading, tourism, and air transportation were all impacted on an
unprecedented scale. To control the pandemic, different countries
had implemented various restrictive measures and the industry and
supply chain cycles had been significantly affected. Facing the
complex and challenging domestic and overseas environments, the
Chinese government implemented effective measures to prevent
and control the spread of COVID-19 and to resume economic
activities, which resulted in a steady recovery in the economy. The
gross domestic product of the PRC last year reached RMB101.6
trillion, representing a year-on-year increase of approximately
2.3%. The report of International Monetary Fund published in
January 2021 showed that the global gross domestic product for
2020 was -3.5% and that major economies recorded different
degrees of negative growth and China is the only exception with a
positive growth.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

The pandemic in China began to come under control during the
Year. In the overall environment of the domestic and international
dual circulation, investment activities gradually resumed to the
level before the outbreak of the pandemic. Benefited from
favorable factors such as China’s investment in infrastructure,
upgrade of emission standards and the rapid development of
domestic logistics and transportation, the markets of commercial
vehicles, construction machinery and agricultural equipment
continued to operate at a high level. The heavy truck market
achieved an annual sales volume of approximately 1.619 million
units, representing a year-on year increase of approximately
37.9%; the construction machinery industry (including forklift
trucks using internal combustion engines) achieved an annual sales
volume of approximately 919,000 units, representing a year-on-
year increase of approximately 23.9%; the agricultural equipment
industry achieved an annual sales volume of approximately
521,000 units, representing a year-on-year increase of
approximately 53.9%.

Forklift Truck and Supply Chain Solutions Industry
During the Year, despite the impact of COVID-19 pandemic, the
global orders for industrial forklift trucks increased from
approximately 1,509,000 units in 2019 to approximately
1,639,000 units, representing a year-on-year increase of
approximately 8.6%. Due to the successful control of the
pandemic and rapid market recovery in China, the orders for
industrial forklift trucks in China increased by 37.0% to 648,000
units during the Year. On the other hand, negative growth was
recorded in Europe, the Middle East, Africa, and North America
regions. In the supply chain solution industry, increasing
consumers switched to online shopping due to the pandemic. As
companies have to reorganise their supply chains, demands for
warehouse automation and sortation systems increased. As
estimated by a research institution, global orders for warehouse
automation recorded a high single digit growth in 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

IT. THE GROUP’S BUSINESS

18

An analysis of the Group’s business segments is set out in Note XIV. 3 to
the consolidated financial statements. The following is an overview of
the operating conditions of the major products of the Group:

Powertrain, Complete Vehicles and Machines and
Key Components

The Group adhered to the innovation-oriented approach and
continued to invest in research and development. In September
2020, the Company released the first commercial diesel engines in
the world with a thermal efficiency of over 50%. The Group's
existing full-series engines reached China VI-b emission standard,
and we had completed the preparation of non-road-going China
IV product ahead of schedule. The Group was committed to
creating synergy by combining its resources and achieving rapid
breakthroughs in core technology of three major powertrain
systems, namely, commercial vehicles, construction machineries
and agricultural equipment with engines as our principal axis, as
well as taking full advantage of systematic matching of its
products, thereby creating competitive advantage of
differentiation and speeding up the integration of the industrial
chain. During the year of 2020, the Company sold approximately
981,000 units of engines; approximately 1.186 million units of
gear boxes, representing an increase of approximately 32.2% and
18.4% as compared to approximately 742,000 units and 1.002
million units in the same period in 2019, respectively. The engines
segment contributed RMB47,694 million to the sales revenue of
the Group during the year, representing a year-on-year increase of
27.8%.

Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Company Limited (BkpaEEf) ;58 AR
7xal), a controlling subsidiary of the Group, fully took a leading
role in complete vehicles and ranked top in multiple segment
markets including coal transportation, port tractor, sand and
gravel transportation and crane trucks. During the Year, the Group
sold approximately 181,000 units of heavy-duty trucks, an increase
of approximately 16.4% as compared to that of the same period
in 2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Intelligent Logistics

During the Year, despite the increase in the number of global
orders for industrial forklift trucks, the number of the Group's
forklift truck orders decreased from approximately 213,700 units
in the previous year to approximately 198,300 units, representing
a year-on-year decrease of approximately 7.2%. The annual
amount of orders decreased by approximately 8.8% to
approximately EURS5,776 million, as compared to approximately
EUR6,331 million in the same period of the previous year. As the
major markets of Group’s forklift trucks were severely affected by
the pandemic last year, negative growth of approximately 5.2%
was recorded in the Europe, the Middle East and Africa regions.
The order value of supply chain solution services amounted to
approximately EUR3,654 million, representing a significant year-
on-year increase of approximately 31.9%, which was mainly due
to the rapid growth of e-commerce and outstanding innovation
capacity of the Group. Dematic Group, an overseas company of
the Group, successfully developed a new generation of warehouse
system Multishuttle 2.0 which is able to enhance the
transportation speed and accuracy of warehouses and distribution
centres. Intelligent logistics business contributed approximately
RMB64,979 million to the Group’s sales revenue of the Year,
representing a decrease of approximately 3.0% as compared to
approximately RMB67,005 million last year.

Last year, the Company expected that its sales revenue in 2020
would reach approximately RMB188.5 billion, representing an
increase of approximately 8%, while the actual sales revenue
amounted to approximately RMB197.5 billion, representing a year-
on-year increase of approximately 13%. Against the complicated
domestic and international landscape in the Year brought about
by the COVID-19 pandemic, the Company implemented policies
precisely to seize the opportunities arising from domestic
economic recovery and recorded a new high for its domestic
business. The Group’s new business format and diversified
business structure provided an obvious advantage and equipped
the Company with strong risk-resistance capacity to generate
greater-than-expected actual sales revenue.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

IIT.

20

In 2021, the global economy is still affected by the recurring
pandemic and the economic outlook is highly uncertain. The
Company will seize the development opportunities in the “post-
pandemic era” by continuing to optimise its production and
operation, fully accelerating its pace of technological innovation
and enhancing product competitiveness and brand influence in
striving to achieve the annual target. As at 31 December 2020,
the Company’s order on hand amounted to approximately
RMB35.6 billion. The Company expects that its sales revenue in
2021 would increase by approximately 15% to approximately
RMB227 billion.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group'’s Results of Operations
a. Revenue

In 2020, the Group’s revenue amounted to approximately
RMB197,491 million, representing an increase of
approximately RMB23,130 million or approximately 13.3%
from approximately RMB174,361 million in the
corresponding period in 2019. Benefiting from the
favourable factors such as the gradual control against the
spread of COVID-19 across the PRC, resumption of investing
activities and favourable government policies, the domestic
markets of commercial vehicles, construction machinery and
agricultural equipment continued to operate at a high level.
Driven by the change in the pattern of global consumption
and increased demand for warehouse automation and
sorting systems, the number of orders of the Group’s supply
chain solution services significantly increased. In particular,
revenue from principal operations increased by
approximately RMB20,887 million or approximately 12.2%
from approximately RMB171,001 million in the
corresponding period last year to approximately
RMB191,888 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Profit from Principal Operations

During the Year, the Group generated profit from principal
operations in the amount of approximately RMB37,476
million, representing a decrease of approximately RMB133
million or 0.4% from approximately RMB37,609 million
recorded in the corresponding period in 2019. This was
mainly attributable to the restrictive measures adopted by
various countries in Europe and the United States to control
the spread of COVID-19 which led to a decrease in the
profit contributed by overseas businesses and intelligent
logistics business. The recovery in domestic business and
engines segment was more obvious, offsetting most of the
adverse impact. The Group strictly controlled the costs to
maintain a stable profit margin from principal operations at
approximately 19.5%.

Distribution and Selling Expenses

Distribution and selling expenses decreased by
approximately 3.5% to approximately RMB10,862 million in
the Year from approximately RMB11,254 million in the
corresponding period of 2019. This was primarily
attributable to the decrease in marketing expenses and
travel expenses. The distribution and selling expenses as a
percentage of revenue dropped from approximately 6.5% in
the corresponding period of last year to approximately 5.5%
during the Year.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses increased by
approximately RMB810 million or approximately 11.7%
from approximately RMB6,900 million in the corresponding
period of 2019 to approximately RMB7,710 million in the
Year. The increase was mainly due to the effects of the
consolidation of Power Solutions International Inc. in the
United States and the increase in depreciation and
amortisation expenses during the Year. However, the overall
expenses were under effective control. The general and
administrative expenses as a percentage of revenue
decreased from approximately 4.0% as in the corresponding
period last year to approximately 3.9% during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

22

Earnings Before Interest and Tax (EBIT)

During the Year, the Group’s EBIT was approximately
RMB13,821 million, representing a decrease of
approximately RMB1,764 million or 11.3% from
approximately RMB15,585 million in the corresponding
period of 2019. The decrease in EBIT was primarily
attributable to the decrease in the profit contributed by the
intelligent logistics business, increase in loss of impairment
of credit of account receivables and provision for decline in
value of inventory, and the continuous increase in
investment in research and development of the Company.
As a result, EBIT margin dropped from approximately 8.9%
last year to approximately 7.0% this Year.

Finance Expenses

Finance expenses increased by approximately 26.6% to
approximately RMB279 million in the Year from
approximately RMB220 million in the corresponding period
of 2019. This was mainly attributable to exchange losses
and the increase in handling fees on bank loans, which
offset the increase in the net interest income.

Income Tax Expenses

The Group's income tax expenses decreased by
approximately 42.5% from approximately RMB2,445 million
in the corresponding period in 2019 to approximately
RMB1,407 million in the Year. The Group's average effective
tax rate was 11.1%, representing a decrease from
approximately 17.0% in the corresponding period last year,
which was mainly attributable to the decrease in offshore
profits.

Net Profit and Net Profit Margin

The Group's net profit decreased by approximately 5.3%
from approximately RMB11,907 million in the corresponding
period of 2019 to approximately RMB11,275 million in the
Year. During the Year, the net profit margin of the Group
was approximately 5.7%, representing a decrease of
approximately 1.1 percentage points. This was primarily
attributable to the decrease in net profit due to the impact
of COVID-19.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED) SIEEdmM AT (48)

i.  Liquidity and Cash Flow . REEZREELR
During the Year, the Group generated operating cashflows RAFE AEBEEK
of approximately RMB22,928 million and net increase in B e MK AR 8522928
cash and cash equivalents amounted to approximately BEE T 2FEREEHRES
RMB10,448 million. A portion of that was applied to the LEYWIFEMNBHOARE
acquisition of 100% equity interest of Digital Applications 10448 B LA o2
International Limited (total consideration amounting to AR Y Digital Applications
approximately EUR110 million), 38% equity interest of International Limited 100% A%
Shengrui Transmission Corporation Limited (total E(BREDHANE &K
consideration amounting to approximately RMB760 million), 7)) WEERIEEE RN AR
and 5,934,520 new shares of KION (total consideration NAIBUITE(ERE A A
amounting to approximately EUR368 million), the repayment R#7608 & T) R 8l #
of the US$400 million bonds issued in 2015, the repayment 5,934,520 % # B (48 K B 4
of borrowings, payment of interest, as well as the R3EBEEET) EE_T
acquisition of property, plant and equipment for the —HFBTMAEETLES
expansion of the Group’s business. As of 31 December EEEH AR EMEE
2020, the Group's cash and cash equivalents (net of ME- - EERRELNEERE KX
interest-bearing debts) amounted to net cash of RMB23,513 EEER - N_ZE_FF
million (as of 31 December 2019, the Group’s cash and cash +-_A=+—"BAXAEEZR
equivalents (net of interest-bearing debts) amounted to net eRESEBYWHREE
cash of RMB19,116 million). Based on the above BRRESFEARK23513
calculations, the Group is in a net cash position. As at 31 BET(R_E—-—NAEFE+=
December 2020, the Group’s gearing ratio (net interest- A=+ —HBX&EBEZHE R
bearing debts/(shareholders’ equity + net interest-bearing BeEBUWHNKTRBEKLKA
debts)) was approximately 26.6% (as at 31 December 2019: HeFHAR®KI191168 &
29.9%). ) EREMEE REEE

REREMN - R-ZF=F
F+-_A=+—BAX4&E
ERBBERRGIEEYR
(ERER+7TEEH)OAR
266% (R -_ZE—hhF+=A
=+ —H:299%)°

2. Financial Position 2. BBARR
a. Assets and Liabilities a. HBEEREE
As at 31 December 2020, the Group had total assets of R-_E-_ZBF+_A=+—
approximately RMB270,750 million, of which approximately B A"EEEERBHR/A
RMB152,515 million were current assets. As at 31 R¥270,7508 &t EF R
December 2020, the Group had cash and cash equivalents BEE A ANRE#HI152,515
of approximately RMB62,216 million (as at 31 December BB T R_Z_ZTF+=
2019: RMB48,818 million). On the same date, the Group's A=+—H T&EBHEBLH
total liabilities amounted to approximately RMB190,317 E22I6EB THEKE (R
million, of which approximately RMB123,713 million were —_E-hAhF+=-—A=+-—
current liabilities. The current ratio was approximately 1.23x H: AR¥48818E B L) °
(as at 31 December 2019: 1.19x). FB AEBEBEAZEAA

R® 419031758 L £
nEBEAEARKEL123,713
BETe B XL AF23
BR=_ZZFE—NLF+=A
=+—HB:1.19(F) -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had total equity of
approximately RMB80,433 million, of which approximately
RMB51,202 million was attributable to equity holders of the
Company and the remaining balance was minority interests.
Interest attributable to minority interest holders includes the
perpetual capital securities in the principal amount of
US$775 million issued in September 2017. The borrowings
of the Group as at 31 December 2020 amounted to
approximately RMB29,221 million, which included bonds of
approximately RMB8,703 million and bank borrowings of
approximately RMB20,518 million. Borrowings repayable on
demand or within a period not exceeding one year were
approximately RMB8,491 million, borrowings repayable
within a period of more than one year but not exceeding
two years were approximately RMB832 million; borrowings
repayable within a period of more than two years but not
exceeding five years were approximately RMB10,584 million;
and borrowings repayable within a period of more than 5
years were approximately RMB611 million. The bank
borrowings included approximately RMB9,173 million of
fixed interest rate bank borrowings and approximately
RMB11,345 million of floating interest rate bank
borrowings. Other than Euro-denominated borrowings
equivalent to approximately RMB16,321 million, USD-
denominated borrowings equivalent to approximately
RMB1,138 million, GBP-denominated borrowings equivalent
to approximately RMB247 million and INR-denominated
borrowings equivalent to approximately RMB21 million,
other borrowings are primarily Renminbi-denominated
borrowings. The revenue of the Group is mainly in Renminbi
and Euro. Contracts have been entered into with financial
institutions to swap the USD775 million USD-denominated
perpetual capital securities issued in September 2017 to
Euro, therefore the Group does not consider its currency risk
significant. As a policy, the Group manages its capital to
ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as
a going concern while maximising the return to shareholders
through the optimisation of the debts and equity balance.
The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior
years.

WEICHATI POWER Co., LTD. M4 NBRMNBERLAD
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2020, bank deposits, notes receivable
and receivable financing of approximately RMB24,429
million (as at 31 December 2019: approximately RMB22,897
million) were pledged to banks to secure the Group’s notes
payable, letter of guarantee, acceptance bills and letter of
credit, etc. issued by banks. The pledged bank deposits carry
prevailing bank interest rates. The pledge will be released
upon the settlement of the relevant bank borrowings. The
fair value of the bank deposits as at the balance sheet date
was approximately the same as the carrying amount. Certain
other assets were also pledged by the Group to secure the
Group's borrowings.

Contingencies

As at 31 December 2020, the Group provided certain
distributors and agents bank guarantee amounting to
approximately RMB3,587 million (as at 31 December 2019:
approximately RMB2,643 million) to secure their obtaining
and use of banking facilities.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group provided guarantee for
joint liabilities in respect of failure of the lessee under
finance lease to settle instalment payments plus interest.
Risk exposure in respect of possible guarantee for joint
liabilities amounted to approximately RMB3,550 million (as
at 31 December 2019: approximately RMB2,734 million).
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Commitments

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had capital
commitments of approximately RMB3,285 million (as at 31
December 2019: approximately RMB3,088 million),
principally for the capital expenditure for the acquisition of
property, plant and equipment. The capital expenditure will
be financed by internal resources.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had other investment
commitments of approximately RMB682 million, for the
conditional subscription of up to 236,705,601 new shares
(as at 31 December 2019: Nil) in Shantui Engineering
Machinery Co., Ltd. pursuant to a subscription agreement
entered into between the Company and Shantui
Engineering Machinery Co., Ltd. This investment will be
financed by internal resources.

3. Other Financial Information

a.

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

Employees

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had approximately
81,600 employees (including approximately 36,200
employees of KION). During the Year, the Group paid
remuneration of approximately RMB27,071 million. The
emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up
by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their
merits, qualifications and competence.

During the Year, following the orientation of “empowering
the group and the individuals, leading all members towards
our strategic targets”, the Company provided diversified
training totalling 1.505 million training hours to 205,000
participants in the Year, which translated to an average of
100.3 training hours per person, incurring training expenses
of approximately RMB34 million in total.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

b. Material Investment, Major Acquisition and
Disposal
During the Year, the Group did not have any material
investment, major acquisition or disposal.

¢. Subsequent Events

0]

On 24 December 2020, a resolution in relation to the
non-public issuance of A shares of the Company (“A
Shares”) have been considered and approved at the
Company’s tenth provisional meeting of the board of
directors (the “Board”) for the year 2020, and on 29
January 2021, a resolution in relation to the grant of
the general mandate to the Board was approved at
the extraordinary general meeting. Pursuant to the
general mandate, the Company will issue a maximum
of 793,387,389 new A Shares, representing not more
than 10% of the total issued share capital of the
Company prior to the completion of the non-public
issuance of A Shares, and the proceeds expected to
be raised will be not more than RMB13,000 million.
The issuance will be implemented by the Company in
due course by way of non-public issuance to specific
targets within the validity period upon obtaining the
approval from the China Securities Regulatory
Commission (the “CSRC"). The maximum number of
A Shares to be issued under the non-public issuance
of A Shares will be based on the approval granted by
the CSRC. The non-public issuance of A Shares is still
subject to the obtaining of the approval of the CSRC.

B2 B 51 ch 5y iifr (4&)
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(ii)

(iii)

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

At the board meeting held on 25 February 2021, a
proposal in relation to the possible spin-off and
separate listing of the spark plug business of the
Group on the ChiNext Board of the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (the “Possible Spin-off”) was considered
and approved. The Possible Spin-off is subject to the
approval of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”) and the
approval at the general meeting of the Company.

On 30 March 2021, the Company’s seventh meeting
of the fifth session of the Board considered and
approved that the Company will not make profit
distribution for 2020 nor will it convert its capital
reserve funds into share capital given that Company is
currently proceeding with the non-public issuance of
A Shares, after making comprehensive consideration
of factors such as the interests of shareholders and
the development of the Company. Following the
completion of the non-public issuance of A Shares,
the Company will conduct profit distribution as soon
as possible in compliance with the requirements of
relevant regulatory authorities and the articles of
association of the Company.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

(1) DIRECTORS

Mr. Tan Xuguang, Chinese, aged 59, is the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, chairman of Shandong Heavy Industry
Group Co., Ltd., chairman of Weichai Group Holdings Limited (which
holds A Shares of the Company with details as set out below and is thus
interested in the shares of the Company under Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance) and chairman of China National Heavy Duty
Truck Group Co., Ltd.,. He is also the chairman of Shaanxi Heavy-duty
Motor Company Limited and Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd., and the
supervisor of KION Group AG. Mr. Tan joined Weifang Diesel Engine
Factory in 1977 and had held various positions including chairman and
general manager of Shandong Weichai Import and Export Co., Ltd.,
general manager of Weifang Diesel Engine Factory, chairman of Torch
Automobile Group Co., Ltd., chairman of Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery
Co., Ltd., and chairman of Shandong Communications Industry Group
Holding Co., Ltd. Mr. Tan is a senior engineer and holds a doctor’s
degree in engineering. Mr. Tan was appointed as a Representative of the
Tenth, Eleventh, Twelfth and Thirteenth National People’s Congress of
the PRC. He was awarded various honours including “National Labour
Model”, "SFENEREBETXEE L " (the Gold Award of the 4th
Yuan Baohua Enterprise Management), China Outstanding Quality
Person, “Liu Yuan Zhang Quality and Technology Contribution Award”,
the “Leonardo Award” granted in Italy, Qilu Outstanding Talent Award
(B &t A 82), “The Most Beautiful Fighter” in the 70th Anniversary
of the establishment of the New China, Guanghua Engineering Science
and Technology Award, National Innovation Award and Top Science and
Technology Award of Shandong Province.

Mr. Zhang Quan, Chinese, aged 57, is an Executive Director and
Executive President of the Company. Mr. Zhang joined Weifang Diesel
Engine Factory in 1986 and had held various positions including the
director of the quality control department and the marketing
department, general manager of marketing and general manager of the
sales and marketing company of Weifang Diesel Engine Factory. Mr.
Zhang is currently holding various positions including a director of
Weichai Group Holdings Limited, Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery Co.,
Ltd., Beigi Foton Motor Co., Ltd.,, XCMG Construction Machinery Co.,
Ltd., and Wechai Lovol Heavy Industry Co., Ltd. Mr. Zhang is a senior
economist and holds a bachelor’s degree in engineering and an MBA
degree.
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Mr. Xu Xinyu, Chinese, aged 57, is an Executive Director of the
Company. Mr. Xu joined Weifang Diesel Engine Factory in 1986 and had
held various positions including executive president of the Company, the
deputy general manager of Shandong Weichai Import and Export Co.,
Ltd., deputy general manager and executive deputy general manager of
Weifang Diesel Engine Factory, director of Torch Automobile Group Co.,
Ltd., chairman of Weichai Power (Weifang) Investment Co., Ltd.,
chairman of Weichai Power (Shanghai) Technology Development Co.,
Ltd., chairman of Weichai Power (Beijing) International Resource
Investment Co., Ltd., chairman of Société International des Moteurs
Baudouin and chairman of Weichai America Corp. Mr. Xu is currently
holding various positions including a vice chairman and deputy general
manager of Weichai Group Holdings Limited, director of Weichai Power
(Hong Kong) International Development Co., Ltd., chairman of Weichai
Power (Luxembourg) Holding S.a r.l. and chairman of Ferretti
International Holdings S.p.A. Mr. Xu is a senior economist and holds a
bachelor’s degree in science and an MBA degree.

Mr. Sun Shaojun, Chinese, aged 55, is an Executive Director and
Executive President of the Company. Mr. Sun joined Weifang Diesel
Engine Factory in 1988 and had held various positions including a
supervisor of the engineering department, the chief engineer of Weifang
Diesel Engine Factory, director of Torch Automobile Group Co., Ltd. and
director of Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery Co., Ltd. Mr. Sun is currently
holding various positions including a director of Weichai Group Holdings
Limited, chairman of the U.S.— based PSI Inc., director of Shandong
Weichai Import and Export Co., Ltd., director of Weichai (Weifang) New
Energy Technology Co., Ltd, director of the Canada-based Ballard Power
Systems Inc., and a director of KAMAZ Weichai LLC. He is a researcher
in applied engineering technology, and holds a doctoral degree in
engineering. He is a candidate of "I ATEHAA L " (National
Million and Ten Million Talents Project), receives a special subsidy from
the State Council and was appointed as “|IEA A RKTZ L EE 15
ER" (Taishan Mountain scholar specialist appointed by Shandong
People’s Government).

Mr. Yuan Hongming, Chinese, aged 55, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company on 8 June 2017 and as an Executive President
of the Company on 5 September 2017. He held various positions
including the deputy general manager and chief engineer of Shaanxi
Automotive Group Co., Ltd. (BEFE/REEEBRETLAR]), deputy
general manager and general manager of Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor
Company Limited (BRFGERFEAR/AF]) and general manager and
chief accountant of Shaanxi Automotive Holdings Group Co., Ltd. (B&#g
AR EE AR A A]). He is currently holding various positions
including the chairman of the board of directors of Shaanxi Automotive
Holdings Group Co., Ltd. (BRFE/SEEMEE B R A R]), the chairman of
the board of directors and director of Shaanxi Automotive Group Co.,
Ltd. (BRI EEBEABREITAR), and the vice chairman of Shaanxi
Heavy-duty Motor Company Limited (BRFEEASEBR A F]). Mr. Yuan
is a senior engineer and a holder of a bachelor’'s degree in engineering.
Mr. Yuan also obtained the qualification of a machinery senior
professional manager (Héi T2 D2 S AMBESEA).

WEICHATI POWER Co., LTD. M4 NBRMNBERLAD
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Mr. Yan lJianbo, Chinese, aged 58, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company on 8 June 2017 and as an Executive President
of the Company on 5 September 2017. He held various positions
including the deputy general manager of Shaanxi Auto Gear General
Works (BRFE)TE &% 42M), deputy general manager and director of
Shaanxi Fast Gear Co. Ltd. (BRFATiFEEm AR ST A A]), and deputy
general manager, general manager and director of Shaanxi Fast Gear
Automotive Transmission Co., Ltd. (BRFA T4 SEESHERARETA
Al). He is currently holding various positions including the secretary of
the party committee and the chairman of the board of directors of
Shaanxi Fast Gear Automotive Transmission Co., Ltd. (BRFE A4 /TEE
FHEFEBREEAT), the general manager and a director of Shaanxi
Fast Gear Co. Ltd. BREETHrEas AR AT AT, and the party
committee secretary and the chairman of Qinchuan Machine Tool & Tool
(Group) Corp. Mr. Yan is a senior engineer and a holder of an executive
master of business administration degree.

Mr. Zhang Liangfu, Chinese, aged 51, was appointed as a Non-
executive Director of the Company on 29 June 2020. He had held
various positions including the division head of the general division and
the division head of the finance budget division of the Finance Bureau of
Weifang, an executive director and the general manager of Weifang
New Energy Investment and Development Company Limited, and the
deputy party committee secretary and the general manager of Weifang
Financial Holding Group Company Limited. Mr. Zhang is currently the
chairman and party committee secretary of Weifang Investment Group
Company Limited, a director of Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery Co., Ltd.
Mr. Zhang is a senior accountant and a holder of master’'s degree in
public administration.

Mr. Jiang Kui, Chinese, aged 56, was appointed as a Non-executive
Director of the Company on 29 June 2012. He had held various
positions including engineer and deputy general manager of assembly
department of Shandong Bulldozer General Factory (158 #1448 ),
deputy general manager of Shantui Import and Export Company (1L 3
H A2 7)), deputy director, director of manufacturing department,
deputy general manager and director of Shantui Construction Machinery
Co., Ltd. (ILHETIRHEMARMD AR AT, deputy general manager of
Shandong Engineering Machinery Group Co., Ltd. (IR T2 EEH
[R/A7]), executive deputy general manager and vice chairman of
Weichai Group Holdings Limited, chairman of Shanzhong Jianji Co., Ltd.,
director of Shandong Heavy Industry Group Co., Ltd. and a director of
the U.S.-based PSI Inc. He is currently holding various positions including
the general manager of Shandong Heavy Industry Group Co., Ltd., a
director of Shantui Construction Machinery Co., Ltd., a supervisor of
KION Group AG, a director of Sinotruk (Hong Kong) Limited, a director
of Sinotruk (BVI) Limited, a director of the Canada-based Ballard Power
Systems Inc., and the chairman of Weichai Ballard Hydrogen Energy
Technology Company Limited. He is a senior engineer and holds an MBA
degree.
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Mr. Gordon Riske, American/German, aged 63, was appointed as a
Non-executive Director of the Company on 24 June 2013. He was the
chief executive officer of KUKA Roboter GmbH, chairman of the
executive board of directors of Deutz AG in Cologne, Germany, chief
executive officer of KION Material Handling GmbH and a member of the
board of directors of KION Holding 2 GmbH. He is currently the chief
executive officer of KION Group AG and a director of Atlas Copco AB.
He holds a degree in electronic engineering and a bachelor’s degree in
business administration.

Mr. Michael Martin Macht, German, aged 60, was appointed as a
Non-executive Director of the Company on 14 June 2018. He was
previously a researcher at the Fraunhofer Institute for Industrial
Engineering IAQ, a director of Porsche Consulting Co., Ltd., chairman of
the board of Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG, a director of Porsche Holding
SE and a director of Volkswagen AG and a director of Ferrett. S.P.A. He
is currently a director of Endurance Capital AG, the chairman of the
supervisory committee of KION Group AG and a supervisor of MAHLE
GmbH. He holds an honorary doctorate degree granted by Universitat
Stuttgart.

Mr. Li Hongwu, Chinese, aged 58, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company on 8 June 2017. He is currently
an associate professor at the Law School of Shandong University, a
solicitor at Shandong Wenhan Law Firm (LB S BN E#FT), and an
independent director of Shandong lJinling Mining Co., Ltd. and of
Shandong Head Co., Ltd. Mr. Li holds a master of laws degree granted
by Shandong University.

Mr. Wen Daocai, Chinese, aged 63, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company on 14 June 2018. He was
previously the chairman and general manager of the Yangzhou Silk
Group. Mr. Wen is an engineer and holds a degree in agricultural
machinery granted by Jiangsu University. He is a postgraduate from the
Central Party School of the Community Party of China.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Ms. Jiang Yan, Chinese, aged 47, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company on 29 June 2020. She
successively held various positions including the head of the audit
division Il of the issuance supervision department of the CSRC, and is
currently an internal audit consultant of various investment banks
including Minsheng Securities Co., Ltd. and an independent director of
Liaoning Wellhope Agri-Tech Joint Stock Co., Ltd. She is a certified
public accountant, a certified public valuer and a holder of a doctor’s
degree in management.

Mr. Yu Zhuoping, Chinese, aged 60, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company on 29 June 2020. He
successively held various positions including an assistant to the president,
the head of the Department of Automotive Engineering and the
executive deputy head of the New Energy Center of Automotive
Engineering and the dean of the School of Automotive Studies at Tongji
University, a director of SAIC Motor Corporation Limited, an
independent director of Shanghai Aerospace Automobile
Electromechanical Co., Ltd. and an independent non-executive director
of China Titans Energy Technology Group Co., Limited. He is currently
holding various positions including the head of the Collaborative
Innovation Center for Intelligent New Energy Vehicle at Tongji University,
the chairman of Tongji Automotive Design and Research Institute Co.,
Ltd., a member of the general expert panel of the national “New Energy
Vehicle” pilot special project, the academic leader of the “Chang Jiang
Scholars and Innovation Team of Energy-saving and Environmental-
friendly Vehicles”, a member of the academic committees of the State
Key Laboratory of Automotive Safety and Energy-saving, the State Key
Laboratory of Automotive Simulation and Control and the State Key
Laboratory of Advanced Design and Manufacturing of Vehicle Body, the
vice president of executive council of Society of Automotive Engineers of
China, an independent director of Guangdong Dazhi Environmental
Protection Technology Co., Ltd., an independent director of Shanghai
Highly (Group) Co., Ltd., an independent director of Ningbo Shenglong
Automotive Powertrain System Co., Ltd. and a non-executive director of
Huazhong In-Vehicle Holdings Company Limited. Mr. Yu holds a doctor’s
degree in engineering, and is a professor and doctoral advisor.
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Ms. Zhao Huifang, Chinese, aged 68, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company on 29 June 2020.
She successively held various positions including the dean of the School
of Management, the director of the MBA/MPA management centre and
the director of the Institute of Financial Management of Hefei University
of Technology, a committee member of the Tertiary Education Guidance
Committee for Professional Industry and Business Administration
Education of the Ministry of Education, and an independent director of
Huaan Securities Co., Ltd. and Anhui Transport Consulting & Design
Institute Co., Ltd. She is currently holding various positions including an
independent director of iFLYTEK Co., Ltd., Sinomach General Machinery
Science & Technology Co., Ltd., Anhui Ankai Automobile Co., Ltd. and
Time Publishing and Media Co., Ltd., and concurrently the honorary
president of the Tertiary Engineering School Sub-Society of the
Accounting Society of China, the committee member of the Accounting
Education Professional Committee of the Accounting Society of China,
the executive council member of Anhui Provincial Audit Society and the
council member of Anhui Provincial Federation of Social Sciences. Ms.
Zhao holds a bachelor’'s degree and is a professor and supervisor of
master students.

(2) SUPERVISORS

34

Mr. Lu Wenwu, Chinese, aged 56, is the chairman of the supervisory
committee of the Company. Mr. Lu joined Weichai Diesel Engine Factory
in 1982 and had held various positions at Weichai Diesel Engine Factory
including the deputy general manager of the 615 Factory and deputy
general manager of the mid-speed engine factory, deputy director of the
human resources department, and at Weichai Power Co., Ltd. as general
manager of the 615 Factory, general manager of No. 1 Factory and
director of the production department, and a director of staff career
development centre. He is now holding various positions including the
chairman of the labour union and a director of the party committee
working department of the Company. He is also the chairman of
supervisory committee of Weichai Group Holdings Limited. Mr. Lu is a
senior political engineer and holds a bachelor’s degree.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Mr. Wu Hongwei, Chinese, aged 54, was appointed as a supervisor of
the Company on 30 August 2017. He joined Weifang Diesel Engine
Factory in 1991 and held various positions including the deputy manager
of the finance department of Shandong Weichai Import and Export Co.,
Ltd, executive deputy director of the finance department of Weifang
Diesel Engine Factory, chief accountant of Chongging Weichai Diesel
Engine Factory, director of the finance department of Weichai Power
Co., Ltd., director of the finance department of Weichai Group Holdings
Limited, and a director of Kama Co., Ltd. He is currently a director and
chief financial officer of Weichai Group Holdings Limited, and a director
of Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery Co., Ltd. He is an accountant and
holds a Master of Business Administration degree.

Mr. Ma Changhai, Chinese, aged 46, is a supervisor of the Company.
Mr. Ma joined Weifang Diesel Engine Factory in 1997. He held various
positions including the deputy manager of administration department of
Shandong Weichai Import and Export Co., Ltd., administrative officer,
head of brand management department, and officer at the
administrative office of external affairs of the Company. He is currently
holding various positions including the deputy party committee secretary,
board secretary, head of the organisation department of the party
committee of Weichai Group Holdings Limited, party committee
secretary of the Company, a director of Weichai Power (Hong Kong)
International Development Co., Ltd., a director of Weichai International
(Hong Kong) Energy Group Co., Ltd., and chairman of Weichai Power
(Beijing) International Resource Investment Co., Ltd. He is a senior
political engineer and holds a bachelor’s degree.

(3) SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wang Zhijian, Chinese, aged 49, is the Executive President and
deputy chief designer of the Company. Mr. Wang joined Weifang Diesel
Engine Factory in 1993. He held various positions including an assistant
to the general manager of Weifang Weichai Deutz Diesel Engine Co.,
Ltd., assistant to the head of the marketing department of the
Company, assistant to the general manager of the marketing company,
director of the application engineering department, director of the
quality department, chief quality engineer, chief quality director, director
of the technical centre, chief technical director, assistant to the
president, deputy vice president and vice president of the new
technology research institute. He is currently holding various positions
including the head of the engine research institute and the director of
the new product manufacturing centre of the Company. He is a senior
engineer and holds a master's degree in engineering and a master’s
degree in business administration.
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Mr. Hu Haihua, Chinese, aged 40, is a Vice President of the Company.
Mr. Hu joined the Company in 2003. He held various positions including
an assistant to the general manager of Weifang Weichai Deutz Diesel
Engine Co., Ltd., head of the No. 2 Factory of the Company, assistant to
the operation director of Ferretti S.P.A., general manager of
Maz-Weichai Limited Liability Company, assistant to the president of the
Company, and director of the production department and director of
the quality control department of the Company. He is currently holding
various positions including the chief director of quality, chief director of
manufacturing, chief process officer and chief quality director of the
Company. He is a senior engineer and holds a master’'s degree in
engineering and a master’s degree in business administration.

Mr. Feng Gang, Chinese, aged 56, is a Vice President of the Company.
He joined Weichai Diesel Engine Factory in 1986 and held various
positions including the manager of technology service department and
executive deputy general manager of sales department of the head
office and executive deputy director of marketing management
department of Weifang Diesel Engine Factory and deputy manager of
Weichai Power Co., Ltd.. He is currently holding various positions
including a director of Kama Co., Ltd. Mr. Feng is a senior engineer and
holds a bachelor’'s degree in engineering. He is an awardee of the
National May 1st Labor Medal of China.

Mr. Ding Yingdong, Chinese, aged 52, is a Vice President of the
Company. Mr. Ding joined Weifang Diesel Engine Factory in 1990 and
had held various positions including deputy director of corporate
planning department and director of human resources department of
Weifang Diesel Engine Factory, director of human resources and
corporate management department, the director, supervisor and
assistant to president of the operational management department and a
supervisor of Weichai Group Holdings Limited. He is currently holding
various positions including the general manager of the Company’s
Shanghai branch and a director of Yangzhou Yaxing Motor Coach Co.,
Ltd. Mr. Ding is a senior economist and holds the qualification of senior
manager of corporate human resources, a bachelor’'s degree in
engineering and an MBA degree.

Mr. Zhang Jiyuan, Chinese, aged 56, is a Vice President and chief
designer of the Company. He joined Weichai Diesel Engine Factory in
1990 and had held various positions including the deputy director and
chief designer of the technology centre and assistant to president of the
Company. He is a researcher in applied engineering technology and
holds a master’s degree in engineering. He receives special subsidy from
the State Council. Mr. Zhang is a Taishan Industry Leading Talent.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Ms. Cao Zhiyue, Chinese, aged 48, is a Vice President and director of
information of the Company. She joined the industry in 2001, and had
previously worked at the state-managed quality supervision and
examination centre for the application of software products in the PRC.
She joined the Company in 2007, and held various positions including
the deputy head of the department of corporate management and
information development, deputy manager of the No. 2 Factory, deputy
director of information, and head of the department of corporate
management and information development. She is currently holding
various positions including an executive director and general manager of
Weichai Digital Technology Co., Ltd. Ms. Cao holds a doctoral degree in
cartography and geographic information system granted by the Chinese
Academy of Sciences and an EMBA degree granted by Missouri State
University. She is a researcher in engineering technology application, and
a Taishan Industry Leading Talent.

Mr. Cheng Guangxu, Chinese, aged 48, is a Vice President of the
Company. He held various positions including a technical engineer of
Yangzhou Diesel Engine Factory, deputy chief technical officer and
deputy general manager of marketing department of Yangzhou Diesel
Engine Co., Ltd., an assistant to the general manager of Weichai Power
Yangzhou Diesel Engine Co., Ltd., general manager and assistant to
president of truck power sales company of the Company. He is currently
holding various positions including the director of the marketing
department of the Company. He is a senior engineer and holds a
bachelor’s degree.

Mr. Chen Wenmiao, Chinese, aged 37, is a Vice President and deputy
chief designer of the Company. Mr. Chen joined the Company in 2010
and held various positions including the director of the product test
centre of the technology centre of the Company, deputy head of the
engine technology research institute, deputy general manager of
Weichai (Weifang) New Energy Technology Co., Ltd, assistant to
president of the Company, executive vice-president of the engine
research institute, vice-president of the scientific research institute and
president of the new technology research institute. He is currently
holding various positions including the president of the new energy
research institute. He is a senior engineer and holds a doctoral degree in
engineering.
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Mr. Sun lJian, Chinese, aged 50, is a Vice President of the Company.
Mr. Sun joined Weichai Diesel Engine Factory in 1992 and held various
positions including the director of the product development department
and director, assistant to the president, director of purchasing centre
and chief procurement officer of the purchasing management
department. He is a senior engineer and holds a master’'s degree in
engineering.

Mr. Liu Yuangiang, Chinese, aged 49, is a Vice President of the
Company. He joined Weifang Diesel Engine Factory in 1993, and held
various positions including the manager of the 615 Factory, head of the
technology re-engineering department, head of manufacturing
engineering, the director of the WOS lean management office, chief
director of quality, chief director of manufacturing and president of the
arts and crafts research institute. Mr. Liu is a senior engineer. He holds a
bachelor’s degree.

Mr. Kwong Kwan Tong, Chinese, aged 54, is the Chief Financial
Officer, Company Secretary and Authorised Representative of the
Company. He is currently a director of Weichai International (Hong
Kong) Energy Group Co., Ltd. Mr. Kwong joined the Company in 2013.
Mr. Kwong obtained a diploma in accountancy from the Morrison Hill
Technical Institute in Hong Kong in 1987. He is a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Chartered
Institute of Management Accountants. He has worked for companies
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and has over 30 years’
experience in the accounting and financial management fields.

Ms. Wang Li, Chinese, aged 36, is the secretary to the Board of the
Company. She joined the Company in 2011. She is an economist, and
holds a master’s degree of management and a bachelor’s degree of
economics.
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DIRECTORS” REPORT

The Directors present their annual report and the audited financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group is the manufacture and sale of diesel
engines, automobiles and other major automobile components, other
components, new energy powertrain systems and ancillary products, import
and export services, and forklift trucks and supply chain solution services. There
were no significant changes in the nature of the Group's principal activities
during the Year. The activities of its principal subsidiaries and associates are set
out in Note VII to the financial statement.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review, major risks, financial analysis and future prospects of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in Chairman’s
Statement on pages 7 to 15 and Management Discussion and Analysis on
pages 16 to 28. The Chairman’s Statement and the Management Discussion
and Analysis form part of the Directors’ Report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 and the state
of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are set out in the
financial statements on pages 113 to 415. On 30 March 2021, the Company'’s
seventh meeting of the fifth session of the Board considered and approved
that the Company will not make profit distribution for 2020 nor will it convert
its capital reserve funds into share capital given that Company is currently
proceeding with the non-public issuance of A Shares, after making
comprehensive consideration of factors such as the interests of shareholders
and the development of the Company. Following the completion of the
non-public issuance of A Shares, the Company will conduct profit distribution
as soon as possible in compliance with the requirements of relevant regulatory
authorities and its articles of association.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and minority interests
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited
financial statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate, is set out on
page 416. This summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Company
and the Group during the Year are set out in Note V.17 to the financial
statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of the Group during the
Year are set out in Note V.16 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the Year are
set out in Note V.44 to the financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during
the Year are set out in Notes V.45 to 49 to the financial statements and in the
statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2020, the Company's reserve available for distribution,
calculated in accordance with the relevant regulations, amounted to
RMB34,883,003,581.58.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the Year, the Group made charitable contributions totaling
approximately RMB8,190,790.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

The directors and supervisors of the Company during the Year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Tan Xuguang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Zhang Quan (Executive President)

Xu Xinyu

Sun Shaojun (Executive President)

Yuan Hongming (Executive President)

Yan Jianbo (Executive President)

Non-executive Directors

Zhang Liangfu (appointed on 29 June 2020)
Jiang Kui

Gordon Riske

Michael Martin Macht

Wang Yuepu (resigned on 26 March 2020)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Li Hongwu

Wen Daocai

Jiang Yan (appointed on 29 June 2020)

Yu Zhuoping (appointed on 29 June 2020)
Zhao Huifang (appointed on 29 June 2020)
Zhang Zhong (retired on 29 June 2020)

Wang Gongyong (retired on 29 June 2020)
Ning Xiangdong (retired on 29 June 2020)

SUPERVISORS

Lu Wenwu
Ma Changhai
Wu Hongwei

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), and as at the date of this report, the
Company still considers that all of the independent non-executive directors are
independent.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 29 to 38 of the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive directors, non-executive directors, independent non-
executive directors and supervisors of the Company has entered into a service
contract with the Company and their relevant terms of office shall be from 14
June 2018 to the conclusion of the 2020 annual general meeting of the
Company, save that the terms of office of Mr. Zhang Liangfu, a non-executive
director, Ms. Jiang Yan, Mr. Yu Zhuoping and Ms. Zhao Huifang, all being
independent non-executive directors, shall be from 29 June 2020 to the
conclusion of the 2020 annual general meeting of the Company.

None of the above directors and supervisors has entered into a service contract
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without the payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS IN

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Mr. Gordon Riske holds interest in KION and was interested in contracts for
the sales of commodities, provision of product testing, casting, catering and
leasing services by Linde Hydraulics GmbH & Co. KG, a subsidiary of the
Group, to KION and its subsidiaries, in contracts for the provision of
information technology services, accounting, human resources, logistics
services etc. by KION and its subsidiaries to Linde Hydraulics GmbH & Co. KG
and in contracts for the sales of forklift trucks and provision of services by
KION and its subsidiaries to the Company. Save as disclosed above, no director,
supervisor or entity connected with a director or supervisor had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or
contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company,
its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party
during or at the end of the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability insurance which
provides appropriate cover for the directors of the Group. At no time during
the year ended 31 December 2020 and up to the date of this report, was or is
there any permitted indemnity provision being in force for the benefit of any
of the directors of the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short position (if any) of the
directors, the chief executives and the supervisors in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")),
as recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Companies (the “Model Code”), were as follows:
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m
Percentage of
the issued
Number of Number of share capital
Name of director Capacity “A" shares held "“H" shares held of the Company
B AT
ExpnH 8% FEFEARBE FEHRHEE BRTREABESH
Tan Xuguang Beneficial owner 58,842,596 (Note 1) - 0.74%
EER ERERA (KtzE1)
Zhang Quan Beneficial owner 13,684,324 (Note 1) - 0.17%
iR R EREBA (Btat1)
Xu Xinyu Beneficial owner 13,684,324 (Note 1) - 0.17%
I E EmEEA (Mfat1)
Sun Shaojun Beneficial owner 13,684,324 (Note 1) - 0.17%
HLE ERERA (KtzE1)
Yuan Hongming Beneficial owner 1,000,440 - 0.013%
KA EREBA
Interest held by spouse 444 - 0.000006%
B HA AER
1,000,884 0.013%
Yan Jianbo Beneficial owner 1,097,904 - 0.014%
B % 4 EnEEA
Wen Daocai Beneficial owner 21,940 - 0.0003%
MES ERERA
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DIRECTORS  REPORT (CONTINUED) ESSRE(E)

Percentage of

the issued

Number of Number of share capital

Name of supervisor Capacity “A" shares held “H" shares held of the Company

HAERAE

EENR g % FrisAR & B FEHREE ERTREAES L

Lu Wenwu Beneficial owner 600,000 - 0.0076%
B R EmEAA

Wu Hongwei Beneficial owner 4,789,516 - 0.06%
RftE EmEAA

Notes: M -

1. These shares were derived from the previous domestic shares of the Company. The 1. BZERDZAHABARAAER - WERBA R
domestic shares were ordinary shares issued by the Company, with a Renminbi Rl ZETHEER UARKIE SREABAR
denominated par value of RMB1.00 each, which were subscribed for and paid up in #1.00T * UARBERBRAEXARINBHE -
Renminbi or credited as fully paid up. These shares became A shares of the Company ZERGRARNAAREFINZESLX B LT
upon the A share listing of the Company on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. BREBARDEZARR -

2. All the shareholding interests listed in the above table are “long” position.

2. LRI ERE 1 BIFE -

3. The percentages disclosed in the above table were calculated based on the total number 3 FRBENEDHECREARAE=_F_-F
of issued shares of the Company as at 31 December 2020, i.e. 7,933,873,895 shares F+ZF=+—H#ETHIAR (748 £(7,933,873,895

(comprised of 5,990,833,895 A shares and 1,943,040,000 H shares).
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

Interests in the shares of associated corporations of the Company

EEEHS ()

AR RIAEBEB R 8=

Approximate

Class and percentage
number of interest in the
securities entire issued
interested or share capital
Name of associated deemed to be of associated
Name of director corporation Nature of interest interested corporation
BEERER IEHEREEE
WERKEE 2He BT
ERNES IR A B R &
EERE RS ERME ERRHE BMOB DL
Gordon Riske (Note) KION Group AG (“KION") Beneficial owner 146,460 0.11%
ordinary shares
Gordon Riske (K7 &%) EHERA 146,460 % & i X
Interest held by spouse 93,940 0.07%
ordinary shares
mEBFAENER 93,940 % & i@ R
240,400 0.18%
ordinary shares
240,400 % & 38 i

Note: Gordon Riske, a non-executive Director, was the beneficial owner of 146,460 shares in
KION and he was also deemed to be interested in 93,940 shares in KION which were
beneficially held by his wife, Ms. Benita Riske.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, none of the Directors, the
chief executives nor the supervisors had an interest or short position in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations that was recorded in the register required to be kept
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
pursuant to the Model Code.

Bt & : FE#1 77 2 F Gordon Riske % KION £ 146,460 A% f% 17
HEZHEAA IR ABRAEZ FBenita Riske X
+ B 2 A 193,940 iR KIONJR 17 F 15 B # 7= ©

BEXHBEEEN R_B2E_2F+ -5
=t—R BEEF BRRTHRABHES
7R~ =) B H ) AR B OR B ey B £ - AR BE AR
mEEHFPEERIEE S LB E &P F352
FREBCHERZGEIMEFENELMA
MEZIAE IREEETAANEGAR
AMEEIRR -
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) EEERE(B)

DETAILS OF CHANGES IN SHARE CAPITAL AND BRAZMNNEZRRISBRB N
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ SHAREHOLDINGS
(I) Changes in share capital ) RAEAZEBER
1. Changes in share capital (as at 31 December 2020) 1. BREZEEZXEEZF=-ZFT=
FFE+ZA=1+—H)
Before the movement Increase/decrease in the movement (+, -) After the movement
LYe Ll KREEEE (+-) LY/ L
Transfer
No. of New shares of surplus No. of
shares Percentage issued  Bonus Issue to capital Others Sub-total shares Percentage
L] gH - BHR 3 DELER i it e ]
(%) (%)
. Restricted circulating shares 1745832210 22.00% - - - 685,800 685800  1,746,518,070 2201%
ERERARD
1. State-owned shares - - - - - - - - -
BFRR
2. State-owned legal person shares 1,642,531,008 20.70% - - - - - 1,642,531,008 20.70%
BEEARR
3. Shares held by other domestic entities 103,301,262 1.30% - - - 685,800 685,800 103,987,062 131%
EftmEsRHk
including: Shares held by domestic - - - - - - - - -
non-state-owned legal persons
B RRFEREARR
Shares held by domestic natural 103,301,262 1.30% - - - 685,800 685800 103987,062 131%
persons
BRERARR
4. Shares held by foreign entities - - - - - - - - -
NERR
including: Shares held by overseas - - - - - - - - -
legal persons
B BihE AR
Shares held by overseas natural - - - - - - - - -
persons
EHERARR
Il Non-restricted circulating shares 6,188,041,625 78.00% - - - (685,800) (685,800 6,187,355,825 7199%
ERERAR
1. RMB ordinary shares 4,245,001,625 5351% - - - (685,800) (685,800)  4,244315,825 53.50%
ARELER
2. Domestic listed foreign shares - - - - - - - - -
SR AR
3. Overseas listed foreign shares 1,943,040,000 24.49% - - - - - 1943040,000 24.49%
SO ETENER
4. Others - - - - - - - - -
it
Il Total number of shares 7,933873,8% 100.00% - - - - - 7.9338738% 100.00%
i
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Shareholdings of the Substantial Shareholders (as at 31

December 2020)

Total number of Shareholders

The number of shareholders is
199,047 among which 198,806 are
shareholders of “A" shares and
241 are shareholders of “H”
shares.

§$ ¥E¢(1||§)

(In

FERRERBER(HRZ=F
+=ZHB=+—H)

BERMAE $£199,047F -
198,806 F

qu

HAPAR B R
HAE R 5241 F -

Shareholdings of the top ten shareholders B 10% B35 12 R 15 31
Total
number of
shares held as
at the end of Number of
Percentage of  there porting restricted Pledged
Name of shareholder Type of shareholder shares held period shares held or frozen
R
BEBR  AREHKH
BRRER BREME R LAl FREE HWROBE ERAREER
(%)
HKSCC Nominees Limited Foreign shareholder 24.43%  1,938,491,156 - -
ERERREARBABRA HERRE
Weichai Group Holdings L|m|ted State-owned legal person 17.72%  1,406,100,000  1,345,905,600 -
HREREERRAF BBEA
Hong Kong Securities Clearing Overseas legal person 10.28% 815,400,522 - -
Company Limited (Note) BONEA
ERRREEBBRRAGE)
Weifang Investment Group Company Limited  State-owned legal person 3.74% 296,625,408 296,625,408 -
HRITTREEEFERRA BAEA
China Securities Finance Corporation Limited ~ Domestic non-state-owned 2.06% 163,608,906 - -
FEEFERROBRAA legal person
BRIEBFEA
[VM Technical Consultants Wien Overseas legal person 1.49% 118,358,700 - -
Gesellschaft m.b.H. BONEA
BIAIVME A AW BR A
Central Huijin Assets Management Company State-owned legal person 1.37% 108,492,800 - -
Limited BEA
PRESEEERBREMCAA
Tan Xuguang Domestic natural person 0.74% 58,842,596 44,131,947 -
oS BERERA
Hu Zhongxiang Domestic natural person 0.68% 53,587,741 - -
ek BERERA
Bank of Communications - Rong Tong Industry - Fund and wealth management 0.52% 41,302,610 - -
Prosperous Securities Invest Fund product, etc.
RERIT-BBOERABFRELES £ BUEmRS
Note: Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited holds 815,400,522 A Shares on it BEFAREEEIR DA FFH815400,522

behalf of shareholders under the
mechanism.

Shenzhen - Hong Kong Stock Connect

FRA SR 13 5 & i /&LEE%‘E
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

48

Shareholdings of the top ten non-restricted shareholders

ESEHRS (88

Number of the
non-restricted
shares held as
at the end of
the reporting

FI10E BREMRMHFKRIFRIER

Name of shareholder period Types of shares
REBHK
BFEERE
IR R £ B HRUERDBE RoEE
HKSCC Nominees Limited 1,938,491,156 Overseas listed foreign shares
BEBAPARAEEARBABRAF B EWHINE R
Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited 815,400,522 RMB ordinary shares
BEAPREEZBERAF AR LB R
China Securities Finance Corporation Limited 163,608,906 RMB ordinary shares
PEE S SRR ARAA AR L @R
IVM Technical Consultants Wien Gesellschaft m.b.H. 118,358,700 RMB ordinary shares
B FIVME T 75 S L B R 2 7 AR L @R
Central Huijin Assets Management Company Limited 108,492,800 RMB ordinary shares
hRESEEERAREELA AR H BB
Weichai Group Holdings Limited 60,194,400 RMB ordinary shares
HMEZEREEFR QT AR L @R
Hu Zhongxiang 53,587,741 RMB ordinary shares
HA AR L @R
Bank of Communications — Rong Tong Industry Prosperous 41,302,610 RMB ordinary shares
Securities Invest Fund AR L E R
RBRIT-RBTESAIFREES
China AMC Fund - Agricultural Bank — China AMC China 33,002,800 RMB ordinary shares
Securities and Financial Assets Management Program AR L @R
FEEES-BRERT-EFEEFIZCREEET RS
Dacheng Fund — Agricultural Bank — Dacheng CSI Financial 31,855,600 RMB ordinary shares
Assets Management Program AR L ®R
AREG-—RERIT-ARFTIZICREEEEE

Notes: B &t -

1. Among the aforesaid shareholders, Mr. Tan Xuguang is the chairman of Weichai 1. B EREAF BB SEERBURETERE
Group Holdings Limited. It is not certain whether there is any connected BRRAEFR - KR A AKMEM A+ 5
relationship among other top ten shareholders and the other top ten non- BREEAEMA 15 EREIKRHFRRZ R
restricted shareholders, or whether there is any acting in concert relationship CREGFEBBHEHE RAEEEER —
among them. HITBAL -

2. Among the top ten shareholders of the Company, Mr. Hu Zhongxiang holds 2. NEJFITERRF AR FBEBEFIEH

53,587,741 shares through the client credit trading guarantee securities account.

WEICHATI POWER Co., LTD. M4 NBRMNBERLAD
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

The register of substantial shareholders maintained by the Company pursuant
to Section 336 of the SFO (including interests filed with the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange) shows that as at 31 December 2020, the following persons (other
than directors, chief executives and supervisors) had the following interests and
short positions (if any) in the shares and underlying shares of the Company:

EEEHS ()

FERR

ARARREBEZZNLBE G EIB6HTEN

TERRELM(BERETEE

bt

gp 2

FiT B8 3R &Y

Fa)ER R-E-—TE+-A=+—-Q"
THAL(EE BREBAEREERIN)
EAATRG KBRS T #RR

mEA) :
Percentage of Percentage of
share capital share capital ~ Percentage
Long/ comprising comprising of total
Short only Number only issued share
Name Capacity position Ashares  of H shares H shares capital
AR fEHR  HEES
B& B& Rx2g
L L) e/ %R Al HR &R Bl Bk
Weichai Group Holdings Limited Beneficial owner Long 23.47% - - 17.712%
HERREEERDA EaEAA e
Shandong Heavy Industry Group Co., Ltd. Interest of corporation controlled Long 23.47% - - 17.712%
(Note 1) by you irg
WRETEEERARHH1) REEHNZENER
Brandes Investment Partners, LP (Note 3) Investment manager Long - - 78578612 16.18% 3.96%
(Wi3) RELE #e
Lazard Emerging Markets Equity Portfolio Investment manager Long - - 23,707,500 5.86% 1.43%
(Note 4)(ff:£4) RERE 2
Barclays PLC (Note 3)(#i:£3) Person having a security interest Long - - 525,552 0.11% 0.03%
in shares g
BAERMOREEZNHA
Interest of corporation controlled Long - - 25,453,050 5.24% 1.28%
by you [59-)
RAEREEENER
25,978,602 5.35% 131%
Interest of corporation controlled Short - - 24,102,475 4.96% 1.22%
by you wE

¥ 0 £ B A B £
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ESEHRS (88

Percentage of

Percentage of

share capital share capital  Percentage
Long/ comprising comprising of total
Short  Number of only Number only issued share
Name Capacity position A shares Ashares  of H shares H shares capital
AR tHE  HERF
B& B& REa
L & e/ %A ARE R Bk HR &R Bk Bk
Morgan Stanley (Note 2) (i 7#2) Interest of corporation controlled Long - - 49335508 5.08% 1.24%
by you g
AN EENER
Interest of corporation controlled Short - - 42078545 4.33% 1.06%
by you wE
AR EENER
BlackRock, Inc. Interest of corporation controlled Long - - 105,948,135 5.45% 1.34%
by you e
REEHNZENER
Interest of corporation controlled Short - - 2,270,000 0.12% 0.03%
by you wE
RAERNEENER
Lazard Asset Management LLC Investment manager Long - - 328,810,940 16.92% 4.14%
RERE e
Schroders Plc Investment manager Long - - 136,853,130 7.04% 1.72%
RELR e
Citigroup Inc. Interest of corporation controlled Long - - 2,334,605 0.12% 0.03%
by you 59
REEHNZENER
Approved lending agent Long - - 133,245,756 6.85% 1.68%
BRBHREA e
135,580,361 6.97% 1.71%
Interest of corporation controlled Short - - 279,000 0.01% 0.00%
by you e
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

EEEHS ()

Percentage of

Percentage of

share capital share capital  Percentage
Long/ comprising comprising of total
Short  Number of only Number only issued share
Name Capacity position A shares Ashares  of H shares H shares capital
AR EHR HEBfT
B& B& REa
£ & R/ %A ARE R Bl HR &R Bolt Bk
Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. Agent Long - - 116,949,106 6.02% 1.47%
REA e
Pandanus Associates Inc. Interest of corporation controlled Long - - 97,806,000 5.03% 1.23%
by you e
REEHNZENER
Pandanus Partners L.P. Interest of corporation controlled Long - - 97,806,000 5.03% 1.23%
(Note 5) (#7£5) by you 18
REEHNZENER
FIL Limited Interest of corporation controlled Long - - 97,806,000 5.03% 1.23%
(Note 5) (f175) by you e

R Bl 0 E B A B
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REPORT (CONTINUED)

Shandong Heavy Industry Group Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of State-owned Assets
Supervision and Administration Commission of Shandong Province, held the entire share
capital of Weichai Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as Weifang Diesel Engine
Works).

The number of H shares reported above held by the relevant substantial shareholder
does not take into consideration the Company’s bonus share issuance on 21 July 2017
as there is no disclosure of interest obligation under the SFO where there is no change
in percentage of shareholdings for a substantial shareholder.

The number of H shares reported above held by the relevant substantial shareholder
does not take into consideration the Company’s bonus share issuance on 20 August
2015 and 21 July 2017 as there is no disclosure of interest obligation under the SFO
where there is no change in percentage of shareholdings for a substantial shareholder.

The number of H shares reported above held by the relevant substantial shareholder
does not take into consideration the Company’s bonus share issuance on 17 August
2012, 20 August 2015 and 21 July 2017 as there is no disclosure of interest obligation
under the SFO where there is no change in percentage of shareholdings for a substantial
shareholder.

Pandanus Partners L.P. had 37.01% interests in FIL Limited.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of any other
relevant interests or short positions in the issued share capital or underlying
shares of the Company as at 31 December 2020.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

DETAILS OF THE APPOINTMENT OR RESIGNATION
OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR

§$ ¥E¢(1||§)

ES - ES - SHRERBASHME
NARES1E)

MANAGEMENT

1.

At the Board meeting convened on 6 January 2020, the Board
considered and approved the appointment of Mr. Cheng Guangxu as a
vice president of the Company and Ms. Wu Di as a securities affair
representative of the Company.

At the Board meeting convened on 17 February 2020, the Board
considered and approved the resignation of Mr. Hu Haoyan as a vice
president of the Company and approved the appointment of Mr. Chen
Wenmiao, Mr. Wang Zhijian, Mr. Sun lJian and Mr. Hu Haihua as vice
presidents of the Company.

At the Board Meeting convened on 26 March 2020, the Board
considered and approved the resignation of Mr. Wang Yuepu as a non-
executive Director and a member of the strategic development and
investment committee of the Company with effect from 26 March 2020
and the nomination of Mr. Zhang Liangfu as a non-executive director of
the Company, with effect from the date of approval by the shareholders
of the Company at the general meeting of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2019 (the “2019 Annual General Meeting”) and
until the conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2020, which is the expiration of the term
of the current session of the Board.

At the 2019 Annual General Meeting convened on 29 June 2020, it was
approved that Mr. Zhang Liangfu be appointed as a non-executive
director of the Company, and that Ms. Jiang Yan, Mr. Yu Zhuoping and
Ms. Zhao Huifang be appointed as independent non-executive directors
of the Company, each for a term from 29 June 2020 to the conclusion
of the annual general meeting of the Company for the year ending 31
December 2020.
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At the conclusion of the 2019 Annual General Meeting on 29 June
2020, Mr. Zhang Zhong, Mr. Wang Gongyong and Mr. Ning Xiangdong
retired as independent non-executive directors and members of the
relevant board committees of the Company.

At the Board meeting convened on 29 June 2020, the Board considered
and approved the appointment of Mr. Zhang Liangfu and Mr. Yu
Zhuoping as members of the strategic development and investment
committee of the Company, Ms. Jiang Yan as the chairman and Mr. Yu
Zhuoping and Ms. Zhao Huifang as members of the audit committee of
the Company, Ms. Zhao Huifang as the chairman and Ms. Jiang Yan as
a member of the remuneration committee of the Company, and Mr. Li
Hongwu as the chairman and Ms. Zhao Huifang as a member of the
nomination committee of the Company.

At the Board meeting convened on 27 August 2020, the Board
considered and approved (i) the resignation of Mr. Xu Xinyu as an
executive president of the Company, and (ii) the resignation of Mr. Tong
Dehui, Mr. Li Shaohua and Ms. Ren Bingbing, each as a vice president of
the Company.

At the Board meeting convened on 30 March 2021, the Board
considered and approved the appointment of Mr. Wang Zhijian as an
executive president of the Company.

WEICHATI POWER Co., LTD. M4 NBRMNBERLAD
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company and the Group had
the following continuing connected transactions, certain details of which are
disclosed in compliance with the requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

List of Connected Persons who had transactions and the
relationship with the Group

EEEHS ()

FEUMMEERS
BE-_Z-_ZEZF+-_A=+—B8BLFE XK
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HEHE-
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BAEALTZBE

Relationship between the Connected

Name of Connected Persons Abbreviation Persons and the Group
BHEALTRR 5 18 BEATRASE2BERRZ
Shaanxi Automotive Group Co., Ltd. Shaanxi Automotive Held a 49% interest in a subsidiary of the
ASEEEBERETAQA PR 5 & Company, Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automotive
Co., Ltd. (“Shaanxi Zhonggqi”)
BERRAIZMBRARIRAERS

ERDA(BREER])49% # 5
Shaanxi Fast Gear Automotive Transmission Co., Ltd. Fast Transmission Held a 49% interest in a subsidiary of the
PRPEETHAEEHEE ETHEE Company, Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd. (“SFGC")
BERARAZMEBABIREELHER
BRABI(RFEELSER]49%E =
Shandong Heavy Industry Group Finance Co., Ltd. Shandong Finance Shandong Heavy Industry
WREIEEMBKARRAA L= 8% Group Co., Ltd. (“Shandong Heavy Industry”), a
substantial shareholder of the Company, indirectly
held a 37.50% interest
in Shandong Finance

ARRZEERFLFETEEBAERDA

(WREIDMEEES

1Ll & B % 37.50% & 7
Weichai Group Holdings Limited Weichai Holdings Held a 17.72% interest in the Company, one of
HEEREBER QA L P IR the Promoters of the Company
BEARABTT2% %

KABERAZ —

Chongging Weichai Diesel Engine Limited Chongging Weichai Wholly-owned by Weichai Holdings
EEMEEHRER DA o) 2 HEERZ2EWNE R A
Shandong Weichai Import and Export Co., Ltd. Weichai Import and Export Wholly-owned by Weichai Holdings
WRAEEDOBRQA S O HEERz2EWE R A
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Name of Connected Persons

Abbreviation

HEALEE ki

ESEHRS (88

Relationship between the Connected
Persons and the Group

MEATEASEE > BEBRE

Weichai Power Westport New Energy Engine Co., Ltd.
HETENERD HARRA

Yangzhou Yaxing Motor Coach Co., Ltd.
HBNEEEERHER DA
Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery Co., Ltd.

HSRERRNDARDA

Weichai Electrical Equipment Co., Ltd.
HEENREERAA

Weichai Westport
7878 31 2R

Yangzhou Yaxing
BN 2

MR ER

LB NRE

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group had continuing

connected transactions entered into in accordance with the following

agreements.

A.

56

Provision of general services and labour services by
Weichai Holdings and its associates to the Company and
its subsidiaries

Pursuant to (i) the general services agreement entered into between the
Company and Weichai Holdings on 17 November 2003 (as amended
and supplemented by various supplemental agreements, including the
agreement dated 2 August 2019), and (ii) the general services
agreement entered into between the Company and Chongging Weichai
on 17 November 2003 (as amended and supplemented by various
supplemental agreements, including the agreement dated 2 August
2019), Weichai Holdings and Chongging Weichai and their respective
associates have agreed to provide certain labour services and general
services (namely, environmental protection, security, fire protection,
repair, maintenance and other general services and the payment of
certain town land use right tax in relation to the property occupied and/
or used by the Company, its Chongging office branch and/or other
members of the Group) to the Company, Weichai Power (Weifang)
Casting and Forging Co., Ltd. (“Weichai Casting”, a subsidiary of the
Company), Shandong Huadong Casting Co., Ltd. (“Huadong Casting”, a
subsidiary of the Company), Weichai Power (Weifang) Intensive Logistics
Co., Ltd. ("Weichai Logistics”, a subsidiary of the Company), the
Company’s Chongging branch office (the “Chongqging Branch”) and/or
other members of the Group for a period of three years ending 31
December 2022, upon the expiry of which the parties may extend the
term for another three years on a mutually agreed basis.

WEICHATI POWER Co., LTD. M4 NBRMNBERLAD

Weichai Heavy Machinery

Weichai Electrical Equipment

Weichai Holdings held a 51% interest
in Weichai Westport

SRR AT B LIRS % E 5

Indirectly held as to 51% by Weichai Holdings
HREREZEREESMEES I %ER
Weichai Holdings held a 30.59% interest

in Weichai Heavy Machinery

HE S PR IR R B SE EH30.59% 1E &

Wholly-owned by Weichai Heavy Machinery
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The fees payable by the Company (and its Chongqing Branch) and/or its
subsidiaries to Weichai Holdings and/or Chongging Weichai (and their
respective associates) with respect to the provision of the said services
are determined based on the actual costs incurred by Weichai Holdings
and/or Chongging Weichai (and their respective associates) and
apportioned on a pro-rata basis according to the area of the relevant
property occupied and/or used by the Company, the Chongging Branch
and/or the Company'’s subsidiaries plus a service charge representing not
more than 20% of such costs (save that the town land use right tax paid
by Chongging Weichai (and its associates) on behalf of the Chongging
Branch and/or other members of the Group will not be subject to the
said 20% service charge) and settled by the parties on a monthly basis.

Supply and/or connection of utilities by Weichai
Holdings and its associates to the Company and its
subsidiaries

Pursuant to (i) the utility services agreement entered into between the
Company and Weichai Holdings on 17 November 2003 (as amended
and supplemented by various supplemental agreements, including the
agreement dated 13 July 2018, collectively, the “Weichai Holdings
Utilities Services Agreement”) and (ii) the utility services agreement
entered into between the Company and Chongging Weichai on 17
November 2003 (as amended and supplemented by various
supplemental agreements, including the agreement dated 13 July 2018,
collectively, the “Chongging Weichai Utilities Services Agreement”),
Weichai Holdings, Chongging Weichai and their respective associates
have agreed to provide the connection of certain utility and energy
services (namely, water, electricity, gas, steam, oxygen, nitrogen,
compressed air, waste water treatment and supply of treated waste
water, etc.), to the Company, Weichai Casting, Weichai Power (Weifang)
Reproduction Company Limited (“Weichai Reproduction”, a subsidiary
of the Company), Huadong Casting, Weichai Logistics, the Chongging
Branch and/or other subsidiaries of the Company for a period of three
years ended 31 December 2020, upon the expiry of which the parties
may extend the term for another three years on a mutually agreed basis.
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The fees payable by the Company and/or its subsidiaries to Weichai
Holdings and/or Chongging Weichai (and their respective associates)
with respect to the provision of the said services are determined based
on the actual usage of the Company, its Chongging branch office and/
or its subsidiaries and by reference to the market prices of such utilities,
or, if it is not possible to measure such usage, pro-rated according to the
respective sales of Chongqing Weichai and the Company’s Chongging
branch office and/or other members of the Group and by reference to
the market prices of such utilities. If only government published rates are
available with respect to certain utilities, the fees payable would be
determined by reference to the government published rates plus the
wastage, depreciation and repair expenses incurred by Weichai Holdings
and/or Chongging Weichai (and their respective associates) in relation
thereto. If no market price or government published rates with respect
to the above utilities and energy services are available, the Company
and/or its subsidiaries will pay the actual costs incurred by Weichai
Holdings and/or Chongging Weichai (and their respective associates) in
relation to the provision of such utilities and energy services plus a
service charge representing not more than 20% of such costs. The fees
are settled by the parties on a monthly basis.

Pursuant to the latest supplemental agreement to the Weichai Holdings
Utilities Services Agreement and the Chongging Weichai Utilities Services
Agreement dated 27 August 2020, Weichai Holdings (and its associates)
(as the case may be) shall provide or provide the connection of (as the
case may be) the said services to the Company, Weichai Casting,
Weichai Reproduction, Huadong Casting, Weichai Logistics and/or other
Group Company (as the case may be) for a period of three years ending
31 December 2023.

WEICHATI POWER Co., LTD. M4 NBRMNBERLAD
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Purchase of diesel engine parts and components, gas and
scrap metals etc.,, materials, diesel engines and related
products, processing services and import and export
agency services by the Company and its subsidiaries from
Weichai Holdings and its associates

Pursuant to the purchase and processing services agreement entered
into between the Company, Weichai Holdings and Chongging Weichai
on 27 November 2008 (as amended and supplemented by various
supplemental agreements, including the agreement dated 2 August
2019), Weichai Holdings, Chongging Weichai and Weichai Import and
Export (and other associates of Weichai Holdings) have agreed to provide
parts and components of diesel engines, gas, scrap metals, etc.,
materials, diesel engines and related products and relevant processing
services and import and export agency services to the Company, Weichai
Singapore Pte. Ltd. (“Weichai Singapore”), Weichai Middle East FZE
(“Weichai Middle East”, a subsidiary of the Company) Société
International des Moteurs Baudouin (a subsidiary of the Company), Maz-
Weichai Limited Liability Company (a subsidiary of the Company) and
Weichai Ballard Hydrogen Energy Technology Company Limited (a
subsidiary of the Company) and/or other members of the Company for a
period of three years ending 31 December 2022, upon the expiry of
which the parties may extend the term for another three years on a
mutually agreed basis. The said purchases and processing services are
transacted at market prices and are settled by the parties on a monthly
basis.
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Sale of diesel engines, diesel engines parts and
components, materials, semi-finished products, hydraulic
products and related products and provision of
processing services by the Company and its subsidiaries
to Weichai Holdings and its associates

Pursuant to the sale and processing services agreement entered into
between the Company and Weichai Power (Weifang) After-sales Service
Co., Ltd. ("Weichai After-sales Services”, a subsidiary of the Company,
formally known as Weichai Power Reserves and Resources Company) as
suppliers and Weichai Holdings and its certain associates as customers
on 27 November 2008 (as amended and supplemented by various
supplemental agreements, including the agreement dated 13 July 2018,
collectively, the “Weichai Sale and Processing Services Agreement”), the
Company (and its Chongging branch office), Weichai After-sales
Services, Weichai Casting, Weichai Reproduction, Weichai Logistics and
other subsidiaries of the Company have agreed to (i) sell certain diesel
engines, diesel engine parts and components, materials, semi-finished
products and related products, and (ii) provide certain processing services
in relation to the production of diesel engines to Weichai Holdings,
Weichai Import and Export, Chongging Weichai, Yangzhou Shengda
Special Vehicles Co., Ltd. (“Yangzhou Special Vehicle”), Dezhou Degong
Machinery Co., Ltd. (“Dezhong Degong”) and other associates of
Weichai Holdings and other associates of Weichai Holdings at market
prices. The transactions are settled by the parties on a monthly basis.

Pursuant to the latest supplemental agreement to the Weichai Sale and
Processing Services Agreement dated 27 August 2020, the Company
(and Chongqing Branch), Weichai Casting, Weichai Reproduction,
Weichai Logistics and/or other Group Company (as the case may be)
shall sell the said diesel engines, diesel engine parts and components,
materials, semi-finished products, hydraulic products and related
products and to provide the said processing services (as the case may be)
to Weichai Holdings, Weichai Import and Export, Chongging Weichai,
Yangzhou Special Vehicles, Dezhou Degong and/or other associates of
Weichai Holdings (as the case may be) at market prices and settled on a
monthly basis, for a term of three years ending 31 December 2023.

WEICHATI POWER Co., LTD. M4 NBRMNBERLAD
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Sale of diesel engines and related products by the
Company and its subsidiaries to Weichai Heavy
Machinery and its subsidiaries

The Company and Weichai Holdings entered into a framework
agreement on 17 November 2003 (as supplemented by various
supplemental agreements). The rights and obligations of Weichai
Holdings in the aforesaid agreement were assumed by Weichai Heavy
Machinery pursuant to the supplemental framework agreement entered
into between the Company and Weichai Heavy Machinery on 27 August
2015.

Pursuant to such framework agreement (as supplemented by various
supplemental agreements, including the agreement dated 13 July 2018),
the Company, Weichai Reproduction, Weichai Power Yangzhou Diesel
Engine Co., Ltd. (“Weichai Yangzhou"”, a subsidiary of the Company)
and Baudouin (Weifang) Power Co., Ltd. (“Baudouin China”, a
subsidiary of the Company) and/or other subsidiaries of the Company
have agreed to sell to Weichai Heavy Machinery, Weichai Electrical
Equipment and/or other associates of Weichai Heavy Machinery certain
diesel engines and related products, at market prices and settled on a
monthly basis for a term ending 31 December 2021, upon the expiry of
which the parties may extend the term for another three years on a
mutually agreed basis.

Purchase of diesel engine parts and components,
materials, steel and scrap metal etc., diesel engines and
related products and processing and labour services by
the Company and its subsidiaries from Weichai Heavy
Machinery and its subsidiaries

Pursuant to the purchase and processing services agreement entered
into between the Company and Weichai After-sales Services and
Weichai Heavy Machinery on 27 November 2008 (as supplemented by
various supplemental agreements, including the agreement dated 13
July 2018, collectively, the “Weichai Heavy Machinery Purchase and
Processing Services Agreement”), the Company (and its Chongging
branch office), Weichai After-sales Services, Weichai Casting, Weichai
Reproduction, Huadong Casting, Weichai Logistics, Baudouin China and/
or other members of the Group have agreed to purchase from Weichai
Heavy Machinery, Weichai Electrical Equipment and/or other associates
of Weichai Heavy Machinery certain diesel engine parts and
components, materials, steel and scrap metal etc., diesel engines and
related products and processing and labour services, at market prices
and settled on a monthly basis.
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Pursuant to the latest supplemental agreement to the Weichai Heavy
Machinery Purchase and Processing Services Agreement dated 27 August
2020, the Company (and Chongqing Branch), Weichai Casting, Weichai
Reproduction, Huadong Casting, Weichai Logistics, Baudouin China and/
or other Group Company (as the case may be) shall purchase the said
parts and components, steel and scarp metal etc., materials, diesel
engines and labour and processing services from Weichai Heavy
Machinery, Weichai Electric Equipment and/or other associates of
Weichai Heavy Machinery (as the case may be) at market prices and
settled on a monthly basis, for a term of three years ending 31
December 2023.

Supply of semi-finished diesel engine parts, diesel
engine parts components, reserve parts and related
products and provision of labour services by the
Company its subsidiaries to Weichai Heavy Machinery
and its subsidiaries

The Company and Weichai Holdings entered into a semi-finished diesel
engine parts supply agreement on 17 November 2003 (as amended and
supplemented by various supplemental agreements). The rights and
obligations of Weichai Holdings in the aforesaid agreement were
assumed by Weichai Heavy Machinery pursuant to the supplemental
agreement entered into between the Company, Weichai Holdings and
Weichai Heavy Machinery on 27 August 2015.

Pursuant to such framework agreement (as supplemented by various
supplemental agreements, including the agreement dated 13 July 2018),
the Company, Weichai Reproduction, Weichai After-sales Services,
Weichai Casting, Huadong Casting, Weichai Logistics and/or other
subsidiaries of the Company have agreed to sell certain semi-finished
diesel engine parts, diesel engine parts and components, reserve parts
and related products and to provide the said labour services to Weichai
Heavy Machinery, Weichai Electrical Equipment and/or its associates at
market prices and settled on a monthly basis for a period of three years
ending 31 December 2021, upon the expiry of which the parties may
renew the term for another three years on a mutually agreed basis.

Sale of parts and components of transmissions and
related products by SFGC to Fast Transmission

Pursuant to the parts and components sale agreement entered into
between SFGC and Fast Transmission on 1 August 2007 (as amended
and supplemented by various supplemental agreements, including the
agreement dated 13 July 2018), SFGC has agreed to sell to Fast
Transmission certain parts and components of transmissions, namely,
gearboxes, and related products at market prices and settled every two
to three months, for a term of three years ending 31 December 2021,
upon the expiry of which the parties shall have an option to extend the
term for another three years on a mutually agreed basis.
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Purchase of parts and components of transmissions and
related products by SFGC from Fast Transmission

Pursuant to the parts and components purchase agreement entered into
between SFGC and Fast Transmission on 1 August 2007 (as amended
and supplemented by various supplemental agreements, including the
agreement dated 13 July 2018), SFGC has agreed to purchase from Fast
Transmission certain parts and components of transmissions and gears,
namely, power take off assemblies and castings, and related products at
market prices and settled every two to three months, for a term of three
years ending 31 December 2021, upon the expiry of which the parties
shall have an option to extend the term for another three years on a
mutually agreed basis.

Sale of vehicles, parts and components of vehicles, raw
materials and related products and provision of the
relevant services by the Company and its subsidiaries to
Shaanxi Automotive and its associates

Pursuant to the vehicles, parts and components and raw materials sale
and heat processing services agreement entered into between Shaanxi
Zhonggi and certain other subsidiaries of the Company as suppliers and
Shaanxi Automotive and its associates as customers (the “Shaanxi
Customers”) on 1 August 2007 (as supplemented by various
supplemental agreements including the agreement dated 2 August
2019), the Company, Shaanxi Zhongqi and their respective subsidiaries
have agreed to sell certain vehicles, parts and components of vehicles,
raw materials and related products, and provide the relevant services to
the Shaanxi Customers, at market prices and settled by the parties
generally every one to three months, for a term of three years ending 31
December 2022, upon the expiry of which the parties shall have an
option to renew the agreement for a term of three years on a mutually
agreed basis.
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Purchase of parts and components of vehicles, scrap
steel and related products and labour services by the
Company and its subsidiaries from Shaanxi Automotive
and its associates

Pursuant to the parts and components and scrap steel purchase
agreement entered into between Shaanxi Zhonggi and certain other
subsidiaries of the Company as buyers and Shaanxi Automotive and
certain of its associates as sellers (the “Shaanxi Sellers”) on 1 August
2007 (as supplemented by various supplemental agreements including
the agreement dated 2 August 2019), the Company, Shaanxi Zhongqi
and their respective subsidiaries have agreed to purchase certain parts
and components of vehicles, scrap steel and related products and labour
services from the Shaanxi Sellers, at market prices and settled by the
parties every one to three months, for a term of three years ending 31
December 2022, upon the expiry of which the parties shall have an
option to renew the agreement for a term of three years on a mutually
agreed basis.

Sale of engines, new energy powertrain and related
products by the Company to Yangzhou Yaxing and its
subsidiaries

The diesel engines supply framework agreement entered into between
the Company and Yangzhou Yaxing on 26 October 2012 (as
supplemented by various supplemental agreements, including the
agreement dated 28 March 2018, collectively, the “Diesel Engine Supply
Framework Agreement”) sets out the general terms and conditions for
the sale of engines, new energy powertrain and related products by the
Company and Weichai Yangzhou to Yangzhou Yaxing and its
subsidiaries for a period of three years ended 31 December 2020. The
said engines, new energy powertrain and related products shall be sold
by the Company and Weichai Yangzhou to Yangzhou Yaxing and its
subsidiaries from time to time with reference to market prices and/or
price agreed according to the principle of fairness and reasonableness
and settled on a monthly basis. The transactions shall be subject to
normal commercial terms and terms no less favourable to the Group
than those available to the Group from independent third parties.
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Pursuant to the latest supplemental agreement to the Diesel Engine
Supply Framework Agreement dated 27 August 2020, the Company,
Weichai Logistics and/or other subsidiaries of the Company shall sell
engines, new energy powertrain and related products to Yangzhou
Yaxing and its subsidiaries on the same terms for a term of three years
ending 31 December 2023, upon the expiry of which the parties may
renew the term for a period of three years on a mutually agreed basis.

Sale of transmissions by SFGC to Yangzhou Yaxing and
its subsidiaries

The transmissions supply framework agreement entered into between
SFGC and Yangzhou Yaxing on 26 October 2012 (as supplemented by
various supplemental agreements, including the agreement dated 28
March 2018, collectively, the “Transmissions Supply Framework
Agreement”) sets out the general terms and conditions for the sale of
transmissions by SFGC to Yangzhou Yaxing and its subsidiaries for a
period of three years ended 31 December 2020. The said transmissions
shall be sold by SFGC to Yangzhou Yaxing and its subsidiaries from time
to time with reference to market prices and/or price agreed according to
the principle of fairness and reasonableness and settled on a monthly
basis. The transactions shall be subject to normal commercial terms and
terms no less favourable to the Group than those available to the Group
from independent third parties.

Pursuant to the latest supplemental agreement to the Transmissions
Supply Framework Agreement dated 27 August 2020, SFGC has agreed
to sell the said transmissions to Yangzhou Yaxing and its subsidiaries on
the same terms for a term of three years ending 31 December 2023,
upon the expiry of which the parties may renew the term for a period of
three years on a mutually agreed basis.
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Sale of axles by Shaanxi Hande Axle Co., Ltd. (“Hande
Axle”, a subsidiary of Shaanxi Zhongqi) to Yangzhou
Yaxing and its subsidiaries

The axles supply framework agreement entered into between Hande
Axle and Yangzhou Yaxing on 26 October 2012 (as supplemented by
various supplementary agreements, including the agreement dated 28
March 2018, collectively, the “Axles Supply Framework Agreement”)
sets out the general terms and conditions for the sales of axles by Hande
Axle to Yangzhou Yaxing and its subsidiaries for a period of three years
ended 31 December 2020. The said axles shall be sold by Hande Axle to
Yangzhou Yaxing and its subsidiaries from time to time with reference
to market prices and/or price agreed according to the principle of
fairness and reasonableness and with a payment term of two months.
The transactions shall be subject to normal commercial terms and terms
no less favourable to the Group than those available to the Group from
independent third parties.

Pursuant to the latest supplemental agreement to the Axles Supply
Framework Agreement dated 27 August 2020, Hande Axle has agreed
to sell the said axles to Yangzhou Yaxing and its subsidiaries on the
same terms for a term of three years ending 31 December 2023, upon
the expiry of which the parties may renew the term for a period of three
years on a mutually agreed basis.

Supply of base engines, gas engine parts, utility and
labour services, technology development services and
related products and services by the Company and its
subsidiaries and associates to Weichai Westport

Pursuant to the framework supply agreement entered into between the
Company, Weichai Reproduction, Weichai After-sales Services and
Weichai Westport on 25 December 2012 (as amended and
supplemented by the supplemental agreements dated 8 December 2014
and 14 July 2017, collectively, the “Weichai Westport Supply
Agreement”), each of the Company, Weichai After-sales Services,
Weichai Reproduction, Weichai Freshen Air Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Weichai Freshen Air”, a subsidiary of the Company) and other
associates of the Company has agreed to supply certain base engines,
gas engine parts, utility and labour services, technology development
services and related products and services to Weichai Westport, at
market prices and/or prices agreed according to the principle of fairness
and reasonableness and settled on a monthly basis for a term from 1
January 2018 to 31 December 2020, upon the expiry of which the
parties may extend the term for three years on a mutually agreed basis.

WEICHATI POWER Co., LTD. M4 NBRMNBERLAD

ESEHRS (88

RAEZZEEBSERAB(EEE
Bl BRABEARAZHB QA MG
MNEEREMNBARHEEEE
R-T——F+A -+ B EEHF
HBEMNGEETLEBHEERBGZ
LHEBEMBEAT BERZZE—N\F
“AZ+NBIF Lz h&E(FEEERE
EERBRD) BHEEBEEZEERM
BMNEEREWBAREEERBZ —
BERERGESH HEFHAEE T =
TE+-A=Z+—HIt  AH=F
MEBEREEEBRTITRI2EMER
SRIBEAFABRANGE R ESE
BNEEREMBARIHE  HRBAR
AMEA - ZEXRZTE—MEEKRR
MEEAEBEMETERAEEBRS
MEZFASRIRRGETT -

BE-_Z-_ZFNA=-F+ERHIILHN
EREEEEGER ARG E 2
TEBRERERERMENEE R
EBARHEELnER FHE_ZT
TE=EFF+ZA=F+—BLEABH=F 1%
FEERMEBINSHFURBAEREESE
BEEFH=F-

RAARKREKWEB(BEE) AR DA
BHERMEELRER REKE
e R B BE B2 & R - R 1l A B
AR %% & ME B8 E W & AR

REBARARA] HRBREJERETS
REEAEMRERR _FT—_F+ =
AZThRAFKEEERBZ) (8=
E-HUET_ANBR-ZZ—LtF+
ATHOBATLOMERHRET MR
(MR mERERRED)  ARF
MRS MEBRE HRY
NDERFEMBRBERABD(HREZERF
el ArrlzWBRR)RARE 2H
M B(EB ARSERENTSER
SEUAREARERRANGE B R
FEMEERMHEE TARK REHA
R ERSE RMHERE R
HEERMRYE BETREAKE -
R-HBEREFBE - N\F-RF—-HE
ECR_EF+_A=t+—HIE - RE
mEESAREEERE RE=F-



DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

Pursuant to the latest supplemental agreement to the Weichai Westport
Supply Agreement dated 27 August 2020, each of the Company,
Weichai Reproduction and Weichai Freshen Air (and/or other associates
of the Company) shall supply certain base engines, gas engine parts,
utility and labour services, technology development services and related
products and services to Weichai Westport, on the same terms for a
term from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023, upon the expiry of
which the parties may extend the term for three years on a mutually
agreed basis.

Purchase of gas engines, gas engine parts, labour
services and related products and services by the
Company and its subsidiaries and associates from
Weichai Westport

Pursuant to the framework purchase agreement entered into between
the Company, Weichai Reproduction and Weichai After-sales Services
and Weichai Westport on 25 December 2012 (as amended and
supplemented by the supplemental agreements dated 8 December 2014
and 14 July 2017, collectively, the “Weichai Westport Purchase
Agreement”), each of the Company, Weichai After-sales Services,
Weichai Reproduction, Weichai Freshen Air and other associates of the
Company has agreed to purchase certain gas engines, gas engine parts,
labour services and related products and services from Weichai
Westport, at market prices and/or prices agreed according to the
principle of fairness and reasonableness and settled on a monthly basis
for a term from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2020, upon the expiry
of which the parties may extend the term for three years on a mutually
agreed basis.

Pursuant to the latest supplemental agreement to the Weichai Westport
Purchase Agreement dated 27 August 2020, each of the Company and
Weichai Reproduction (and/or other associates of the Company) shall
purchase certain gas engines, gas engine parts, labour services and
related products and services from Weichai Westport, on the same terms
for a term from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023, upon the expiry
of which the parties may extend the term for three years on a mutually
agreed basis.
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Provision financial services to the Company and its
subsidiaries by Shandong Finance

Pursuant to the financial services agreement entered into between the
Company and Shandong Finance on 25 March 2019, Shandong Finance
has agreed to provide, inter alia, certain deposit services to the Company
and its subsidiaries for a period of three years ending 29 June 2022,
upon the expiry of which the parties may extend the term on a mutually
agreed basis.

Pursuant to the said financial services agreements, Shandong Finance
shall provide certain deposit services to the Group, the principal terms of
which are as follows:

(@  the interest rate for the deposit of the Group’s funds with
Shandong Finance shall, subject to the compliance of the relevant
requirements of the People’s Bank of China, be no less than the
highest interest rate for the same type of deposit offered by the
major commercial banks in the PRC for the same period; and

(b)  the maximum daily balance (including interests) of the Group's
deposit with Shandong Finance shall not exceed RMB24.5 billion
from 30 June 2019 to 29 June 2020, RMB28 billion from 30 June
2020 to 29 June 2021 and RMB33 billion from 30 June 2021 to
29 June 2022.
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Details of the annual cap and the actual transaction amount for the year hERERERFIEE T _TF+ = A

ended 31 December 2020 in respect of these continuing connected T+ BUEFEZFELREEERRSEH
transactions are as follows: FBEOT

2020

—E-EF

RMB’000

AR TR

Provision of general services and labour services by Weichai Holdings and its associates to the Company and its
subsidiaries

HMEREBRRENBEB)ARADEIAARENBEAARKGEREREBRY

Cap Actual
ER B

Provide general services and labour services by G 1 Ry K HOB B (RE B A )
Weichai Holdings and its associates RHEERBREE RS 75,000 47,648

Supply and/or connection of utilities by Weichai Holdings and its associates to the Company and its subsidiaries

HEZEREREWNBEBAAAAQRARMEAAMER, SNEBRBERK

Cap Actual
LR BB

Supply and/or connection of utilities by Weichai S 1 A K LB B (B B 1 A
Holdings and its associates HER BB ERY 840,000 442,850

Purchase of diesel engine parts and components, gas and scrap metals etc., materials, diesel engines and related
products, processing services and import and export agency services by the Company and its subsidiaries from
Weichai Holdings and its associates

ALARAREMBARMMBREERRAWB(EER AR RBEMEERG RIAREEES - EMH - RAKR
HEER MIBKRBMAEEL QRS

Cap Actual
LR BB

Purchase products and services from Weichai ) A 2 PR R Ko H T 8 (BA B ) 1 &)
Holdings and its associates K E@MRE 1,750,000 1,093,423

Sale of diesel engines, diesel engines parts and components, materials, semi-finished products, hydraulic products

and related products and provision of processing services by the Company and its subsidiaries to Weichai Holdings
and its associates

ALARAREMBARMMBRERRAWB(ER) AREERME XAREESF - EMR -¥lm BREER
HHEERREENIRYE

Cap Actual
L BR S

Provide diesel engines and related products and ) A 2 2 iR Ko E B B (BA B ) R &)
services to Weichai Holdings and its associates s mE B Em KR 4,610,000 2,009,848
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2020
ZEZEF
RMB’000
AR TR
E. Sale of diesel engines and related products by the Company and its subsidiaries to Weichai Heavy Machinery and its
subsidiaries
EE. XAARREMBAGNAXERRANBATHEEXARREBEER
Cap Actual
£ BR B 5
Provide diesel engines and related products to ML EHRENE QG HE
Weichai Heavy Machinery and its subsidiaries 4 i i X R BE E @ 650,000 332,049
F. Purchase of diesel engine parts and components, materials, steel and scrap metal etc., diesel engines and related
products and processing and labour services by the Company and its subsidiaries from Weichai Heavy Machinery and
its subsidiaries
FF ARAAREMBARNOBFEELARAMNBLARNRKBEAKRETG - EMA AMRBEEES KLHEREHEER
MNTREHRE
Cap Actual
L£R B 5
Purchase diesel engines and related materials and 1A # 5¢ & # & H I & & &) 5 B8
services from Weichai Heavy Machinery and its e i i K A BE R MR 2 AR 78
subsidiaries 720,000 462,919
G. Supply of semi-finished diesel engine parts, diesel engine parts and components, reserve parts and related products
and provision of labour services by the Company its subsidiaries to Weichai Heavy Machinery and its subsidiaries
G ALAAREMBARMBRRERRAWBARNHEELERERGEL - LARZERF A4 REBEGUARREHS
8% IR %
Cap Actual
ER BB
Provide diesel engines related materials and services [d] # 5¢ = # & H B 2 &) /&
to Weichai Heavy Machinery and its subsidiaries e i K2 A8 A R AR 2 AR 78 180,000 79,436
H. Sale of parts and components of transmissions and related products by SFGC to Fast Transmission
H BREZTIHEBREOZEZIREEHEEHIEZRHEREABER
Cap Actual
£ BR B 5
Provide parts and components of transmissions PREETRHERBREEYHT
and related products by SFGC B & AR B E 5,000,000 2,753,065

70
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2020
ZB-Z2F
RMB'000
ARBT R
Purchase of parts and components of transmissions and related products and labour services by SFGC from Fast
Transmission
BREZIRERAEZLtHEERBEH S R4 REBER
Cap Actual
LER g5
Purchase of parts and components of transmissions PR PEE T Em iR ESHZ
and related products and services by SFGC BB e AR R E o RS 9,150,000 6,575,095

Sale of vehicles, parts and components of vehicles, raw materials and related products and provision of the relevant
services by the Company and its subsidiaries to Shaanxi Automotive and its associates
FARAREMBARODRAEERENB(EBR ARAEERE - SEZHS4 - EMAREBERNEHEABERYE

Cap Actual
L PR S
Provide vehicles, raw materials and related products A Bt 5 & B K H M B (BF Bt ) A 7)
and services to Shaanxi Automotive and its fHEAE RV REEE®D
associates N PR 1% 2,950,000 2,621,739

Purchase of parts and components of vehicles, scrap steel and related products and labour services by the Company
and its subsidiaries from Shaanxi Automotive and its associates

ARAAREMBARARAEERENBEB)ARAREIEZNF ER HHEERRSERE

Cap Actual
LR BB
Purchase parts and components of vehicles, scrap A BR )5 5 & & £ K 38 (BE B ) & &)
steel and related products and labour services EBAETHMG - Bl EE
from Shaanxi Automotive and its associates Eom Rk BERG 13,300,000 11,801,831

Sale of engines, new energy powertrain and related products by the Company and its subsidiaries to Yangzhou
Yaxing and its subsidiaries

FARAOEMNEEREMBLARNFEERXDIR FERDIARREABER

Cap Actual
FR S

Provide new energy powertrain and related mMEMNEEREWE QG HE
products to Yangzhou Yaxing and its subsidiaries ¥ 88 &) 1 48 5k & 48 B B 1,090,000 97,741
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2020
g S 33
RMB’000
AR TR
M. Sale of transmissions by SFGC to Yangzhou Yaxing and its subsidiaries
M BRAZIRFEGASNEEREMBARMEERER
Cap Actual
ER B
Provide transmissions to Yangzhou Yaxing and its  [A]#5 )1 28 2 2 H i B A &) &
subsidiaries FRAE 95,000 17,067
N. Sale of axles by Shaanxi Hande Axle Co., Ltd. ("Hande Axle", a subsidiary of Shaanxi Zhongqi) to Yangzhou Yaxing
and its subsidiaries
N REEZEERERAAD(ERERS] REESZHEBELRAASEMNDEREWBEARNHEEER
Cap Actual
ER B
Provide axles to Yangzhou Yaxing and its MizME 2 REKE QG HE
subsidiaries B 110,000 45,243
0. Supply of base engines, gas engine parts, utility and labour services, technology development services and related
products and services by the Company and its subsidiaries and/or associates to Weichai Westport
0. ALARARHEMEBEB ARNOASHERMELARE SEARS REPRELE BWTHEREREEER
X R
Cap Actual
£ BR B
Provide base engines, gas engine parts and related 7] 75 /8 7 A2 R (i lE A B2 4% - 28
products and services to Weichai Westport % Be 14 N A B on IR 7% 3,500,000 834,599
P.  Purchase of gas engines, gas engine parts, labour services and related products and services by the Company and its
subsidiaries and/or associates from Weichai Westport
P. ZARREMBEBH LCANASBHERRBAER SERARG EZEBREBEMRRRYE
Cap Actual
EBR B
Purchase gas engines, gas engine parts and related [A1 P85 #T AL R IR BE M A2 1 - | 22
products and services from Weichai Westport B 1 2 AR R = R AR 78 7,000,000 3,036,351
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EEEHS ()

2020
i
RMB’000
ARBT T

Q. Provision of financial services to the Company and its subsidiaries by Shandong Finance

Q WRHBEAFAAARENBELARRESBERL

From 1 January 2020
to 29 June 2020
—E-E2F-HF—-HE
—®-®FEXA=+RA

Cap Actual
FR S
The maximum daily balance (including interests) WA ARR REKBER A
on the deposit services provided by Shandong RHEOEFEFRBEOETAESF
Finance to the Company and its subsidiaries KEREE (R FB) 24,500,000 24,341,369

From 30 June 2020
to 31 December 2020
—E-_EFXA=ZTHZE
—E-_EH+-HA=+—H

Cap Actual
FR B
The maximum daily balance (including interests) IR mARR REKBRQ A
on the deposit services provided by Shandong RHEOEFEFRBEOETAESF
Finance to the Company and its subsidiaries HEREE (B FB) 28,000,000 27,985,999

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have reviewed the
internal control procedures put in place by the Company and the continuing
connected transactions set out above and have confirmed that the internal
control procedures were adequate and effective, and these continuing
connected transactions were entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
favourable to the Group than terms available to or from independent third
parties; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders
of the Company as a whole.

The auditors of the Company was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with the Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised), “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information,” and with
reference to Practice Note 740, “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules,” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditors have issued an
unqualified letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the
above continuing connected transactions in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of
the Listing Rules.

ARBBIFPTEECEMNARARAN
MEBEGIREF M EXENFELRERS
WHEAANMLEHEFERAER BREHE
HREXSHOEAEEN —KREBEER
BIED (VR —REBEERRTBERBLE
= MREREEREMRZ R RGDRIER
BERERXHZHEBBET L BRERQF
FEANAARAIRRZERENE -

AARGEMOEZERERTSSHMAS
A A HCE T % B B 2 B113000 (K18 5T)) [
SHBEERNEF I EEAUNIINZEZRR] R
2B HAE 74057 BREA(LETRAD
Frat B EREISINZBEMEG]IRELE
ENFEEEXS ZEMEER EmRA
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In the letter the auditors have confirmed and stated that:

a. nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the
disclosed continuing connected transactions have not been approved by
the Company’s board of directors.

b.  for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the
Group, nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the transactions were not, in all material respects, in accordance
with the pricing policies of the Group.

C. nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the
transactions were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance
with the relevant agreements governing such transactions.

d. with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the continuing
connected transactions set out above, nothing has come to their
attention that causes them to believe that the disclosed continuing
connected transactions have exceeded the annual cap as approved by
the Company.

A copy of the auditors’ letter has been provided by the Company to The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group entered into the
following connected transaction which was not exempt from the annual
review and disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
Details of such connected transaction have been disclosed in compliance with
the requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Subscription of shares in Shantui Engineering Machinery Co.,
Ltd (“Shantui Engineering”)

On 26 November 2020, the Company entered into a subscription agreement
with Shantui Engineering, pursuant to which the Company has conditionally
agreed to subscribe for up to 236,705,601 new A shares of Shantui
Engineering which will be issued by Shantui Engineering through non-public
offering, at a price of RMB2.88 per share. Shantui Engineering was held by
Shandong Heavy Industry as to 29.37% and was accounted for as a subsidiary
of Shandong Heavy Industry.

Following completion of the subscription, the Company will become a holder
of up to approximately 16.02% of the total share capital of Shantui
Engineering (as enlarged by the non-public offering), and Shantui Engineering
will not be accounted for as a subsidiary of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

Except for the transactions with associates, all the transactions of goods and
services with related parties, leasing with related parties and transfer of assets
with related parties as disclosed in Note X.5(1) to (3) to the financial
statements also constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and the
Company has complied with relevant requirements in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”)
on the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Group’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Acknowledging the importance of shareholders’ interest and return, the
Company has always adopted a policy of stable dividend distribution. Prior to
proposing dividend distribution, the Board considers a multitude of factors
including the Company’s financial performance, distributable reserve, capital
expenditure, expected financial performance, expected working capital
requirement and such other factors as the Board may consider relevant.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party
to any arrangements that enabled the directors or supervisors of the Company
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SECURITIES
OF THE COMPANY

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of
association or the laws of the PRC, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

INCOME TAX FOR H SHAREHOLDERS

According to the regulations in the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the People’s
Republic of China, Implementation Regulations on Enterprise Income Tax Law
of People’s Republic of China which came into effect in 2008 and the Notice
of the State Administration of Taxation on Issues Relating to the Withholding
and Remittance of Enterprise Income Tax on Dividends Paid by Chinese
Resident Enterprises to Overseas Non-resident Enterprises which hold H Shares
(Guo Shui Han [2008] No. 897) K R Bl /E R (b X MIRIMHRIEFE R B
BRI ERER MR EFTETE BB 3@ ) (B 1[2008]897
%)) issued by China’s State Administration of Taxation on 6 November 2008
(collectively, the “Tax Law"”), any domestic enterprise of the PRC which pays
dividends to non-resident enterprise shareholders (as defined in the Tax Law)
for the year of 2008 and thereafter shall withhold and remit enterprise income
tax with the payer as withholding agent. After receiving dividends, non-
resident enterprise shareholders may, where applicable, apply for tax refund
pursuant to relevant requirements under tax treaty (arrangement).

In accordance with the Tax Law, the Company is obliged to withhold and remit
enterprise income tax at the rate of 10% on behalf of the non-resident
enterprise holders of H Shares whose names appear on the register of
members for H Shares of the Company on the Record Date when distributing
dividends to them. For holders of H Shares who are registered in the name of
non-natural person registered shareholders (including HKSCC (Nominees)
Limited, other corporate nominees, trustees, or other organisations or groups
which are all treated as “non-resident enterprise” shareholders) on the register
of members for H Shares of the Company on the Record Date, the Company
will distribute the cash dividends, after withholding for payment of 10%
enterprise income tax.

Pursuant to the Notice on the Tax Policies Concerning the Pilot Program of the
Shenzhen-Hong Kong Stock Connect (KM Z AR ETH X H EH 5 @
e ) 54 2 A B B UK DR SR B9 38 40)), for mainland corporate investors that
invest in a company via the Shenzhen-Hong Kong Stock Connect, corporate
income tax will be levied according to the law. In particular, for any dividend
to be distributed to resident enterprises in the mainland China which hold H
shares for more than 12 consecutive months, corporate income tax may be
exempted according to the law. Such mainland enterprises shall declare and
pay taxes by themselves in respect of such dividends, which will not be
withheld by such H share company.

76 WEICHAT PowER Co., LTD. #%ENVNBRMNEBERALS

ESEHRS (88

BAhEEIE
ARRAMARNERRPE R BT LA
EEBEEGE ATCARARZLABR
R B AR o

H B A% 3R P 13 5t

RE-_FTN\FEEMPFEARKAMBELE
FrEBOE) (hEARAXMBEAXMEHZE
BEREIDARPEBZREEARR -_FTN
Fr+—ARNBERGKERPEERDERR
SMHEEE R B ERRIK#E R SR MR ML
PSR E R E R B A1) (B 4[2008]897
)X THERBIFEDORE  AFBEEAD
ERFEEREGERR(EERTE)RE —F
ENFERARFERSRE FRMOALHD
EBHR IUTARBNBEBA-FRE
REEBRREESREZE  AJRBEH WK
(L) SHERERFEMERM(WTA) -

R A NVNECTHCIDAE = = It | P NV/N|
HAR B R 4 it WHEX IR B R b % B /K % iz
BR - ARI0% R ERITKBEEREH-
BN B HI AR 5 A~ B HA AR & T BA 3F
BAABETHREEELHHRBRR(BER
BERIFEREEIRRNETERRGEE(RK
BAN)BERLA HMEERBZA -ZFEA-
FEMABMIER)MNS ARFAHRALAK
BI0%EXEMEBRRBKERSKE -

REKERRERET SR ZEH I BEH A
HEBMWEENBA)  BRRERAME
EREE KAFAHACEMBH - EF - A
FREFSEFBHRMI2EARFHORE
MRS KERBEEMGSHR HIRQAY
M EEREETRTOBBAFMABHRR
EMAKALEBITRRAN -



DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

According to the Notice of the Ministry of Finance and the State
Administration of Taxation on Certain Policies Regarding Individual Income Tax
(Cai Shui Zi [1994] No. 20) KBA B #B - IR M IS AR AR B A PGB A T
BB EmA) (B8 F [1994]5205%)), foreign individual resident
shareholders are exempt from personal income tax in respect of the dividends
or bonus received from domestic foreign invested enterprises for now. As the
Company is a foreign invested enterprise, for all natural person shareholders
whose names are registered on the register of members for H Shares of the
Company on the Record Date, the Company does not need to withhold
personal income tax. The Company shall obtain latest updates by consulting
relevant tax authorities in the PRC in due course.

In respect of dividends for the H shares of a company invested in by mainland
individual investors and listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange through the
Shenzhen-Hong Kong Stock Connect, the H share company shall apply to
China Securities Depository and Clearing Co., Ltd., which will then provide the
H share company with the register of mainland individual investors. The H
share company shall withhold an individual income tax at the rate of 20% on
such dividends.

For dividends received by investors (including enterprise and individual
investors) in the Hong Kong market from investing in A shares listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, and before Hong Kong Securities Clearing
Company Limited is able to furnish China Securities Depository and Clearing
Co., Ltd. with the identity, holding period and other detailed data of the
investors in the Hong Kong market, the differentiated tax treatment based on
the holding period of shares will not be implemented temporarily. Listed
companies shall withhold income tax at the rate of 10% and make
withholding filings with the relevant tax authorities. For those investors who
are tax residents of other countries and the tax rate applicable to dividends is
lower than 10% under the tax treaty between China and the relevant
countries, such investors may, by themselves or request the withholding agent
to act on their behalf to, apply to the relevant tax authorities in respect of the
listed company for the preferential relevant treatment under the relevant
treaties. Upon the verification of the relevant tax authorities, the amount being
the difference between the tax withheld and the tax calculated at the rate as
prescribed under the corresponding tax treaty shall be refunded.

If anyone would like to change the identity of the holders in the register of
members, please enquire about the relevant procedures with the nominees or
trustees. The Company will withhold for payment of the enterprise income tax
for its non-resident enterprise shareholders strictly in accordance with the
relevant laws and requirements of the relevant government departments and
adhere strictly to the information set out in the Company's register of
members on the Record Date.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers were less than 30% of the Group's total sales.

During the Year, the aggregate purchase attributable to the Group's five
largest suppliers were less than 30% of the Group's total purchases.

At no time during the Year did a director, a supervisor, an associate of a
director or a shareholder of the Company, which to the knowledge of the
directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s share capital, have an interest
in any of the Group’s five largest suppliers or customers.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

(i)

(i)

(iii)

78

On 24 December 2020, a resolution in relation to the non-public
issuance of A Shares has been considered and approved at the
Company's tenth provisional meeting of the Board for the year 2020,
and on 29 January 2021, a resolution in relation to the grant of the
general mandate to the Board was approved at the extraordinary general
meeting. Pursuant to the general mandate, the Company will issue a
maximum of 793,387,389 new A Shares, representing not more than
10% of the total issued share capital of the Company prior to the
completion of the non-public issuance of A Shares, and the proceeds
expected to be raised will be not more than RMB13,000 million. The
issuance will be implemented by the Company in due course by way of
non-public issuance to specific targets within the validity period upon
obtaining the approval from the CSRC. The maximum number of A
Shares to be issued under the non-public issuance of A Shares will be
based on the approval granted by the CSRC.

At the Board meeting held on 25 February 2021, a proposal in relation
to the Possible Spin-off was considered and approved. The Possible Spin-
off is subject to the approval of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the
approval at the general meeting of the Company.

On 30 March 2021, the Company’s seventh meeting of the fifth session
of the Board considered and approved that the Company will not make
profit distribution for 2020 nor will it convert its capital reserve funds
into share capital given that Company is currently proceeding with the
non-public issuance of A Shares, after making comprehensive
consideration of factors such as the interests of shareholders and the
development of the Company. Following the completion of the non-
public issuance of A Shares, the Company will conduct profit distribution
as soon as possible in compliance with the requirements of relevant
regulatory authorities and its articles of association.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND ITS IMPLEMENTATION

The Group keeps itself updated with and ensures the strict compliance with all
such relevant environmental laws and regulations as applicable in the
respective jurisdictions. Meanwhile, all-round and comprehensive internal
management system and rules are in place to ensure the effective
implementation of relevant policies and regulations.

During the Year, the Group passed the audit of the environmental
management system. During the course of production, hazardous and non-
hazardous wastes are also disposed of in a safe and efficient manner, without
polluting the environment. Pollutants so produced are in compliance with
national or local emission standards. The Group has never been included in any
list of highly-polluting enterprises by environmental authorities, nor has it been
penalised by any environmental authorities.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group keeps itself updated with and ensures the strict compliance with all
such relevant laws and regulations as applicable in the respective jurisdictions.
During the Year, the Group has complied with all applicable relevant laws and
regulations in the respective jurisdictions in all material respects.

MAJOR RELATIONSHIPS INVOLVING THE GROUP

(1) Employees
In compliance with relevant laws and regulations of the PRC, the
Company firmly upholds the human resources management philosophy
of “taking up the responsibility for forming order, to allocate suitable
people to suitable posts, encourage staff members to work hard on a
long-term basis, and serve the overall development goal of the
enterprise”. In strict adherence to the strategy of “Talents Come First”
and the principle of equality, the Company strives to provide the
employees with a safe and good working environment and experience, a
sound system of remuneration and benefits and a series of training
activities in order to attract, retain and motivate the employees. The
management team and staff team of the Group have been stable.
During the Year, the Group considered that the relationship with its
employees and the turnover rate were acceptable. In recent years, the
Company have received various awards including a “National Model of
Harmonious Enterprise with Good Labour Relations (2B &5 45 )#5(%
FFE{EZ)" and “Outstanding Enterprise Award in Human Resource
Development and Management (b2 A H & RHSEEREFDE)".
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(2)

3)
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REPORT (CONTINUED)

Suppliers

With mergers and reorganisation on a global basis and overseas market
expansion, the Group owns production factories in many countries and
regions and its suppliers are all over the world. Currently, the Group is in
the course of forming its global supply chain system. All major suppliers
have close and long-term relationship with the Group. During the Year,
the Group considered that the relationship with suppliers was sound and
stable.

Customers

Insisting on “Aiming for customer satisfaction”, the Group steadfastly
implements the key quality requirements of “goal assessment, effective
system, strict compliance, and responsibility performance”, and
deepened the philosophy of “Quality is in our hands”
quality development. During the Year, the Company was granted the
“National Customer Grade A Satisfaction Benchmarking Enterprise”* (&
HHi5EEEAAZHAEMEEMTE). The Group considered that the
relationship with assembling factories and users was sound and stable.

in pursuit of high

Society

With the notion of “Developing economy and service the community”,
the Group goes beyond achieving its own growth to contribute to
society by fighting against COVID-19 and having started a variety of
charitable donations and volunteer activity to actively perform its social
responsibilities and spread its positive energy as a corporation and strives
to achieve win-win development vis-a-vis society, gaining recognition
from different sectors of society.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) comprises all
independent non-executive directors of the Company. The chairman of the
Audit Committee is Ms. Jiang Yan, an independent non-executive director. Ms.
Jiang has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules, for the purpose of this appointment. Throughout the Year, the Audit

Committee discharged its responsibilities, reviewed and discussed the financial
results and internal control matters of the Company. In accordance with the
requirements of Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules, the Audit Committee has
reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements for the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE IN APPENDIX 14 TO THE LISTING RULES

During the Year, other than the roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer being performed by Mr. Tan Xuguang (“Mr. Tan”) and directors not
being able to attend all annual general meeting and extraordinary general
meetings due to other important work-related affairs, the Company has
complied with all the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code as
set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

Mr. Tan is in charge of the overall management of the Company. The
Company considers that the combination of the roles of the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer can promote the efficient formulation and
implementation of the Company’s strategies which will enable the Group to
grasp business opportunities efficiently and promptly. The Company considers
that through the supervision of its board and its independent non-executive
directors, there is adequate balance of power and authority in place.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE

During the Year, the Company adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by directors on terms no less than the required standard set out in
the Model Code. Having made specific enquiry of all directors, the directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the required standard set out in
the Model Code during the Year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the directors of the Company, the Company has maintained
the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules as at the date of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

AUDITORS

The Company appointed Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public
Accountants LLP (fEE)EE K &5 AN HEAT (ISR EiBAR)) as the Company's
auditors on 20 June 2019 in place of Ernst & Young Hua Ming LLP. Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants LLP will retire and a resolution
for their reappointment as auditors of the Company for the year of 2021 will
be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The audited consolidated financial statements for the Year were approved by
the Board on 30 March 2021.

PUBLICATION OF THE ANNUAL REPORT ON THE
WEBSITES OF THE HONG KONG STOCK EXCHANGE
AND THE COMPANY

The 2020 annual report of the Company will be despatched to the
shareholders as well as made available on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s
website at www.hkexnews.hk and the Company’s website at
www.weichaipower.com in due course.

On behalf of the Board

Tan Xuguang
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong,
30 March 2021
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SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE’S REPORT

Dear Shareholders,

In 2020, in accordance with relevant requirements including the Company
Law, the Articles of Association and the Rules of Procedure of the Supervisory
Committee, in compliance with the principle of integrity, all members of the
Supervisory Committee of Weichai Power Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) (the
“Supervisory Committee”) performed their duties of supervision by exercising
effective supervision and examination, in a lawful manner, of the Company’s
procedures of making operational decisions, its state of operation, its financial
conditions and its acquisition and disposal of assets and material connected
transactions, thereby providing strong support to the Company’s regulated
operations and healthy development, and protecting the legitimate interests of
the Company and its investors.

I. DETAILS OF CONVENING MEETINGS OF THE
SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

In this year, the Company held five meetings of the Supervisory

Committee.

1. On 26 March 2020, the fifth meeting of the fifth session of the
Supervisory Committee was convened, during which the
Supervisory Committee considered and approved the full text and
summary of the 2019 annual report of the Company, the work
report of the Supervisory Committee for 2019, the financial report
and auditors’ report for 2019, the final financial report for 2019,
the financial budget report 2020, profit distribution proposal for
2019, as well as the re-appointment of Shandong Hexin
Accountants LLP as the internal control auditors of the Company
for the year 2020, the internal control self-evaluation report for
2019 and the internal audit report for 2019.

2. On 29 April 2020, the first provisional meeting of the Supervisory
Committee of the Company in 2020 was convened, during which
the Supervisory Committee considered and approved the 2020
first quarterly report of the Company. The contents of the first
quarterly report gave a true, accurate and complete view of the
actual situation of the Company and do not contain false
statements, misleading representations or material omissions.
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SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE 'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

On 27 August 2020, the sixth meeting of the fifth session of the
Supervisory Committee of the Company was convened, during
which the Supervisory Committee considered and approved the
full text and summary of the 2020 interim report of the Company,
and the implementation of the 2020 interim profit distribution
proposal by the Company. The contents of the interim report gave
a true, accurate and complete view of the actual situation of the
Company and do not contain false statements, misleading
representations or material omissions.

On 30 October 2020, the second provisional meeting of the
Supervisory Committee of the Company in 2020 was convened,
during which the Supervisory Committee considered and approved
the 2020 third quarterly report of the Company. The contents of
the third quarterly report gave a true, accurate and complete view
of the actual situation of the Company and do not contain false
statements, misleading representations or material omissions.

On 24 December 2020, the third provisional meeting of the
Supervisory Committee of the Company in 2020 was convened,
during which the Supervisory Committee considered and approved
the proposal in relation to non-public issuance of A Shares.

IT. OPINION OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE ON
SUPERVISED MATTERS OF THE COMPANY IN THE
REPORTING PERIOD

84

1.

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

Compliance of the Company'’s operations with legal
requirements

During the reporting period, pursuant to the laws and regulations
of the PRC and the Articles of Association, the Supervisory
Committee duly supervised the convening procedures and
resolutions of general meetings of Shareholders and meetings of
the Board, the Board’s execution of resolutions approved at
general meetings of shareholders, the performance of duties by
the senior management of the Company. The Supervisory
Committee was of the view that the Board and the senior
management of the Company performed their duties with
integrity and diligence, made decisions in a scientific approach,
maintained sound production and operation. The Supervisory
Committee was not aware of any action which would result in a
breach of laws or regulations or the Articles of Association or
would damage the interests of the Company and investors in the
Company.
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SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE 'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

B8RS (M)

Financial position of the Company 2 DENBBEER
During the reporting period, the Supervisory Committee further BEHAN RARIEE NG TH
enhanced its internal control, especially the examination of the NEZEHE FAZ28BHEHR
financial system. The Company has established a sound system on & RAEHINEE BEEZE.
external investment, asset transfer and connected transactions, XSS T EEEL T LERE
etc. In its operation, the Company observed the relevant laws and EWHHE - EEFEBRES  HIRR
regulations of the PRC and the relevant provisions of the China REBELEE - EZREPHFESH
Securities Regulatory Commission. On the control of the EREERELZEENABRENIT
movement of funds and administrative expenses, the Company EEcRAE TEEBAMNZES L
strictly controlled on each grade which ensured the normal DMIEHE BRETARLERE
operation of the Company and avoided financial risk. & X RE T Rk
The Supervisory Committee was of the view that the procedures EEERA EETTHRENER
adopted by the Board in preparing and considering the annual NAFEMBERENEFTE
financial report of the Company are in compliance with the laws, B THERETPHIZTEZONR
administrative regulations and stipulations of the CSRC. The F HRERNBTEET B T8
contents of the report gave a true, accurate and complete view of RETRAAMNEBRERL THFE
the actual situation of the listed company and do not contain false FRERLDSE REMRMKE
statements, misleading representations or material omissions. ERER-
There was no use of proceeds this year 3 AEEEEEESHARBR
Acquisition and disposal of assets of the Company 4 REIWBEBREEEERR
During the reporting period, the Company’s acquisitions and MEHAN RAIFEANEE - BE
disposals of assets were conducted in such a way where the BEOR BUHEFREGZE - R5EB
approval procedures were lawful, at reasonable considerations, BEBE REAH BMNTAAHN
and under effective decision-making, benefiting the integration of BERES FAELAAHMEREBB -
resources of the Company and aligning with the Company's AEENERRANBERS - BER
development strategies. No insider dealing or other actions which REGMEXNEERINBR
would damage the interests of the shareholders or cause any asset
loss occurred or emerged.
Material connected transactions 5 EXBEBXZEIE
During the reporting period, the connected transactions of the HEHRN ARBEENSIEBE
Company were conducted under the principle of fairess and the REHERTMBRTFHRA
procedures of the transactions were in compliance with laws and REOBFEE A KBBHEZE
regulations. The Supervisory Committee was not aware of any AR FREF =B IE SR -
action which would damage the interests of the Company and the
shareholders.
In conclusion, the Supervisory Committee has no disagreement on bR BEEEHREFAN
the matters supervised during the reporting period. EEEHERE -
Lu Wenwu BXR
Chairman of the Supervisory Committee EFeFE
Weifang, Shandong Province IR &

30 March 2021 —EZ-_—4%=A=+1+H
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company has always regarded the consistent maintenance of an excellent,
solid and reasonable corporate governance structure as its top priority.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company has reviewed its
corporate governance documents and is of the view that the Company has
fully complied with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code
(the "Corporate Governance Code”) set out in the Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules other than Code A.2.1, which requires that the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be two separate roles and should not be
performed by the same individual, and that certain directors of the Company
did not attend all of the Company’s annual general meeting and extraordinary
general meeting in 2020 as required under code provisions A.6.7 and E.1.2 of
the Corporate Governance Code due to other important work-related affairs.
Currently, Mr. Tan Xuguang (“Mr. Tan") serves as the Chairman as well as the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Despite such deviation, the directors
believe that the combination of the roles of the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer can promote the efficient formulation and implementation of
the Company’s strategies which will enable the Group to grasp business
opportunities efficiently and promptly. The Company considers that through
the supervision of its board and its independent non-executive directors, there
is adequate balance of power and authority in place.

The directors believe that the Articles of Association, the scope of
responsibilities of the Audit Committee, the scope of responsibilities of the
Supervisory Committee and the codes on securities dealings by directors and
certain executives, which constitute the basis for the regular codes on
corporate governance of the Company, have covered the principles and the
code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code. In respect of the following
areas, our internal corporate governance documents are more stringent than
the Corporate Governance Code:

1. In addition to the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee, the Company has also established the Strategic
Development and Investment Committee (the “SDIC").

2. All members of the Audit Committee are Independent Non-executive
Directors, of whom Ms. Jiang Yan, the Chairman of the committee,
holds the relevant professional qualification or professional knowledge
related to accounting or financial management.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The key responsibilities of the Board include, among other things, formulating
the Company’s overall strategies and corporate governance policies, setting
management targets, regulating internal controls and financial management,
and supervising the management’s performance, while the day-to-day
operations and management are delegated by the Board to the executives of
the Company.

The Board currently comprises 15 directors, whose details are set out on pages
29 to 34 of this annual report. The Board currently includes six executive
directors, four non-executive directors and five independent non-executive
directors, namely, Mr. Tan Xuguang (Chairman and CEO), Mr. Zhang Quan,
Mr. Xu Xinyu, Mr. Sun Shaojun, Mr. Yuan Hongming and Mr. Yan Jianbo as
Executive Directors; Mr. Zhang Liangfu, Mr. Jiang Kui, Mr. Gordon Riske and
Mr. Michael Martin Macht as Non-executive Directors; and Mr. Li Hongwu, Mr.
Wen Daocai, Ms. Jiang Yan, Mr. Yu Zhuoping and Ms. Zhao Huifang as
Independent Non-executive Directors.

The Company has formulated and implemented a “Diversity Policy regarding
Members of the Board of Directors” to support the attainment of strategic
goals and the needs for sustainable development. The composition of the
Board of Directors will be based on a range of diversity elements, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, race,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. Final decisions
will be made based upon the merits of the individuals and his or her
contributions to be made to the Board.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and considers each of the independent non-executive
directors to be independent.

The Board has notified each of the directors and supervisors in advance that
they should not trade in the securities of the Company within the period as
stipulated under the Listing Rules. All directors and supervisors confirmed that
they were in compliance with the Listing Rules in this respect.

Other than their working relationships with the Company, none of the
directors, supervisors or the senior management has any financial, business or
family relationship or any relationship in other material aspects with each
other.

Other than the service contracts entered into by them or as otherwise disclosed
in this annual report, none of the directors or the supervisors has any personal
and substantive interest, direct or indirect, in the material contracts entered
into by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during 2020.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Each of the executive directors, non-executive directors, independent non-
executive directors and supervisors of the Company has entered into a service
contract with the Company and their relevant terms of office shall be from 14
June 2018 to the conclusion of the 2020 annual general meeting of the
Company, save that the terms of office of Mr. Zhang Liangfu, a non-executive
director, and Ms. Jiang Yan, Mr. Yu Zhuoping and Ms. Zhao Huifang, all being
independent non-executive directors, shall be from 29 June 2020 to the
conclusion of the 2020 annual general meeting of the Company.

The Company attached great importance to the continuous professional
development of the directors and company secretary and paid close attention
to and actively organised relevant trainings for them. Each of the directors of
the Company actively participated in various special trainings in respect to
corporate governance and directors’ responsibilities in full compliance with
Code A.6.5 of Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Hong Kong Listing Rules and regulatory requirements of the PRC. The
company secretary of the Company completed relevant trainings as required
under Rule 3.29 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

In 2020, the Board reviewed and revised, where necessary, the corporate
governance policies and practice of the Company, reviewed and supervised the
training and continuing professional development attended by the directors
and senior management, reviewed and supervised the Company’s policies and
practice in its compliance with laws and regulations, reviewed and supervised
the code of conduct of employees and directors, and reviewed the Company’s
compliance with the Corporate Governance Code.

In 2020, the Company held twelve Board meetings. The principal activities of
the Board in 2020 were as follows:

o Review of the annual and interim results of the Company;

o Review of the auditors’ report, internal control audit report, final
financial report, financial budget report and corporate social
responsibilities report of the Company;

. Review of the annual profit distribution, interim dividend and the 2019
final dividend distribution proposal;

o Consideration and approval of connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions in relation to the subscription of the non-public
issuance of shares of Shantui Engineering Machinery Co., Ltd.;

o Consideration and approval of the Company’s banking facilities;

o Consideration and approval of the amendments to the Articles of
Association, Rules of Procedure for General Meetings of Weichai Power
Co., Ltd., Rules of Procedure for Board Meetings of Weichai Power Co.,
Ltd. and Rules for the Management of the Use of Proceeds of Weichai
Power Co., Ltd.;
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

o Consideration and approval of the provision of financial guarantee to
subsidiaries;
o Consideration and approval of the engagement in the structured

deposits business by its subsidiaries and its controlling subsidiaries;

o Consideration and approval of the election of non-executive directors
and independent non-executive directors;

o Consideration and approval of the election of specialized committees of
the Company;

o Consideration and approval of the appointment of senior management
members of the Company;

o Consideration and approval of the non-public issuance of A Shares of
the Company;

The total remuneration of the directors in 2020, including the basic salary,
performance-linked salary, incentive salary and discretionary bonus, amounted
to approximately RMB9.49 million. Independent non-executive directors were
only entitled to receive director’s fees but not other salary or remuneration. For
details of the remuneration of directors, please refer to Note X.5(5) to the
financial statements of the Company.

AubniT COMMITTEE
An Audit Committee has been established by the Board.

The Audit Committee is principally responsible for supervising the Company’s
internal audit system and its implementation, reviewing the Company’s
financial controls, risk management and internal control policies and systems
as well as material connected transactions and proposing the engagement or
removal of external auditors. It is also responsible for the communications
between the internal auditors and the external auditors as well as review of
financial information of the Company and the disclosure thereof.

The Audit Committee comprises all the independent non-executive directors of
the Company, currently including Ms. Jiang Yan, Mr. Li Hongwu, Mr. Wen
Daocai, Mr. Yu Zhuoping and Ms. Zhao Huifang. As Ms. Jiang Yan has the
appropriate professional qualifications and experience in financial matters, she
acts as the chairman of the Audit Committee. The terms of reference of the
Audit Committee are aligned with the recommendations set out in “A Guide
for Effective Audit Committees” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants.

During the reporting period, the Company held six meetings of the Audit
Committee.
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On 12 February 2020, the first provisional meeting in 2020 of the Audit
Committee was convened by way of facsimile. The meeting considered
and approved the resolution regarding engagement in the structured
deposits business by the Company and its controlling subsidiaries, and
resolved to submit the same resolution to the Board for consideration
and approval.

On 23 March 2020, the fourth meeting of the Audit Committee of the
fifth session of the Board was convened by way of concurrent phone
conference and on-site meeting. The meeting considered and approved
the resolutions regarding the financial report and auditors’ report for
2019, the re-appointment of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public
Accountants LLP as the auditors of the Company for year 2020, the re-
appointment of Hexin Accountants LLP as the internal control auditors of
the Company for the year 2020, the internal control self-evaluation
report for 2019 and the internal audit report for 2019, and resolved to
submit the same resolutions to the Board for consideration and approval.
The meeting also considered and approved the Company’s internal audit
work plan for 2020.

On 24 April 2020, the second provisional meeting in 2020 of the Audit
Committee was convened by way of facsimile. The meeting considered
and approved the resolution regarding the review of the 2020 first
quarterly report of the Company, and resolved to submit the same
resolution to the Board for consideration and approval.

On 31 July 2020, the third provisional meeting in 2020 of the Audit
Committee was convened by way of facsimile. The meeting considered
and approved the resolution regarding the determination of the
auditors’ fee for the year 2020, and resolved to submit the same
resolution to the Board for consideration and approval.

WEICHATI POWER Co., LTD. M4 NBRMNBERLAD

PREIBGHRS (1&)

200F2AN2B RAAILAEEARXNEH
T2000F 5 —REEEZEES AKX
CEERBBRTHRARAREERT
ARAHBREBETREBNER IR
BRI BRERAREESES -

20209F3 A23B A AN EE e HEIR
SeFALeN T BRTAERKE
EEERZES ANEREFRBT
RNE019F EH B RE REBAHRE 2
REREHERSTMEFAMERY
BAB)ARNTI2020F EERGHIE
AABEEMEETMEEMERE A
&%) AN RI20204F F A a6 12 5l 2 5t R
TEHERE - R F120194F [Z R 3042 I 5T & 3R
EHCRAFI0M9FEAFIEH FETRED
HE UAZBLAZERRRIAAES
TEZ RABAXREEEMNBARAT A
2020 E N HBEET TIERT & -

2020F4 248 AalAEE AR EBH
T20FF - NBRBEZEZEG AKX
TRERBATHEREZRQAF020F

F-FTEBENER YWRES LAH
ERXAPNEFTEEH

200F7A31B RAIABEEFXNBH
T20FF = ABRBEZEZEES AKX
CEFZRBT ERZERQA020F
EEABRBEBEHENRR  WAHB
FHERRERAGESEEH -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

5. On 24 August 2020, the fifth meeting of the Audit Committee of the
fifth session of the Board was convened by way of concurrent phone
conference and on-site meeting. The meeting considered and approved
resolutions regarding the Company’s 2020 interim financial report and
review report issued by the accountant of the Company, and resolved to
submit the same resolutions to the Board for consideration and
approval.

6. On 27 October 2020, the fourth provisional meeting in 2020 of the
Audit Committee was convened by way of facsimile. The meeting
considered and approved the resolution regarding the review of the
2020 third quarterly report of the Company, and resolved to submit the
same resolution to the Board for consideration and approval.

Further, those independent directors sitting on the Audit Committee have
expressed their opinions on matters including non-public issuance of A Shares,
connected transactions, election of directors, appointment of senior
management and profit distribution that occurred during the reporting period.

In addition, in the course of audit of the financial report 2020 of the
Company, the Audit Committee performed the following tasks on the principle
of diligence in strict compliance with relevant requirements of the China
Securities Regulatory Commission and Shenzhen Stock Exchange as well as the
Terms of Reference of the Audit Committee under the Board of Directors and
the Protocol of Work Procedures of the Audit Committee under the Board of
Directors:

(1) It carefully reviewed the Company’s approval work plan for 2020 and
relevant materials, and fixed the time arrangement for the audit work
for year 2020 after discussion with CPA firm in charge of audit for the
Company;
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Before the CPA firm commenced its audit work, the Audit Committee
had reviewed the first draft of the financial statements 2020 of the
Company and considered that the Company’s preparation of the
financial statements essentially reflected the financial conditions and
operating results of the Company, and agreed that the audit work for
2020 can be commenced based on such financial statements;

After the issue of preliminary audit opinion by the CPA firm, the Audit
Committee reviewed the financial report after the issue of the
preliminary audit opinion, and considered that the financial report 2020
of the Company gave a true, accurate and complete view of the overall
operating conditions and financial position of the Company in 2020, and
agreed that the annual report 2020 and summary thereof can be
prepared based on such financial report;

After the supply of the preliminary audit outcome for year 2020 by the
CPA firm, the Audit Committee convened a meeting on 25 March 2021,
on which it concluded on the audit work for year 2020, and considered
and approved resolutions regarding the financial report and auditors’
report for the year 2020, internal control self-evaluation report and audit
report as well as re-appointment of the auditors of the Company for the
year 2021.

Throughout the period under review, the Audit Committee discharged its
responsibilities, reviewed and discussed the financial results and the

effectiveness of financial control, internal audit, internal control and risk

management system of the Group.

In accordance with the requirements of Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules, the
Audit Committee has reviewed the financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2020.

The auditors of the Company have audited the financial statements and have
issued an unqualified auditors’ report.
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STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT AND INVESTMENT
COMMITTEE

The Strategic Development and Investment Committee (“SDIC”) has been
established by the Board.

The SDIC is principally responsible for examining and reviewing the Company'’s
strategic plans, monitoring the implementation of strategic planning, and
facilitating timely adjustments to the Company’s strategies and governance
structure.

The SDIC currently comprises Mr. Tan Xuguang (Chairman of the Board and of
the SDIC), Mr. Michael Martin Macht (Vice Chairman of the SDIC), Mr. Zhang
Liangfu, Mr. Zhang Quan, Mr. Xu Xinyu, Mr. Sun Shaojun, Mr. Yuan
Hongming, Mr. Yan Jianbo and Mr. Yu Zhuoping.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

A remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) has been
established by the Board.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for the recommendation to the
Board of the remuneration packages and terms of employment of directors,
supervisors and senior management of the Company and for the
determination of the relevant remuneration policy and incentive schemes for
directors, supervisors and senior management. For details of the remuneration
policy of the Company, please refer to page 75 of this annual report.

During the reporting period, the Company held one meeting of the
Remuneration Committee.

On 11 March 2020, the first meeting in 2020 of the Remuneration Committee
of the Board was convened by way of facsimile. The meeting considered and
approved the resolution regarding the implementation of incentive scheme in
2019 vis-a-vis senior management and core members of the Company, and
resolved to submit the same resolution to the Board for consideration and
approval.

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises one executive director and
two independent non-executive directors, being Ms. Zhao Huifang (chairman
of the Remuneration Committee), Mr. Tan Xuguang and Ms. Jiang Yan.

During the review period, in the course of performing its duties, the
Remuneration Committee reviewed and discussed the remuneration policy of
the Company, assessed the performance of executive directors and senior
management members, and approved the service contracts of the relevant
directors, supervisors and senior management members.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

A nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) has been established
by the Board.

The Nomination Committee currently comprises one executive director and

two independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Li Hongwu (chairman of
the Nomination Committee), Mr. Xu Xinyu and Ms. Zhao Huifang.

During the reporting period, the Company held four meetings of the
Nomination Committee.

94

On 2 January 2020, the first meeting in 2020 of the Nomination
Committee was convened by way of facsimile. The meeting considered
and approved the resolution regarding the nomination of Mr. Cheng
Guangxu as a vice president of the Company, and resolved to submit
the same resolution to the Board for consideration and approval.

On 12 February 2020, the second meeting in 2020 of the Nomination
Committee was convened by way of facsimile. The meeting considered
and approved the resolutions regarding the nomination of Mr. Chen
Wenmiao, Mr. Wang Zhijian, Mr. Sun Jian and Mr. Hu Haihua, each as a
vice president of the Company, and resolved to submit the same
resolutions to the Board for consideration and approval.

On 11 March 2020, the third meeting in 2020 of the Nomination
Committee was convened by way of facsimile. The meeting considered
and approved the resolution regarding the nomination of Mr. Zhang
Liangfu as a candidate for the director of the Company, and resolved to
submit the same resolution to the Board for consideration and approval.

On 11 May 2020, the fourth meeting in 2020 of the Nomination
Committee was convened by way of facsimile. The meeting considered
and approved the resolutions regarding the nomination of Ms. Jiang Yan
and Mr. Yu Zhuoping, each as an independent director of the Company,
and resolved to submit the same resolutions to the Board for
consideration and approval.
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SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

The Supervisory Committee consists of three members, with one Supervisor
being elected from the staff as a representative of employees and the other
two elected by the shareholders of the Company. The Supervisory Committee
is responsible for supervision of the Board and its members and the senior
management of the Company, so as to prevent them from abusing their
authorities and infringing the interests of the Company, its shareholders and
staff. The size and composition of the Supervisory Committee are in
compliance with the requirements of the relevant laws and regulations of the
PRC. The Supervisory Committee held five meetings during the Year to carry
out its supervision on behalf of the shareholders in respect of the Company’s
financial matters and the lawfulness and compliance in respect of the
discharge of duties by the directors and senior management of the Company.
The members of the Supervisory Committee attended the Board meetings and
general meetings of the Company and diligently performed their supervisory
duties.

Attendances at meetings of the Shareholders, Board, Supervisory Committee
and special committees (attendance in person/number of meetings) during the
Year are as follows:
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General Supervisory Audit Remuneration Nomination
Meeting Board  Committee = Committee = Committee ~ Committee
Name ®E BREXE Ezg EZe® ENZEE FMZEE REZEE
Executive Directors HTES
Tan Xuguang EBX 117120 17
Zhang Quan KR 33 1212
Xu Xinyu BEE 23 1212 4/4
Sun Shaojun BLE 23 12/12
Yuan Hongming REH 13 12/12
Yan Jianbo BREH 1212
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Zhang Liangfu (appointed on RRE(CE-ZF
29 June 2020) RAZTRARLE) 6/70
Jiang Kui 1ZE 13 1212
Gordon Riske Gordon Riske 213 12112
Michael Martin Macht Michael Martin Macht 213 111200
Wang Yuepu (resigned on FHER-E-ZF
26 March 2020) ZRAZFTAHEML 2/30

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 4R 95



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

PREIBGHRS (1&)

General Supervisory Audit Remuneration Nomination
Meeting Board Committee = Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee

Name i BRAE Bzg EEe® ENZ58 FMZERE REZEE
Independent Non-executive BUKHTES

Directors
Li Hongwu ZHH 33 12112 6/6 44
Wen Daocal BiE T 12/12 6/6
Jiang Yan (appointed on BE(CZ-ZE

29 June 2020) AAZTAB L) 22 1 33
Yu Zhuoping (appointed on £8F(ZT-_TF

29 June 2020) AAZTAB L) 22 n 33
Zhao Huifang (appointed on BEF(ZZE-Z

29 June 2020) AAZTAB L) 22 n 33
Zhang Zhong (retired on RR(ZEZEF

29 June 2020) ~NAZTNBEE) 17 5/5 33 17 44
Wang Gongyong (retired on TEB(ZZZZF

29 June 2020) AAZTAREE) 7 55 33 /1 414
Ning Xiangdong (retired on EMRE(ZE-TF

29 June 2020) NAZTAREE) 17 55 33
Supervisors Ex
Lu Wenwu BYR 33 5/5
Wu Hongwei RfE 33 4/5
Ma Changhai EBE 33 5/5

According to the requirements under Code I(d) of the Corporate Governance
Code, the attendance of alternate directors shall not be included in the
attendance of the relevant directors.

Note:

BI(EEBERTADEIDGERE BRES
MEEINSHAFTREENHERR -

UEE

WO ZEFENEFS —EEFRARKZ AR
HE—REFEEHLRE LRE -

(1) In addition, the director also appointed another director as his representative to attend (1)
and vote at one meeting of the board on his behalf.
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GENERAL MEETING AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The shareholders’ general meeting is the highest authority of the Company,
providing an opportunity for direct communications and building a sound
relationship between the Board and the shareholders of the Company.
Therefore, the Company places great attention to such meetings. In 2020, the
Company convened three general meetings. Matters reviewed and approved
at the said meetings include the following:

(1) 2019 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING HELD oON 29
JUNE 2020

1. To consider and approve the full text and summary of the Annual Report
of the Company for year 2019

2. To consider and approve the Report of the Board of Directors of the
Company for year 2019

3. To consider and approve the Report of the Supervisory Committee of the
Company for year 2019

4. To consider and approve the financial report of the Company and the
Auditors’ Report for year 2019

5. To consider and approve the Bi#5 R & 45 (final financial report) of the
Company for year 2019

6.  To consider and approve the Bf#TEE 2 (financial budget report) of
the Company for year 2020

7. To consider and approve the distribution of profit of the Company for
year 2019

8.  To consider and approve the granting of a mandate to the Board of
Directors for payment of interim dividend to the shareholders of the
Company for year 2020

9. To consider and approve the resolution in relation to the re-appointment
of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certifi ed Public Accountants LLP as the
auditors of the Company for year 2020 and to authorise the Directors to
determine their remuneration
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10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

15.02

15.03
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To consider and approve the re-appointment of 1z & =t Al & 7% FT (4F
Tk @A ) (Hexin Accountants LLP) as the internal control auditors of
the Company for year 2020

To consider and approve the amendments to the Articles of Association
of Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

To consider and approve the amendments to the Rules of Procedure for
General Meetings of Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

To consider and approve the amendments to the Rules of Procedure for
Board Meetings of Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

To consider and approve the election of Mr. Zhang Liangfu as a director
of the Company

To consider and approve the election of independent directors of the
Company

To consider and approve the election of Ms. Jiang Yan as an
independent director of the Company

To consider and approve the election of Mr. Yu Zhuoping as an
independent director of the Company

To consider and approve the election of Ms. Zhao Huifang as an
independent director of the Company
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(2) FIRST EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING IN
2020 HeELD oN 31 JuLy 2020

1. To consider and approve the grant of the guarantees by the Company
for the financing of an overseas wholly-owned subsidiary

(3) SECOND EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING IN
2020 HELD ON 13 NOVEMBER 2020

1. To consider and approve the connected transactions in respect of sale of
diesel engines, diesel engines parts and components, materials, semi-
finished products, hydraulic products and related products and provision
of processing services by the Company and its subsidiaries to Weichai
Holdings Group Co., Ltd and its subsidiaries (and/or associates)

2. To consider and approve the connected transactions in respect of
provision of utilities by Weichai Holdings Group Co., Ltd and its
subsidiaries (and/or associates) to the Company and its subsidiaries

3. To consider and approve the connected transactions in respect of
purchase of diesel engine parts and components, materials, steel and
scrap metal etc., diesel engines and related products and labour and
processing services by the Company and its subsidiaries from Weichai
Heavy-duty Machinery Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries

4. To consider and approve the connected transactions in respect of sale of
engines, new energy powertrain and related products by the Company
and its subsidiaries to Yangzhou Yaxing Motor Coach Co., Ltd. and its
subsidiaries

5. To consider and approve the connected transactions in respect of sale of
transmissions by Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd., a controlled subsidiary of
the Company, to Yangzhou Yaxing Motor Coach Co., Ltd. and its
subsidiaries
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10.

11.

12.

100

To consider and approve the connected transactions in respect of sale of
axles by Shaanxi Hande Axle Co., Ltd., a controlled subsidiary of the
Company, to Yangzhou Yaxing Motor Coach Co., Ltd. and its

subsidiaries

To consider and approve the connected transactions in respect of sale of
base engines, gas engine parts, utility and labour services, technology
development services and related products and services by the Company
and its subsidiaries (and/or associates) to Weichai Power Westport New
Energy Engine Co., Ltd

To consider and approve the connected transactions in respect of
purchase of gas engines, gas engine parts, labour services and related
products and services by the Company and its subsidiaries (and/or
associates) from Weichai Westport New Energy Engine Co., Ltd

To consider and approve the connected transactions in respect of
provision of logistics and storage services by Weichai Power (Weifang)
Intensive Logistics Co., Ltd. (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company)
(and/or its associates) to Weichai Westport New Energy Engine Co., Ltd

To consider and approve the connected transactions in respect of the
leasing of factory buildings by the Company to Weichai Westport New
Energy Engine Co., Ltd

To consider and approve the grant of guarantee by the Company for the
financing of an overseas wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

To consider and approve the amendments to the Company’s scope of
business and to the Articles of Association
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Shareholders of the Company holding more than 10% of the shares of the
Company either individually or collectively requesting the convening of an
extraordinary general meeting or a class meeting shall proceed in accordance
with the procedures set forth in Article 103 of the Articles of Association.

Pursuant to Article 74 of the Articles of Association, shareholders of the
Company who hold, individually or collectively, more than 3% of the
Company’s shares shall have the right to propose a motion to the Company
for consideration at the general meeting of the Company. Shareholders who
hold, individually or collectively, more than 3% of the Company’s shares may
propose a provisional motion in writing to the Board of Directors 10 business
days prior to the general meeting. Within two days upon the receipt of the
proposed motion, the Board of Directors shall issue a supplementary notice of
the general meeting to announce the content of the provisional motion.

Shareholders of the Company are welcome to send their enquiries to the
Board via our Capital Operation Department, details of which are set out in the
section headed “Corporate Information” in this annual report.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PROPOSE
CANDIDATES FOR ELECTION AS A DIRECTOR

Pursuant to the requirement of the Articles of Association, any shareholder
who, by itself or jointly, holding shares representing more than 3% of the
voting rights of the Company shall have the right to nominate candidates for
directorship. The number of shares directly or indirectly held by each
shareholder cannot be further subdivided in order to propose a motion by
himself or jointly with other persons.

The period for service of notices in writing by shareholders to the Company of
the intention to propose a candidate for election as a director in accordance
with the Articles of Association and of such candidate’s consent to be elected
shall be at least 7 days, which shall commence from the day following the
dispatch of the notice convening the general meeting for the election of
directors and shall end on the date which is no later than 7 days prior to the
date of such general meeting.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

AMENDMENTS TO THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

In accordance with the recent amendments to the Securities Law of the
People’s Republic of China ({# # A & 4£ F1 B 3& % J%£))(2019 Revision), the
Reply of the State Council on Adjusting the Notice Period for the General
Meeting of Shareholders and Other Matters Applicable to Companies Listed
Abroad (B % Fr BN A B ER AR LT AR ARAKRR RSB AR
LEEHEFTHIE)) and the Guidelines of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
for Standardized Operation (2020 Revision) ((EINFEHFZ 5 Fr EH A B R
&3 48 1548 31 (20204F (& 57))) and taking into consideration the actual
circumstances and operation development needs of the Company, as approved
at the 2019 Annual General Meeting held on 29 June 2020, the Company
made corresponding amendments to the Articles of Association, including to
the articles on illegal trading of shares and the procedures for convening a
general meeting.

Pursuant to the Notice regarding the Implementation of Standardised
Registration of Business Scope of Market Participants (AR 2 EETM %5
F KL EE RS L& 2B ) promulgated the Shandong Provincial
Bureau for Market Regulation (LR & M5 EE EEB), the Company
conducted standardised registration of business scope and expanded the scope
of business of the Company to include the sales of vehicle accessories and
lubricants. Pursuant to the relevant requirements under the Company Law of
the People’s Republic of China and the Guidelines for the Articles of
Association of Listed Companies, in view of the change of business scope, the
Company has made amendments to certain clauses of Articles of Association
as approved by shareholders at the 2020 second extraordinary general meeting
held on 13 November 2020, including the amendments to the Company’s
business scope.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND MANAGEMENT

The Board recognises its responsibility for maintaining an adequate system of
internal control to safeguard the Group’s assets and shareholders’ interests.

Internal control, including a defined management structure with limits of
authority, is designed to help achieve business objectives, safeguard assets
against unauthorised use, maintain proper accounting records for the provision
of reliable financial information for internal use or for publication. The purpose
of such system is to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss, and to manage, rather than eliminate, risks of
failure in operational systems and achievement of the Group’s objectives.

The Company has an internal audit function. The management maintains and
monitors the system of controls on an ongoing basis. The Audit Committee,
which was delegated by the Board, reviews the Group's risk management and
internal control policies and system at least once a year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

During the Year, based on the evaluations made by the management, the
Audit Committee reviewed and was satisfied that nothing had come to its
attention to cause the Audit Committee to believe that the system of risk
management and internal control covering financial, operational, compliance
and all other material controls of the Group was inadequate, and there is an
ongoing process to identify, evaluate and manage significant risks faced by the
Group. The Audit Committee considered that the risk management and
internal control system of the Group is effective and adequate.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MoDeL CoODE

During the Year, the Company adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by directors on terms no less exacting than the required standard
set out in the Model Code for Securities Transaction by Directors of Listed
Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”).
Having made specific enquiry of all directors, the directors have confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code for
the Year.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors aim to present the financial statements of the Group in
accordance with the statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The directors ensure that financial statements of the Group are
issued in a timely manner so that the final and interim results of the Group are
announced within the periods of three months and two months, respectively,
after the end of the relevant periods prescribed under the Listing Rules.

The financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020
have been reviewed by the Audit Committee and audited by the external
auditors, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants LLP. The
directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the financial
statements of the Group and presenting a balanced, clear and comprehensive
assessment of the Group’s performance and prospects. They are not aware of
any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast doubt
upon the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern. The
statement of the Auditors about their reporting responsibilities on the financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The Company has engaged Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public
Accountants LLP as the auditors of the Company. For the year ended 31
December 2020, an amount of RMB8.8 million was paid/payable to Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants LLP for their audit service.

PHREBHRS (&)

BUTHELIEECTNEHEREXZES
EAKENEREENAMEZRSRORE
M EE ARNMMEBEEMERER AR
TR -UHEESBEEE FHREEALSE
BEHcERRR BRZEER/AEH
MEREEMABEZERARER TR -

RAFE REEEEBEZHG BFERZEE
&

BTIRESTH

%$¢§'$/TEW§$ﬁﬁ HFR 5K

ST AR A RBRRT b bR B8R+

FEEHAREFTETESFXHHIEESTH

(BETFADRENTERTR BEM2ES

EFHAREARER BRERFACET
T ST R BT R TE VAR £ o

EFMUBHREIAECEE

EEEERBEAEERLRERETENZT
AEBFBZHBRR - EFTHREBIELRE
Bz BRR BEAEEZRBMEELSP
HMEEeI RN ETRAPTETAZHE B E
BRE=EALMEARKRA QM-

AEEBE_T_TF+_A=+—RHLHF
EZHBRRCHAEXZEEEMNRANE
REMEHEKSHMEEAEREBAR)
ER - EEHIABEAEEZYBRRLZE
IIARERBARASZVFE BHETHZ
AEZEE -RELTHABEMBEBEMF =X
AR ZERTHABAEAE MERFEFHIAR
AR ARBTE R ERE 2L NBAKEER -
REMRER M BERR A REEFEHZE
BR Y 0 B SR BAD R e

% 2% 6 B &
ARAHEBE ARG EXSAMELMR
(FREBEE) RBEE_T_FTF+_H
Z+-BLEEE - AEEANT EHED
EXEAMEFZAEREBAB)ARKSS
BELTHERERRBE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 &% 103



AUDITORS  REPORT

Deloitte

I.

II.

III.

104

Deloitte Shi Bao (Shen) Zi (21) No. P02021
To the shareholders of Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

OPINION

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Weichai
Power Co., Ltd. (“Weichai Power"), which comprise the consolidated
and the Company’s balance sheets as at 31 December 2020, and the
consolidated and the Company’s income statements, the consolidated
and Company’s cash flow statement and the consolidated and the
Company'’s statements of changes in shareholders’ equity for the year
then ended, and notes to the financial statements.

In our opinion, the abovementioned financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and the Company’s
financial position as at 31 December 2020, and the consolidated and
the Company’s financial performance and the consolidated and the
Company’s operating results and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises (“ASBEs").

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with China Standards on
Auditing (“CSAs"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of Weichai Power
in accordance with China Code of Ethics for Certified Public Accountants
(the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. We
determine that the following matters as key audit matters are required to
be communicated in the audit report.
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Deloitte Shi Bao (Shen) Zi (21) No. P02021 =R (2]) F(21)55P020215%

(—) AEREASHTRENHRE

(). Assessment for impairment of goodwill and

trademark rights with an indefinite useful life FARERE A,
1.  Description 1 ZEIEMEI

As stated in Notes V.22 and 20 to the financial statements,
as at 31 December 2020, included in the consolidated
financial statements were goodwill of gross carrying
amount of RMB22,159,467,117.12, which were calculated
by consolidating KION GROUP AG (“KION") and Dematic
Group, and trademark rights with an indefinite useful life
of gross carrying amount of RMB7,536,590,475.00, which
were owned by KION in intangible assets, which is qualitative
significant to consolidated financial statements. As stated
in Notes Il1.20 and 21 to the financial statements, goodwill
and trademark rights with an indefinite useful life shall be
tested for impairment every year, irrespective of whether
there is any indication that the asset may be impaired.
The test for impairment of goodwill and trademark rights
with an indefinite useful life involves significant accounting
estimates and judgments of the management. We therefore
identified impairment of goodwill and trademark rights with
an indefinite useful life as a key audit matter.

MBS ERMTR - 22 %20
Fi/R - 202012 A318 -
AT BREBEFRSEH
KION GROUP AG ( LA T fi§ 78
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AUDITORS' REPORT (CONTINUED) ERE(E)
Deloitte Shi Bao (Shen) Zi (21) No. P02021 =R (F) F(21)5P020215%
2. Audit Response 2 EiEH
Our main audit procedures for this key audit matter include: BT E—EREFFENTNE
A2 EERIE
(1) Testing and evaluating the design and operating (1) HEFEEREELMERSG T

effectiveness of the key internal controls relevant to
the audit of assessment for impairment of goodwill
and trademark rights with an indefinite useful life;

Evaluating the appropriateness of the methodology
adopted by management in determining the
recoverable amounts of asset groups or groups of asset
groups of the relevant asset. This evaluation is based
on the availability of the recoverable amounts of asset
groups or groups of asset groups of goodwill and
trademark rights with an indefinite useful life;

Reviewing and evaluating the appropriateness of
the key assumptions and judgments adopted by
management in the process of performing impairment
tests using the model of the present value of expected
future cash flows based on the Company’s relevant
historical records and our understanding of the
Company’s business and the industry in which the
Company operates; reviewing the basis of expected
cash flows and its reasonableness by combining actual
operation of asset groups or groups of asset groups
and market analysis;

Checking the basis of determining fair values of
recoverable amounts of groups of asset groups and
expected disposal fees, performing recalculation
and verifying the accuracy of the results from the
assessment for impairment of goodwill;

Reviewing the appropriateness of model of discounted
future cash flows used by the management and the
reasonableness of the discounted rate used by making
use of the work performed by our internal valuation
experts;

Checking the disclosures on information related to the
assessment for impairment of goodwill and trademark
rights with an indefinite useful life in the financial
statements.

WEICHATI POWER Co., LTD. M4 NBRMNBERLAD

R AV 2 PO SR
Sl LR B R e
AR

REBEEEMERZH TR
RERERBEEMRAREEHAE
AR E BN AIESIEFEE
EERRNEEEREEMBEE
M BEMAMAE RO SR A
Y E 1

=9 NS iE| i e s A
NRIEBRAETRAERE - &
% FHEEREEEEME AR
ReReRERIETRERS
B8 R O RS R R I HI BT v & 32
1t AEEEESEEAESD
ERGEBRARERTIEH D
TEZR S RETR KR M A
BRI

BERNEEEEABATRE
SRENAAEBELENREER
WK - WHITE A EE
F - BEmERENRGERNE
HEIE -

MAHMAREEEERN T
BEREREERRRRSREN
BRANREERERTEEN
BEM

B HmR T HREE REA
S T HEE R IR AR E R
ARREERNEKE -



AubpiToRrRS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

B
ﬂl_i
e
oF
i

Deloitte Shi Bao (Shen) Zi (21) No. P02021 AR (]) F(21)55P020215%

(2) REEEXBHN SRR

(). Accounting treatment for business of leasing of
forklift trucks

As stated in Notes Il1.16, 29 and 35 to the financial
statements, leasing of forklift trucks is a principal business
segment of KION, a subsidiary of Weichai Power, which
includes 3 categories of business: direct leasing, sale and
leaseback subleases and indirect leasing. Weichai Power
is required to recognize classification, measurement
and disclosures on various leasing business contracts in
accordance with the requirements of ASBEs. Various types
of leasing business involves different accounting treatments
and requires the use of significant accounting judgments
with higher degree of complication. We therefore identified
accounting treatment for business of leasing of forklift trucks
as a key audit matter.

Audit Response
Our main audit procedures for this key audit matter include:

(1)  Testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of the key internal controls relevant to
the audit of accounting treatment for business of
leasing of forklift trucks, including the engagement
of information technology specialists for testing the
internal control of the system of forklift trucks leasing
business;

(2)  Reviewing various leasing business contracts, checking
and evaluating relevant financial accounting handbook,
automatic accounting treatment categorization, and
whether the rules and findings of classification for
leasing contracts is consistent with the requirements
of ASBEs;

(3)  Checking the supportive evidence of inputs from the
system of forklift trucks leasing business on a sampling
basis to evaluate the accuracy and the completeness
of inputs;

(4)  Performing confirmation procedures to third parties to
evaluate the completeness of contracts recorded in the
system of forklift trucks leasing business.

1.  Description 1 I
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(2) - HAESEARRT5 R WA TR

(111). Recognition of revenue from supply chain solutions
services

As stated in Note V.51 to the financial statements, revenue
from supply chain solutions services for the year of 2020
of Weichai Power amounted to RMB20,698,340,762.89,
which was material to the overall financial statements. As
stated in Notes IIl.26 and 35 to the financial statements,
the performance costs actually incurred on a cumulative
basis as a percentage of estimated total costs is used by
Weichai Power to ascertain progress of performance of
supply chain solution services contracts. The management is
required to make reasonable judgments for expected total
cost and corresponding progress of performance obligations
in relation to supply chain solutions services contracts, and
to perform continuous assessment and revisions in the
process of performance of the contracts. These assessments
and revisions involve significant accounting estimates and
judgments of the management. We therefore identified
recognition of revenue from supply chain solutions services as
a key audit matter.

Audit Response
Our main audit procedures for this key audit matter include:

(1)  Testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of the key internal controls relevant to
revenue from supply chain solutions services;

(2)  Obtaining supply chain solutions services contracts on
a sampling basis based on their risk characteristics,
and evaluating whether these business types fulfilled
the requirements of revenue recognition based on
progress of performance obligations within a certain
period in accordance with agreed actual situation
of the contracts; reviewing the appropriateness of
progress of performance obligations on a sampling
basis in accordance with cost budget information,
report of cost actually incurred and calculation tables
of progress of performance obligations;
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Deloitte Shi Bao (Shen) Zi (21) No. P02021

(3) Selecting projects to interview those who were
responsible for relevant businesses on a sampling
basis, to understand the performance obligations
and progress of projects, the adjustments between
the initial estimation and budgeted cost and reasons
of adjustment, and whether there existed any other
events which is out of expectation and checking
further supportive evidence when necessary;

(4) Selecting projects as to its reasonableness and
accuracy of budgeted cost to perform retrospective
reviewing procedure;

(5) Selecting projects to check the progress of
performance obligations of projects on site when
necessary.

IV. OTHER INFORMATION

The Management of Weichai Power is responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the 2020 annual report of Weichai Power, other than the financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility
is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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V. RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE MANAGEMENT

VI,
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AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Management of Weichai Power is responsible for the preparation and
fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with ASBEs,
and for designing, implementing and maintaining such internal control
as the Management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Management is responsible
for assessing Weichai Power’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting, unless the Management either
intends to liquidate Weichai Power or to cease operations or has no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing Weichai
Power's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with CSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.

WEICHATI POWER Co., LTD. M4 NBRMNBERLAD
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AubpiToRrRS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

Deloitte Shi Bao (Shen) Zi (21) No. P02021

As part of an audit in accordance with CSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

(1) Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

(2)  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of internal control.

(3)  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the Management.

(4)  Conclude on the appropriateness of the Management’s use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on Weichai
Power’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause Weichai Power to cease to continue as a
going concern.
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AubpiToRS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

Deloitte Shi Bao (Shen) Zi (21) No. P02021

(5) Evaluate the overall presentation, including the disclosures,
structure and content of the financial statements, and whether
the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and

events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

(6)  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within Weichai
Power to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control

that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,

and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the benefits of

public interest for such communication.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants LLP
Shanghai, PRC

Chinese Certified Public Accountant:
Wang Lixin (engagement partner)

Chinese Certified Public Accountant:
Sui Chuanxu

30 March 2021
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2020 12A31H

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

31 December 2020

RMB
ARBT
Note 31 December 2020 31 December 2019
Item EHE (i3 2020 12A431H 20199 12A31H
Current assets RBEE
Cash and cash equivalents BB VA1 62,216,111,509.25 48,817,622,206.26
Financial assets held for trading RIMEMEE VA2 5,852,397,849.29 4,451,059,463.07
Notes receivable [EWE 1% VA3 19,296,491,612.98 15,920,141,988.31
Accounts receivable FEUER X V4 15,421,878,611.33 14,285,262,297.09
Receivable financing fEW B R E VIS5 9,483,678,101.82 10,537,909,983.71
Prepayments TR RIE V6 1,095,016,121.17 996,710,182.20
Other receivables H At e VA7 1,409,858,869.61 681,601,186.05
Inventories e VES 31,226,156,809.77 24,717,700,810.03
Contract assets EREE V9 1,385,150,902.30 1,174,036,594.50
Assets held for sale BEHFELE 24,237,289.50 24,237,289.50
Non-current assets due within one year —ERNF B EREEE VE10 3,179,721,675.00 2,658,043,734.50
Other current assets Hi e & E VA 1,924,109,398.31 1,920,759,332.58
Total current assets REEREAE 152,514,808,750.33 126,185,085,067.80
Non-current assets ERBEE
Long-term receivables REAEYGR VH12 9,622,504,650.00 8,447,617,640.00
Long-term equity investments RERERE V13 4,944,359,514.39 4,711,144,533.01
Investment in other equity instruments HibEnTRARE VR 14 2,411,112,072.96 2,103,129,675.18
Other non-current financial assets HdEReemEE VE15 243,013,050.00 636,502,629.08
Investment property REMEE VA6 682,163,758.85 537,298,133.13
Fixed assets ETEE VE17 31,722,827,681.55 26,318,667,724.94
Construction in progress FEIR VE18 5,046,193,396.84 5,408,666,017.06
Right-of-use assets FREEE V19 7,714,233,013.45 9,109,528,185.30
Intangible assets | EE V20 23,825,708,656.91 23,435,580,132.59
Development expenditure S VH21 287,116,831.24 139,500,519.38
Goodwill B VH22 24,665,842,392.79 23,822,520,317.99
Long-term prepaid expenses REGHER V23 252,157,738.41 254,367,462.55
Deferred tax assets EEMBEHEAE V24 6,251,213,473.80 5,034,346,014.96
Other non-current assets HiIERBEE VH25 566,913,969.77 687,720,493.20
Total non-current assets FRBBEA:T 118,235,360,200.96 110,646,589,478.37
Total assets EEBE 270,750,168,951.29  236,831,674,546.17
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31 December 2020

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED)

SHEERBR(E)

2020F12A31H

Note 31 December 2020 31 December 2019
Item HH BisE 2020512 A31H 2019512 A31H
Current liabilities mEAE
Short-term loans KHIER VA26 5,731,086,536.96 2,014,692,401.39
Financial liabilities held for trading RoUEEREE V27 57,504,235.74 131,920,754.38
Notes payable ENZRE VA28 22,970,493,736.20 22,446,404,536.58
Accounts payable FEFER VF29 45,449,924,996.39 36,748,503,682.85
Contract liabilities aREE VT30 15,547,391,077.33 10,654,453,360.19
Payroll payable P 17 B T35 V31 5,490,721,420.68 5,588,996,060.47
Taxes payable [ERXHHE VE32 2,180,739,782.32 2,064,584,764.70
Other payables Hb R VE33 8,408,305,895.50 6,511,002,642.85
Non-current liabilities due within one year —FREENERDEE V34 11,274,647,277.08 12,998,360,887.57
Other current liabilities HitREBE V35 6,601,767,024.57 6,717,853,612.80
Total current liabilities TEaEAE 123,712,581,982.77  105,876,772,703.78
Non-current liabilities EEN=Li
Long-term borrowings REIER VF36 12,026,638,367.24 11,373,657,990.58
Bonds payable [EfESH V37 8,702,767,425.04 10,295,279,995.18
Lease liabilities HEAR VA38 7,235,898,107.78 8,943,580,095.61
Long-term payables RHEERR V39 7,004,697,931.12 4,658,205,937.06
Long-term payroll payable = HAPE B T 5 M V40 14,200,680,302.61 11,667,005,084.73
Accruals and provisions B EE VA4 509,080,971.37 315,667,957.84
Deferred income EE W V42 4,996,880,280.64 4,608,566,796.01
Deferred tax liabilities EEFEHARE V24 5,049,832,969.04 5,406,314,269.55
Other non-current liabilities Hi3ERBEa&E V43 6,877,782,237.66 3,911,898,285.35
Total non-current liabilities EnEaEss 66,604,258,592.50 61,180,176,411.91
Total liabilities BE@E 190,316,840,575.27  167,056,949,115.69
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED)

31 December 2020

SHEERBXR(E)

2020 12A31H

Note 31 December 2020 31 December 2019

Item EH Bt 20204512 831H 201912 831H
Shareholders’ equity IR

Share capital AR Vha4 7,933,873,895.00 7,933,873,895.00

Capital reserve BEAXRRNE V45 180,552,538.58 118,896,726.65

Other comprehensive income HifRa W V46 (2,250,826,767.79) (1,278,030,636.58)

Special reserve HIEGE VHA47 223,430,167.81 193,099,471.45

Surplus reserve BN VA48 1,630,243,076.46 973,728,220.76

Retained earnings ROEHE VA49 43,485,047,330.89 37,282,373,385.43
Total equity attributable to the SEREARRERERAT

shareholders of the parent 51,202,320,240.95 45,223,941,062.71
Minority interests PR FEER VAS50 29,231,008,135.07 24,550,784,367.77
Total shareholders’ equity R Em A ET 80,433,328,376.02 69,774,725,430.48

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

& BRI

270,750,168,951.29

236,831,674,546.17

The notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 113 to 413 have been signed by:

B R A A T R RO AR R

FNBEEFABENTHEREATIBEAEE

Legal Representative Principal in charge of accounting Head of accounting department

EERERA TEGHIIEEEA FEHEEAA
Tan Xuguang Kwong Kwan Tong Li Xia
BB BEE Z8B
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2020F12A31HIFFE

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 December 2020

RMB
AR
Incurred during Incurred in
Note the year previous year
Item EH BisE RERELE FFEEES
I. Revenue — BEWA VH51 197,491,092,926.42 174,360,892,512.86
Less: Cost of sales L MR VAS51 159,352,649,107.93  136,353,235,434.32
Taxes and surcharges & R A VE52 830,671,205.10 663,961,091.30
Distribution and selling expenses HEBH V53 10,862,457,506.71 11,254,073,577.96
General and administrative expenses ERER VA54 7,709,931,813.46 6,900,199,388.90
Research & development expenses MmEER VS5 6,013,083,402.83 5,227,973,550.12
Finance expenses MBEER V56 279,015,865.47 220,333,776.74
Incl- Interest expenses B : FIEEH V56 1,139,022,760.28 1,233,361,936.01
Interest income FIEWA VF56 1,277,863,594.80 1,067,326,294.25
Add: Other income o Eflhes V57 327,215,155.30 318,138,370.04
Investment income HE M= VA58 1,294,912,961.65 694,686,304.10
Incl: investment income from associates Heb - HEEPEM
and joint ventures BEDEL
1A W 253,063,274.50 244,231,790.47
Profit or loss on change of fair value RNABEZHIES VH59 (409,598,297.43) 71,259,465.16
Impairment loss of credit EARMEERX V60 (563,605,119.01) (266,894,905.54)
Impairment loss of assets EEREERX V61 (663,235,953.02) (469,192,133.29)
Gain on disposal of assets EERE W 31,753,643.63 66,779,887.80
Il.  Operating profit —RERE 12,460,726,416.04 14,155,892,681.79
Add: Non-operating income o EEIMEA V62 362,882,514.57 289,768,143.18
Less: Non-operating expenses o EEINEH V63 141,930,059.29 94,010,683.92
lll. Total profit = FEeEzE 12,681,678,871.32 14,351,650,141.05
Less: Income tax expenses W TS E R VH64 1,406,839,084.36 2,444,643,048.56
IV. Net profit o FFE 11,274,839,786.96 11,907,007,092.49
(I)  Breakdown by continuity of operations (—)REEEHBEEDSE
1. Net profit from continuing operations 1. BB & A 11,274,839,786.96 11,907,007,092.49
() Breakdown by attributable interests (Z)IRFTBRERENEE
1. Net profit attributable to shareholders of 1. BEREARRRE
the parent B SR 9,207,129,173.77 9,104,955,354.35

2. Minority interests 2. VER R B 2,067,710,613.19 2,802,051,738.14
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

SHREER(E)
2020F12A31HIFFE

Incurred during Incurred in
Note the year previous year
ltem 1R BisE RERER FFEEERE
V. Net other comprehensive income after tax F o HiR A s iig 34 (1,995,162,932.35) 88,221,996.27
Net other comprehensive income attributable SENE AT EMD
to shareholders of the parent after tax REWETEFE V46 (972,796,131.21) 305,975,740.86
()  Those other comprehensive income not to (=) TEEEDEHEERD
be reclassified into profit or loss Ebira e
1. Changes arising from re-measuring of 1B ERTEER
defined benefit plan sHEIE B (435,444,292.90) (594,361,674.17)
2. Other comprehensive income not to be 2. N EeEE
reclassified into profit or loss using the A E MRS U
equity method 11,854,432.02 (132,262.02)
3. Change in fair value of investment in JHMERTARE
other equity instruments NREEE 116,444,579.15 619,944,039.01
() Those other comprehensive income to be (D)BEDEERZN
reclassified into profit or loss Hib#R e Wam
1. Other comprehensive income to be 1 #EmE N EEn
reclassified into profit or loss using the B R féRa e
equity method 2,243,452.59 (996,322.81)
2. Cashflow hedging reserve 2 HEREENRE 43,953,036.86 51,461,808.71
3. Exchange differences on foreign 3NEMBHRERNE
currency translation =28 (711,847,338.93) 230,060,152.14
Net other comprehensive income BERVEREMHHE
attributable to minority fosr & W&
interests after tax HEE (1,022,366,801.14) (217,753,744.59)
VI. Total comprehensive income N A WEEE 9,279,676,854.61 11,995,229,088.76
Total comprehensive income attributable to the SEREATREL
shareholders of the parent Rl Gy C 8,234,333,042.56 9,410,931,095.21
Total comprehensive income attributable to FBRDERERN
minority interests bR e Wi A 1,045,343,812.05 2,584,297,993.55
VII. Earnings per share + Bk VF65
() Basic earnings per share () EREGREE 1.167T 1.157T
() Diluted earnings per share (D) gk 1.167T 1.157C
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2020

2020F12A31HIFFE

SHFRREDBI}E

RMB
ARHT
Incurred during the year
FERER
Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent
SRRSNARRER
Other
Share Capital Less:  comprehensive Special Surplus Retained Minority
Note capital reserve  Treasury shares income reserve reserve eannings Subtotal interests Total equity
Item %R it e LN | L AfgakE Eud BHOR RARAR it HBRREE BELCH
1. Atend of previous year - LEFREE 793387389500 118,896,726.65 - (1278030636.58)  193,00947145 97372822076  37,282,373385.43 45,223,941,062.71 24,550,784,367.77  69,774,725,430.48
Il Movements in current year
() Total comprehensive income - - - (972,79,13121) - - 9071917377 823433304256 1,045343812.05  9,279,676,854.61
(1) Injection and reduction
1. Capital injection from
shareholders i3 - 972614200 - - - - - 1972614207 379413285388 3,823,858,995.95
2. Acquisition of subsidiaries Wt - - - - - - - - GM179,03682  641,179,036.82
3. Amount of share-based 3. BHZHA
payment taken to owners’ FRiEanLE
equity Xt - 3197838084 - - - - - 397838984 3172205016 63,700440.00
4. Acquiston of minority 4 BEFLRE
interests n subsidaries RxiE - (357397099 - - - - (7885243864  (8242640063)  (26378521.5)  (108,804,936.88)
5. Repurchase and transfer of 5. FAREERE
it shares by subsidiaries FERH - 1167123.11 - - - - - 1,167,13.11 1413,294.99 2,580,418.10
6. Others - 2,358,127.90 - - - - - 2,358,127.90 1,357,165.83 371529373
(1) Profit appropriation
1. Appropriation to surplus
resenve VE48 - - - - - 65651485570 (656,514,855.70) - - -
2. Distrbution to shareholders 2. HRRAR VY - - - - - - (2,269,087,933.97) (2.269,087,933.97)  (625,526,668.77) (2,894,614,602.74)
3. Distibution to holders of 3. BFRARS
other equty instruments of BRIERAZ
subsidaries HAR - - - - - - - - (198514,34434)  (198,514,34434)
(V) Spedial eserve (m) EERE
1. Appropriation during the year 1. RERR VR47 - - - - 102,744,621.55 - - 102,744,621.55 542477463 156,992,367.78
2. Used during the year 2. KERR ity - - - - (12413.925.19) - - (12413925.19)  (3875265230)  (111,166,577.49)
II. Atend of year = FEFREE 193387389500 180,552,538.58 - (2250826,767.79) 22343016781  1,630,243,076.46 43485,047,33089  51,202,320,240.95 29,231,008,135.07 80,433,328,376.02
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED) ABHBRERSEFHR(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2020 2020F 12 H31HILFE

RMB
AR%T
Incurred in previous year
EREE
Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent
SRNELNTRRER
Other
Share Capita Less: comprehensive Special Surplus Retained Minority
Note capital resene  Treasury shares income Tesenve resere eamings Subtotal interess Total equity
Item B i3 R BARDE W ERR Efttraka SRR BHLE FARHE it VERRES RiEasit
I, Atbeginning of year - FEENEE 799713855600 11369943276 49991121721 (158400637744) 15505685410 67428339061 32324975,192.29 39,181,335831.11  22,783,820.73831  61,965,156,569.42
Il Movements in current year o REERERLE
) Total comprehensiv income (ke - - - 30597574086 - - 910495535435 94109310521 2,584,297,99355 119952298876
(1) njction and reduction (2) BRBATES &R
1. Capitalinjecton from 1. BRRASE
shareholders - - - - - - - - 333939 W399
2. Acquisition of subsidiaries 2. kEFAa - - - - - - - - 27206658911 272,266589.11
3, Amount of share-based 3. BHXMHA
payment taken to owners' FRiEgnLE
equity Xt— - 317141636 - - - - - 3,171,416.36 3876,175.56 7,047,591.9
4, Disposal of subsiiaries 4 BETLAROH
e - (380,970.35) - - - - - (380,970.35) 11163450 (269,335.85)
5. Repurchase and transfer of 5. FAABER
it shares by subsiciaries - 240684788 - - - - - 2,406,847.88 2941,702.97 5,348,508
6. Cancellation of treasury .
shares repurchased Hh (63,364,661.00) - (499,911,217.21) - - (436,546,5%.21) - - - -
(1) Profit appropriation (=) HEAR
1. Approprition to surpus 1. REBRAE
Teserve - - - - - 73599138636 (735991,386.36) - - -
2. Distibution o shareholders 1 HRENAR e - - - - - (3,411,565,774.85)  (3,411,565,774.85)  (1,129,490,549.00)  (4,541,056,32385)
3. Distbution to holders of 3. BFLAHR
other equity nstruments of BATAREE
subsidiaries iy - - - - - - - - (01,75083151)  (201,750,631.51)
V) Specal resenve () SBkE
1. Appropriaton during the 1. FERR
year - - - - 8993103701 - - 8993103701 4731149809 13724253510
2. Used during the year 1 KERR - - - - (51,888 419.66) - - (51,88841966) (34934716200 (86,823,135.86)
II. Atend of year = FEERHE 793387389500 118896,726.65 - (127803083658 19309947145 97372822076 37282,37338543 4520394106271 24550.784,367.77  69,774,72543048
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 December 2020

SFREREX

2020F 1231 HIFFZ

RMB
ARBT
Incurred during Incurred in
Note the year previous year
Item 1A BT REFEHE FEEESE
. CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES — + R&EBHELNRELTE
Cash received from sales of goods or HEREM - RESHIKE
rendering of services MEE 169,432,075,922.94 159,679,904,126.12
Refunds of taxes WEI R ERE 492,571,304.70 555,856,616.80
Other cash received relating to operating B H Ath AT R B
activities MRS Vh67 2,274,326,475.35 1,857,751,874.97
Subtotal of cash inflows from operating EEFINE R AN
activities 172,198,973,702.99 162,093,512,617.89
Cash paid for goods and services BEAR BEXBHBXN
N 105,452,043,467.93 95,448,046,061.76
Cash paid to and on behalf of employees SHGBRIARART
MRS 27,087,958,448.67 24,853,983,466.96
Cash paid for all types of taxes TRMEERE 7,544,794,939.14 7,328,820,583.76
Other cash paid relating to operating activities SR B RS
BANHE V67 9,186,020,745.44 10,627,969,222.75
Subtotal of cash outflows from operating 4T AKSE B IE S5 /NS
activities 149,270,817,601.18 138,258,819,335.23
Net cash flows from operating activities REREEAR
BeRe 8 VH68 22,928,156,101.81 23,834,693,282.66
Il CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITES =+ ®REZHELNBRLRE
Cash received from sale of investments I E% BRI HE & 24,887,809,161.83 18,497,596,585.00
Cash received from return on investments i st tent el inkkn 403,672,335.76 381,796,817.72
Net cash received from disposal of fixed assets, REBTEE  EFEE
intangible assets and other long-term assets MEMRAEERER
e FE 54,773,576.35 42,558,130.71
Net cash received from disposal of subsidiaries BREFRR REME?
and other business units BAIE RS TR 680,238,306.06 -
Net cash received from acquisition of REFARIREMERE
subsidiaries and other business units /3R & 55 VA68 323,278,199.90 -
Other cash received relating to investing B E B & R B H 7
activities N 131,683,365.32 57,417,402.78
Subtotal of cash inflows from investing WEEHR S RANT
activities 26,481,454,945.22 18,979,368,936.21
Cash paid for acquisition of fixed assets, REETEE  BVAE
intangible assets and other long-term assets MEMRAEELNH
Be 5,765,622,633.58 5,393,918,354.54
Cash paid for acquisition of investments BEY RS 28,513,874,706.38 21,094,588,167.54
Net cash paid for acquisition of subsidiaries BEFARREMEE
and other business units BRXNNREFHE VE68 1,618,828,798.57 875,563,528.97
Other cash paid relating to investing activities S E A B ED
BHENR S - 6,153,392.00
Subtotal of cash outflows from investing REFBSHR ML /NG
activities 35,898,326,138.53 27,370,223,443.05
Net cash flows from investing activities REESEEN
Reng s (9.416,871,193.31) (8,390,854,506.84)
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

éf#lﬁﬁ;ﬁ;%(mg)
2020F12A31HIFFE

Incurred during Incurred in
Note the year previous year
Item 1HE BiE RERER FERAERE
ll.  CASHFLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES =+ £&EHEANHRLHE
Cash received from capital contributions R U B U B 73R & 3,709,156,606.07 194,348,219.39
Incl: Cash received by subsidiaries from capital Heb : FRARKDE
contributions of minority shareholders RELEYE]
HHE 3,709,156,606.07 194,348,219.39
Cash received from borrowings REEFEInES 37,235,845,790.32 33,534,744,764.88
Cash received from bond issue BIEHFANENES 4,403,404,086.00 -
Other cash received relating to financing IR E B )R E)
activities BENRS 218,833,863.07 1,430,726.00
Subtotal of cash inflows from financing EEEEHB RN
activities 45,567,240,345.46 33,730,523,710.27
Cash repayments of borrowings BEEBIMNRE 43,093,891,320.13 34,858,450,737.61
Cash paid for distribution of dividends or DR - FEEk
profits and for interest expenses EBRNEZMHRE 3,731,921,253.37 5,407,836,779.10
Incl: Cash paid to minority shareholders for A - FRAIZTHELE
distribution of dividends or profits by BREBIRF -
subsidiaries FE 745,690,697.26 1,338,505,931.18
Other cash paid relating to financing activities SR EEE RS
BHNR S VH67 1,727,288,061.04 1,031,466,536.03
Subtotal of cash outflows from financing EEFEHRS R NG
activities 48,553,100,634.54 41,297,754,052.74
Net cash flows from financing activities EERYPEEN
Reangsa (2,985,860,289.08) (7,567,230,342.47)
IV.  EFFECT OF CHANGES IN EXCHANGE RATE /g~ T“@J”‘ﬁii&
ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ReSBYHNTE (76,956,853.34) 29,038,216.40
V. NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH I RERRLFENF
EQUIVALENTS EhnEE 10,448,467,766.08 7,905,646,649.75
Add: Cash and cash equivalents at beginning m:FMRENRE
of year LEYERE 42,285,584,925.16 34,379,938,275.41
VI.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATEND OF 75+ FREERREE
YEAR EMHE V68 52,734,052,691.24 42,285,584,925.16
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COMPANY BALANCE SHEET

31 December 2020

IA

déEaEx

2020F12A31H

RMB
ARBT
31 December 2020 31 December 2019
Item HH 2020512 831H 2019412 A31H
Current assets REEE
Cash and cash equivalents ER®ES 32,482,779,665.43 27,276,378,348.59
Financial assets held for trading REGUEMEE 112,904,277.02 -
Notes receivable e XV+A1 22,933,423,164.99 19,031,065,273.37
Accounts receivable FEUARTR XV+F2 741,273,166.54 961,224,481.20
Prepayments EN B 162,769,708.16 252,912,459.06
Other receivables Hh fEIGR XV+h3 575,869,058.22 495,183,938.26
Inventories FE 4,640,893,547.51 3,442,624,138.43
Other current assets Ht e EE 31,193,507.32 320,293,618.85
Total current assets REEESE 61,681,106,095.19 51,779,682,257.76
Non-current assets FERBEE
Long-term equity investments RERERE XV+H4 13,846,095,781.88 15,588,308,928.23
Investment in other equity instruments Hipfgss TARE 289,420,200.00 191,620,200.00
Other non-current financial assets HMIErs e mEE - 48,744,000.00
Investment property BEMFEHE 1,313,231,046.42 1,098,873,377.18
Fixed assets EEEE 3,845,082,810.18 3,006,064,048.78
Construction in progress EEIRE 2,709,380,692.43 2,277,083,525.08
Intangible assets B ARE 765,289,848.81 512,203,369.80
Goodwill S 341,073,643.76 341,073,643.76
Deferred tax assets BEFERERE 1,433,691,827.97 910,637,045.17
Other non-current assets HAndEme & E 3,319,760,362.50 2,484,556,774.12
Total non-current assets EREEESE 27,863,026,213.95 26,459,164,912.12
Total assets BEBE 89,544,132,309.14 78,238,847,169.88
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CoMPANY BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED)

31 December 2020

roEEBEBEXR(E)

2020 12A31H

Note 31 December 2020 31 December 2019
ltem EH BisE 2020%12H318 2019%12A31H
Current liabilities mEAaRE

Financial assets held for trading RHMhEEHEE 1,946,619.00 -
Notes payable ENZER 10,792,728,129.90 13,815,739,112.99
Accounts payable FERTARTR 16,618,894,133.35 12,497,803,183.14
Contract liabilities aRafE 7,534,474,203.01 2,571,680,421.94
Payroll payable JRE <1 B8 T 357 849,289,374.57 985,532,575.51
Taxes payable ERXHE 305,435,720.64 155,032,778.30
Other payables HAh fERTER 2,401,621,771.41 2,147,054,763.30
Other current liabilities HEneaE 1,886,059,206.68 1,674,274,867.54
Total current liabilities neaEas 40,390,449,158.56 33,847,117,702.72
Non-current liabilities EVEIN=K
Long-term payables REERR 3,812,880.19 5,513,797.98
Long term payroll payable REAFERTIL T 5 N 47,448,706.50 24,734,049.15
Deferred income BNz 1,159,091,139.04 906,196,708.93
Deferred tax liabilities EIEFEHIaE 6,653,805.68 -
Total non-current liabilities EREBESS 1,217,006,531.41 936,444,556.06
Total liabilities BEE 41,607,455,689.97 34,783,562,258.78
Shareholders’ equity e T
Share capital B 7,933,873,895.00 7,933,873,895.00
Capital reserve BERRIE 695,679,231.81 695,679,231.81
Other comprehensive income Hibar AW 43,129,170.00 (119,983,030.10)
Special reserve HIERE 117,118,730.74 94,899,845.80
Surplus reserve V- YN 4,263,872,010.04 3,607,357,154.34
Retained earnings KOEF)E 34,883,003,581.58 31,243,457,814.25
Total shareholders’ equity RS AF 47,936,676,619.17 43,455,284,911.10

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity

B MR R AT

89,544,132,309.14

78,238,847,169.88
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2020F 1231 HIFFZ

COMPANY INCOME STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 December 2020

RMB
ARBT
Incurred during Incurred in
Note the year previous year
Item 1HA BsE KERER EEFRERE
I. Revenue — BERA XV+H5 53,492,984,987.14 45,757,042,584.64
Less: Cost of sales A B Xv+H5 40,883,749,295.26 34,079,232,491.87
Taxes and surcharges Bi e KMt 273,487,496.39 234,748,928.63
Distribution and selling expenses HEEMA 1,361,760,231.74 1,375,838,410.81
General and administrative expenses EEER 1,076,465,182.57 1,025,771,136.68
Research & development expenses HEER 2,186,983,481.58 2,142,705,356.67
Finance expenses B &R (358,669,613.61) (261,833,737.83)
Incl: Interest expenses He: FEEBH - 18,735,546.18
Interest income FIEIA 369,367,588.01 283,571,744.85
Add: Other income e Eles 172,467,422.66 158,237,927.72
Investment income/(loss) REWE(BK) Xv+F6 (1,130,077,406.49) 1,264,600,396.91
Incl: Investment income from associates E : HB e
and joint ventures B
KEW 112,997,281.78 109,875,033.76
Profit or loss on change of fair value N BESHER 64,160,277.02 -
Impairment gain of credit ERRENSG 1,404,072.48 34,059,926.00
Impairment loss of assets BERERX (1,961,966.02) (351,958,827.88)
Gain/(loss) on disposal of assets BEREWZ(1B%) 22,071,376.41 (3,447,181.83)
Il Operating profit - BERNE 7,197,272,689.27 8,262,072,238.73
Add: Non-operating income = EEIMEA 54,642,428.18 23,462,632.83
Less: Non-operating expenses B EETE 11,997,432.77 24,087,846.95
ll. Total profit = FlEesE 7,239,917,684.68 8,261,447,024.61
Less: Income tax expenses W TS RER 674,769,127.68 901,533,161.01
IV. Net profit 79 FFE 6,565,148,557.00 7,359,913,863.60
() Breakdown by continuity of operations (—)IREEEEEDE
1. Net profit from continuing operations 1 BB SRS 6,565,148,557.00 7,359,913,863.60
V. Net other comprehensive income after tax F - EERA WG R 163,112,200.10 (72,724,900.10)
() Those other comprehensive income not to ()T ENHERRN
be reclassified into profit or loss Hihra e
1. Change in fair value of investment in 1 At T ARE
other equity instruments NREEEH 163,112,200.10 (72,724,900.10)
VI. Total comprehensive income N iAW B 6,728,260,757.10 7,287,188,963.50
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES INEQUITY ~2~olRFEREI}E

For the year ended 31 December 2020 202012 H31HILFE

RMB
AR%T
Incurred during the year
AERER
Other
less:  comprehensive Retained
Note Share capital ~ Capital reserve  Treasury shares income  Special reserve  Surplus reserve eamings Total equity
Item E ik B& LN | W EER EfsadE BERR BRI RARAE BEg#aT
I Atbeginning of year - KEENRE 7933873895.00  695,679,231.81 - (119983030100 9489984580  3,607357,15434  31.243,457.81425  43,455,284,911.10
I Mowementsincurentyear = FEEFEELE
() Total comprehensive (-)EAkaeE
income - - - 163,112200.10 - - 6,565148557.00  6,728,260,757.10
(1) Injction and reduction (Z)RERAHHVER
1. Acquisiion of 1 RYEHTFAR
subsidiaries by way
of absorption - - - - - - - -
2. Cancellaton of iTHERERR
treasury shares
repurchased - - - - - - - -
(1) Proft appropriation (Z)HEIR
1. Appropriation to 1 RERHDLE
surplus reserve - - - - - 656,514,855.70  (656,514,855.70) -
2. Distrioution to LBRRAAR
shareholders Vi9 - - - - - - (2,269,087,933.97)  (2,269,087,933.97)
(V) Special reserve (M) ZTREE
1. Appropriation during | RERD
the year - - - - 30,462,536.59 - - 30,462,536.59
2. Used during the year VAERR - - - - (8,243,651.65) - - (8,243,651.65)
Il Atend of year = FEEREE 7,933,873,895.00 695,679,231.81 - 43,129170.00 1711873074 4,263,872,010.04  34,883,003581.58  47,936,676,619.17
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQuIiTY (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

2020F 12A31HIEFE

NRARREDZLEER(E)

RMB
ARHT
Incurred in previous year
HERER
Other
Less: comprehensive Retained
Note Share capital Capital reserve Treasury shares income Special reserve Surplus reserve eanings Total equity
ffem i i B& BADE Wi ERR Efirala BV BRNE RARHE REEaaH
| Atbeginning of year - FEFNSE 7,997,238556.00  1,084,612,950.62 49991121721 (47,258,130.00) 7486786457 281111572219 27,897,98048361  39,318,646,229.78
I Mowementsincurentyear = FEEFEELE
() Total comprehensive (-) GAhsEE
income - - - (72,724,900.10) - 735991386360  7,287,188,963.50
(1) Injction and reduction (2) REBATED
1. Acquisiion of 1. A
subsidiaries by way T
of absorption - 47,612,837.40 - - 60,250,045.79 133,120,628.25 240,983 511.44
2. Cancellaton of 2 HEEEE
treasury shares R
repurchased (63364,661.00)  (436,546,556.21)  (499,911,217.21) - - - -
(1) Proft appropriation (=) MEAk
1. Appropriation to 1. REEHNE
SUrplus reserve - - - - 73599138636 (735,991,386.36) -
2. Distrbution to 2 HRENAR
shareholders Gt} - - - - - (34156577485 (3411,565,774.85)
(V) Special reserve () =a5E
1. Appropriation during 1. RERR
the year - - - - 27,744,064.10 - - 27,744,064.10
2. Used during the year 2 KERR - - - - (7.712,082.87) - - (7.712,08287)
Il Atend of year = FEEREE 7,933,873,895.00 695,679,231.81 - (119,983,030.10) 9489984580 360735715434 3124345781425 4345528491110
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COMPANY CASH FLOW STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 December 2020

raREREXR

2020F12A31HIFFE

RMB
ARBT
Incurred during Incurred in
Note the year previous year
Item 1HA BT RERER FEFRAERE
. CASHFLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES — » E&EFHELMHELRE
Cash received from sales of goods or HEED - RIESEH%
rendering of services WEIKIR € 56,617,752,007.06 52,067,007,166.52
Refunds of taxes WEMHBRE 14,413,663.22 1,825,190.82
Other cash received relating to operating U ) L Ath B 4 2 VR &)
activities BRENR S 1,058,860,376.28 942,149,815.48
Subtotal of cash inflows from operating FALSEBNIE S A/ NEF
activities 57,691,026,046.56 53,010,982,172.82
Cash paid for goods and services BEMm  BEXEK
XNRES 39,709,237,375.27 33,796,626,079.22
Cash paid to and on behalf of employees TG T AR ABT
YIRS 2,312,250,657.52 1,962,354,573.92
Cash paid for all types of taxes YRR ERE 2,711,941,015.03 3,000,858,592.88
Other cash paid relating to operating activities A E At BT R ED
BRNE S 1,739,874,165.22 1,363,417,506.19
Subtotal of cash outflows from operating RASEBNIR SR /e
activities 46,473,303,213.04 40,123,256,752.21
Net cash flows from operating activities RETEBE AN
Rengss XV+A7 11,217,722,833.52 12,887,725,420.61
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CoMmPANY CASH FLOW STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

Item

HH

RBARERER(EE)
2020F 1231 HIFFZ

Note

.
=
B

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Cash received from sale of investments

Cash received from return on investments

Net cash received from disposal of fixed assets,
intangible assets and other long-term assets

Other cash received relating to investing
activities

RERDELNHERE

BEEERE MRS

BERBNEWEHE S

REBEEE
EVEEM
HioRHEE
WEl eI &%

WeB KA B AR E
BENRE

Incurred during
the year

RERLER

790,982,112.59
750,077,689.20

4,430,900.00

Incurred in
previous year
FEEAR

876,585.00
1,145,594,951.25

8,655,114.00

241,783,376.18

Subtotal of cash inflows from investing
activities

REBBRSIMA/NG

1,545,490,701.79

1,396,910,026.43

Cash paid for acquisition of fixed assets, BRETEE
intangible assets and other long-term assets B EEMEM
RPEEINNRS 2,203,694,169.70 2,056,360,496.82
Cash paid for acquisition of investments RESZNNES 1,521,116,756.00 1,304,838,470.66
Other cash paid relating to investing S EA T EEE)
activities BANH e 835,203,588.38 218,372,000.00
Subtotal of cash outflows from investing
activities BRSNS/ Nt 4,560,014,514.08 3,579,570,967.48
Net cash flows from investing activities BEEHEER
Reness (3.014,523,812.29) (2,182,660,941.05)
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CoMPANY CASH FLOW STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

Item

HH

RBARMERER(1E)
2020F12A31HIFFE

Incurred during
Note the year
Bt FEBRED

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Cash paid for distribution of dividends or

ERRPEANHERE
AERA - FIBER

Incurred in
previous year

LEHREE

profits and for interest expenses FEZAmES 2,252,358,713.49 3,374,917,166.39
Subtotal of cash outflows from financing FEESHRSMH G
activities 2,252,358,713.49 3,374,917,166.39
Net cash flows from financing activities EEEHEEN
RenmeEFHE (2,252,358,713.49) (3,374,917,166.39)
IV. EFFECT OF CHANGES IN EXCHANGE RATE 10« BEXEHHHIRER
ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS REeSEMNTE 62,430.95 (13,811.63)
V. NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH - RERRESEBYWFEM
EQUIVALENTS 5,950,902,738.69 7,330,133,501.54
Add: Cash and cash equivalents at beginning m:EVRE R
of year ReEEBYHRE 26,404,688,200.32 19,074,554,698.78
VI, CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATEND OF 75+ &FkRE 4 RIS ZEY
YEAR BAZE 32,355,590,939.01 26,404,688,200.32
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020

I.

130

CORPORATE BACKGROUND

Weichai Power Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) is a joint stock company
limited by shares incorporated in Weifang, Shandong on 23 December
2002.

The RMB ordinary A shares and overseas listed foreign H shares issued by
the Company were listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, respectively. The registered address of
the Company’s headquarters is 197, Section A, Fu Shou East Street, High
Technology Industrial Development Zone, Weifang, Shandong Province.
The Company operates in the transportation equipment manufacturing
industry. The major scope of operations of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) covers: design, development, production, sale,
repair, import and export of engines and auxiliary products, automobile,
automobile axle and components, gear boxes and components and other
automobile components, hydraulic pumps, hydraulic motors, hydraulic
valves, gears and gear transmission devices, ancillary casting and casting
products of hydraulic components, internal combustion engines, new
energy powertrain systems and ancillary products; technical consultation
and technical services; leasing of self-owned houses; sale of steel;
business management service; forklift trucks production, warehousing
technology and supply chain solution services. For the aforesaid scope
of operation, operating permit(s) should be held for those operations
requiring administrative permission.

Weichai Group Holdings Limited and Shandong Heavy Industry Group
Co., Ltd., established in the PRC, are the parent company and ultimate
holding company of the Group respectively.

These company and consolidated financial statements of the Company
were approved by the board of directors of the Company on 30 March
2021.

The consolidation scope of consolidated financial statements is
determined on the basis of control. Please refer to Note VI for changes
this period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31 December 2020

II.SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Preparation basis

The Group has adopted the Accounting Standards for Business
Enterprises and relevant provisions promulgated by the MOF. In addition,
the Group also disclosed relevant financial information in accordance
with Compilation Rules No. 15 for Information Disclosure by Companies
Offering Securities to the Public — General Requirements for Financial
Reporting (2014 Revision), the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.

Continuing operations

The Group carried out assessment on the going concern for the 12
months’ period commencing from 31 December 2020, and did not
recognize any matters and situation leading to material doubt on the
continuity of operation. Therefore, these financial statements have been
prepared based on the going-concern assumption.

Basis of book-keeping and principle of measurement

The Group adopts the accrual basis as the basis of book-keeping in
accounting. Other than certain financial instruments, these financial
statements have been prepared at historical costs. Disposal group held-
for-sale is carried at the lower of carrying amount or the net value of
fair value less selling expenses. If the assets are impaired, corresponding
provisions for impairment shall be made according to relevant provisions.

Under historical cost method, the amount of assets was measured at the
fair value of cash or cash equivalents or consideration paid at the time
of purchase. Liabilities were measured at the amount of money or assets
due to the current obligations actually received, or a present obligation
of the contract amount, or the measurement of cash or cash equivalents
in accordance with daily activities to repay the liabilities of the amount
expected to be paid.

B ISR RMEE(EE)
2020F12A31HIFFE

~ . B HRNERER

IRELER
REERTH EREPBEMHO R ES 2R XA
BRE o AN AEEEIERCAREITE
FMAEME B BRBRANE 55 — BBk
LH—RIRT (2014F(E5]))  CBEBRRUE
PIDFKE BB AR S BRABFES LR
BDEEAEIEES -

o 42 g7
=S

ANEBEE E2020512 A31 BE12{E AN
BISEBE NET TRHME - ABBHBELE
BENELASAERMNBEMGER - At - K
SRR A EFECEBBAER HRR -

FCIRER M ERE

AEBEGHZEUERH LS RO IRER -
BRRLLD R TR » AR SRR AE LA
ERFTEER - REGENREMD - RRER
EEEEAABERELEEREROFERN
EFI3R - EEMRIERE - AIRRAERER
FERHIRARE AR E L -

EESERAFET - BERBEBER XK
ResEReSBYNeRAE T LS
BNRAABENE - BERBREAERRGE
BMBERKIINRAREEENTE - RE
AERBEBNARDTE  HERRATERE
P AEERERPFEXNNRERER
T EEBEYVNRETE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

1Ly

132

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of book-keeping and principle of measurement
(Continued)

The fair value refers to the amount, at which both willing parties
engaged to an orderly transaction who are familiar with the condition sell
their assets or transfer their liabilities. Whether the fair value is observable
or measured by valuation techniques, the measurement and disclosure of
the fair value in these financial statements were all based on it.

For financial assets with transaction prices as the fair value upon initial
recognition and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs are to be
used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique
is calibrated so that the results of the valuation technique equals to the
transaction price.

Fair value measurements are categorized into three levels based on the
degree to which the inputs of the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its
entirety, which are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date.

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within
Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
or indirectly.

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31 December 2020

ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Accounting policies and accounting estimates are formulated based on
the actual characteristics of production and operation. These are reflected
in the identification of leases, provision for credit losses in respect of
receivables, classification of fixed assets and depreciation estimation,
classification of intangible assets and long-term pre-paid expenses and
estimation of amortization.

Statement of compliance with Accounting Standards
for Business Enterprises

The financial statements present, fairly and fully, the company and
consolidated financial position as at 31 December 2020 and the
company and consolidated results of operations and the cash flows
for year 2020 of the Company in accordance with Accounting
Standards for Business Enterprises.

Accounting year
The accounting year of the Group is from 1 January to 31
December of each calendar year.

Business cycle

Business cycle refers to the period from the purchase of assets used
for processing to the realization of cash and cash equivalents. The
business cycle of the Company is twelve months.

Functional currency

Renminbi (RMB) was the currency used in the major economic
environment in which the Company and its domestic subsidiaries
operate the business. The Company and its domestic subsidiaries
used RMB as their functional currencies. The Company’s overseas
subsidiaries may determine their own functional currencies based
on the currency used in the major economic environment in
which they operate the business. In preparation of these financial
statements, the Company adopted RMB as the functional currency.
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5.

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

The accounting treatment of business combinations
involving enterprises under common control and
business combinations involving enterprises not
under common control

Business combinations include business combinations involving
enterprises under common control and business combinations
involving enterprises not under common control.

Business combinations involving enterprises under
common control

A business combination involving enterprises under common
control is a business combination in which all of the combining
enterprises are ultimately controlled by the same party or parties
both before and after the combination, and that control is not
transitory.

Assets and liabilities that are obtained in a business combination
shall be measured at the carrying amounts on the financial
statements of the acquiree as at the combination date. The
difference between the carrying amount of the net assets obtained
by the acquirer and the carrying amount of the consideration
paid for the combination (or the aggregate face value of shares
issued as consideration) shall be adjusted to share premium under
capital reserve. If the capital reserve is not sufficient to absorb the
difference, any excess shall be adjusted against retained earnings.

Costs that are directly attributable to the combination are charged
to profit or loss when incurred.

Business combinations involving enterprises not
under common control and goodwill

A business combination involving enterprises not under common
control is a business combination in which all of the combining
enterprises are not ultimately controlled by the same party or
parties before and after the combination.

Combination cost refers to the fair value of assets paid, liabilities
incurred or assumed and equity instruments issued by the acquirer
for acquiring control of the acquiree. For business combinations of
enterprises not under common control achieved in stages through
multiple transactions, the combination cost shall be the sum of the
consideration paid on the date of acquisition and the fair value, as
at the date of acquisition, of the equity interests in the acquiree
held prior to the date of acquisition.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

5.

The accounting treatment of business combinations
involving enterprises under common control and
business combinations involving enterprises not
under common control (Continued)

Business combinations involving enterprises not
under common control and goodwill (Continued)
The fees paid to intermediaries including audit, legal services,
appraisal and so forth and other related administrative expenses
incurred by the acquirer for the business combination are charged
to profit or loss for the current period when incurred.

The identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of
acquiree qualifying for the conditions of recognition acquired
by the acquirer in the business combination are measured at fair
value on the date of acquisition. When the business combination
contract provides that, upon the occurrence of multiple future
contingencies, the acquirer shall require the return of consideration
paid for the business combination, such contingent consideration
as set out in the contract shall be recognised as an asset by the
Group as a part of the aggregate consideration transferred in the
business combination, and be included in the cost of combination
at the fair value at the date of acquisition. Within twelve months
after the acquisition, if the contingent consideration needs to be
adjusted as new or further evidences are obtained in respect of
circumstances existed as of the date of acquisition, the amount
previously included in the goodwill shall be adjusted. A change
in or adjustment to the contingent consideration under other
circumstances shall be measured in accordance with Accounting
Standards for Business Enterprises No. 22 — Recognition and
Measurement of Financial Instruments and Accounting Standards
for Business Enterprises No. 13 — Contingencies. Any change or
adjustment is included in profit or loss for the current period.
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5.

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

The accounting treatment of business combinations
involving enterprises under common control and
business combinations involving enterprises not
under common control (Continued)

Business combinations involving enterprises not
under common control and goodwill (Continued)
Where the combination cost is larger than the portion of fair value
of net identifiable assets of acquiree acquired in the business
combination, the difference is recognized as goodwill as an asset,
and initially measured at cost. For those with combination cost
lower than the portion of fair value of net identifiable assets of
acquiree acquired in the business combination, re-verification
is first carried out on the measurement of the fair value of all
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities as well as the
combination cost. For those with combination cost lower than the
portion of fair value of net identifiable assets of acquiree acquired
in the business combination after re-verification, they are charged
to profit or loss for the current period.

If either the fair values of identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities acquired in a combination or the cost of
business combination can be determined only provisionally by the
end of the period in which the business combination was effected,
the acquirer recognizes and measures the combination using those
provisional values. Any adjustments to those provisional values
within 12 months after the acquisition date are treated as if they
had been recognized and measured on the acquisition date.

Goodwill arising from the business combination shall be recognized
separately in the consolidated financial statements and measured
at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

Basis for preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidation scope of consolidated financial statements is
determined on the basis of control. Control refers to the power of
an investor over an investee, and exposure, or rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee, and the ability to
use its power over the investee to affect the amount of its returns.
Once the relevant facts and situation which alters the elements
that define control change, the Group shall perform re-evaluation.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

6.

Basis for preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary.

For a subsidiary acquired through a business combination not
involving enterprises under common control, the operating results
and cash flows from the date of acquisition (the date when the
control is obtained) are included in the consolidated income
statement and consolidated cash flow statement, as appropriate.

No matter when the business combination occurs in the reporting
period, subsidiaries acquired through a business combination
involving enterprises under common control or the party being
absorbed under merger by absorption are included in the Group’s
scope of consolidation as if they had been included in the scope
of consolidation from the date when they first came under the
common control of the ultimate controlling party. Their operating
results and cash flows from the beginning of the earliest reporting
period or from the date when they first came under the common
control of the ultimate controlling party are included in the
consolidated income statement and consolidated cash flow
statement, as appropriate.

The significant accounting policies and accounting periods
adopted by the subsidiaries are determined based on the uniform
accounting policies and accounting periods set out by the
Company.

The effect of all intra-group transactions between the Company
and its subsidiaries and among subsidiaries on the consolidated
financial statements is eliminated on consolidation.

The portion of subsidiaries’ equity that is not attributable to the
Company is treated as minority interests and presented as “minority
interests” in the consolidated balance sheet within shareholders’
equity. The portion of net profits or losses of subsidiaries
attributable to minority interests is presented as “minority
interests” in the consolidated income statement below the “net
profit” line item.
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6.

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

Basis for preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

Where the amount of losses of a subsidiary attributable to the
minority shareholders exceeds their share of the opening balance
of owner’s equity of the subsidiary, the excess shall be allocated
against minority interests.

Acquisition of minority interests or disposal of interest in a
subsidiary that does not result in the loss of control over the
subsidiary is accounted for as an equity transaction. The carrying
amounts of the interests attributable to the parent and minority
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiary. The difference between the amount by
which the minority interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is adjusted to capital reserve. If the
capital reserve is not sufficient to absorb the difference, the excess is
adjusted against retained earnings.

Classification of joint arrangements and accounting

treatments for joint operations

Joint arrangements include joint operations and joint ventures. The
classification is determined by considering the structure, legal form
and contract terms of the arrangement according to the rights
and obligations of the joint parties in the joint arrangements. A
joint operation refers to the arrangement whereby the parties have
rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities relating to the
arrangement. A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties only have rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement.

The Group adopts equity method for computing the investments
in joint ventures. For details, see Note Ill. 14.3.2 Long-term equity
investment calculated by equity method
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

7.

Classification of joint arrangements and accounting

treatments for joint operations (Continued)

The following items should be recognized by the Group in relation
to its sole and shared ownerships in the joint operation: solely held
assets, as well as jointly held assets according to its share; solely
assumed liabilities, as well as jointly assumed liabilities according to
its share; income derived from its entitled share of production of
the joint operation; income derived from the sales of production of
the joint operation according to its share; solely incurred expenses,
as well as expenses incurred by the joint operation according to its
share. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses related to the joint
operation are computed according to requirements applicable to
specific assets, liabilities, income and expenses.

If the Company invests or sells assets, etc. to the joint operation
(except when the assets constitute business), the part pertaining to
other participants in the joint operation among the profit or loss
due to the transaction will be recognized only before the assets are
sold to a third party by the joint operation. Where asset impairment
losses are incurred in respect of assets invested or sold, the Group
recognizes the losses in full amount.

If the Group purchases assets, etc. from the joint operation (except
when the assets constitute business), the part pertaining to other
participants in the joint operation among the profit or loss due to
the transaction will be recognized only before the assets are sold to
a third party. Where asset impairment losses are incurred in respect
of assets purchased, the Group recognizes the losses to the extent
of its share.

Recognition criteria for cash and cash equivalents
Cash comprises the Group’s cash on hand and deposits that can
be readily withdrawn on demand. Cash equivalents are short-term
(usually mature within 3 months from the date of acquisition),
highly liquid investments held by the Group, that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value.
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9.

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

Foreign currency operations and foreign currency
translation
9.1 Foreign currency operations

Foreign currency transactions are recorded, on initial
recognition, in the functional currency, by applying to the
foreign currency amount the spot exchange rate prevailing
on the transaction dates. On the balance sheet date, foreign
currency monetary items are translated into Renminbi using
the spot exchange rate prevailing on the balance sheet date.
Exchange differences arising from the difference between
the spot exchange rate on that day and on the date of
initial recognition or the previous balance sheet date are
taken to profit or loss in the current period except for the
following: (1) The exchange difference in respect of special
borrowings denominated in foreign currencies that meet
the criteria for capitalization are capitalized during the
capitalization period as a cost under the relevant assets; (2)
The exchange difference in respect of hedging instruments
used for hedging for avoiding foreign exchange rate risks
is accounted for using hedge accounting; (3) For monetary
items classified as at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVTOCI"”), exchange difference arising from
the change in other gross carrying amounts other than
amortized costs is taken to other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary foreign currency items measured at historical
cost shall still be measured at the amount in the functional
currency translated at the spot exchange rate prevailing on
the transaction date. Non-monetary foreign currency items
measured at fair value are translated at the spot exchange
rate prevailing at the date on which the fair values are
determined. The difference between the amount in the
functional currency after translation and the amount in the
original functional currency is accounted for as fair value
change (inclusive of exchange rate change) and is taken to
profit or loss for the current period or recognized as other
comprehensive income.
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ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

9.

Foreign currency operations and foreign currency

translation (Continued)
9.2 Translation of foreign currency financial statements
To prepare the consolidated financial statement, the
financial statements denominated in foreign currency of
a foreign operation are translated to RMB in compliance
with the following requirements: all assets and liabilities
on the balance sheet are translated at the spot exchange
rate prevailing at the balance sheet date; all equity items
are translated at the spot exchange rates at the dates on
which such items arose; income and expenses and profit
appropriation items in the income statement are translated
at the spot exchange rate at the date of transaction; all

exchange differences of assets, liabilities and shareholders’
equity resulting from the translation are recognized as other
comprehensive income and taken to shareholders’ equity.

Foreign currency cash flows and the cash flows of foreign
subsidiaries are translated using the spot exchange rate
as of the date on which the cash flows occur. The effect
of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents is
presented separately as an adjustment item under “effect of
changes in exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents” in
the cash flow statement.

The opening balances of the year and prior year’s figures
are presented according to the translated amounts of the
financial statements of the prior year.

When control over the Group’s foreign operation is lost
due to the disposal of ownership interests of foreign
operation or partial disposal of equity investment or
other reasons, exchange differences of foreign currency
statements attributable to the shareholders of the parent
company related to such foreign operation and presented
under shareholder’s equity item in the balance sheet are all
transferred to profit or loss for the current period.
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9.

10.

WEICHAI PoweRr Co.,

Foreign currency operations and foreign currency

translation (Continued)

9.2 Translation of foreign currency financial
statements (Continued)
In partial disposal of the equity investment or other reasons
that lead to the reduction of the proportion of interests
in foreign operation but there is no loss of control over
such foreign operations, the difference of foreign currency
translation related to the part of foreign operation disposal
will be attributed to minority interests and will not be taken
to profit or loss for the current period. In partial disposal of
equity interest in an overseas associate or joint venture, the
foreign currency translation difference related to the foreign
operation shall be taken to profit or loss for the current
period according to the proportion of the disposal of the
foreign operation.

Financial instruments

The Group recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability when
it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial
instrument.

Where financial assets are purchased or sold in a regular way, assets
to be received and liabilities to be borne for it are recognized on
the date of transaction, or sold assets are derecognized on the
date of transaction.

The financial assets and financial liabilities were initially recognized
at fair value. For the financial assets and financial liabilities
measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) for the current
period, related transaction expenses are directly taken to the profit
or loss for the current period; for other types of financial assets
and financial liabilities, related transaction expenses are included
in the initial recognized amount. For accounts receivable excluding
significant financing components or regardless of financing
components of contracts less than one year initially recognised
based on Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises No.14-
Revenue (“Standard on Revenue”), they are initially measured at
transaction price defined based on the Standard on Revenue.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

10.

Financial instruments (Continued)

Effective interest method is the method that is used in the
calculation of the amortized cost of a financial asset or a financial
liability and in the allocation and recognition of the interest income
or interest expense over the accounting periods.

Effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash flows through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset or
to the amortized cost of a financial liability. When calculating the
effective interest rate, the Group shall estimate the expected cash
flows by considering all the contractual terms of the financial assets
or liabilities (for example, early repayment, extension, call and
similar options) but shall not consider the expected credit losses.

Amortized cost of a financial asset or financial liability is the
amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured
at initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus
the cumulative amortization using the effective interest method
of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity
amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any loss allowance.

10.1 Classification and measurement of financial assets
After initial recognition, the Group shall measure different
types of financial assets at amortized cost, FVTOCI or FVTPL.

If the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding
and the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by collecting contractual cash flows,
the Group shall classify the financial asset into a financial
asset measured at amortized cost. Such financial assets
mainly include: cash and cash equivalents, notes receivable,
accounts receivable and other receivables, etc.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31 December 2020

ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
10. Financial instruments (Continued)

10.1 Classification and measurement of financial

144

assets (Continued)

If the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding
and the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows and sell such
financial assets, the Group shall classify the financial asset
into a financial asset FVTOCI. Notes receivable classified as at
FVTOCI upon acquisition by the Company are presented as
receivable financing.

Financial assets at FVTPL include financial assets classified
as at FVTPL and those designated as at FVTPL which are
presented in held-for-trading financial assets. Those due over
one year and expected to be held for over one year since
the balance sheet date are presented in other non-current
financial assets.

° A financial asset which does not satisfy the criteria
for a financial asset classified as being measured at
amortized cost or a financial asset at FVTOCI shall be
classified as a FVTOCI.

o At initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably
designate a financial asset as measured at FVTPL if
doing so eliminates or significantly reduces accounting
mismatch.

WEICHATI POWER Co., LTD. M4 NBRMNBERLAD
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31 December 2020

ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
10. Financial instruments (Continued)
10.1 Classification and measurement of financial

assets (Continued)
On initial recognition, the Group may, based on a individual
financial asset, irrevocably designate a non-trading
equity instrument investment which is non-contingent
consideration and recognized in business combination not
involving enterprises under common control as financial asset
measured at FVTOCI. Such financial assets are presented as
investment in other equity instruments.

The Group's purpose of holding the financial assets is for
trading if one of the following conditions is satisfied:

o The Group’s purpose of holding the relevant financial
assets is primarily for recent sale.

° The relevant financial assets are, on initial recognition,
a part of the centrally-managed identifiable financial
instrument portfolio, and objective evidence indicates
that short-term profit model exists in the near future.

° The relevant financial assets are derivative instruments.
However, derivatives that meet the definition of
financial guarantee contracts and those designated as
effective hedging instruments are excluded.
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ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
10. Financial instruments (Continued)
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10.1 Classification and measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

10.1.1 Financial assets at amortised cost

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

The financial asset at amortized cost is subsequently
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest
method. Gain or loss arising from derecognition,
impairment or amortization is recognized in profit or
loss.

The Group recognizes interest income on financial
assets measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest method. The Group calculates interest income
based on the gross carrying amount of financial
assets multiplied by the actual interest rate, unless the
financial assets become credit-impaired financial assets
in subsequent reporting period. For those financial
assets, the Group shall apply the credit-adjusted
effective interest rate to the amortized cost of the
financial asset in subsequent reporting period. If the
financial assets no longer has credit impairment during
the follow-up period as a result of an improvement
in its credit risk, and this improvement may be linked
to an event that occurred after the application of
the above regulations, the Group calculates interest
income based on the gross carrying amount of
financial assets multiplied by the actual interest rate.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) AP EIRERMISE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2020 202012 H31HILFE

ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND = - EZ8FHBIRKE S5t hEH(1E)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
10. Financial instruments (Continued)
10.1 Classification and measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

10.1.2 Financial assets classified as at FVTOC!

10. €T HR(E)
10.1 £2AEER 7 IHH 5 (1

012U 1EEFGEAE

Impairment gains or losses on a financial asset
classified as at FVTOCI and the interest income
calculated using the effective interest method and
exchange gains and losses shall be recognized in
profit or loss. Except for them, changes in fair value
of such financial assets shall be recognized in other
comprehensive income. The amount of such financial
asset recognized in profit or loss of each period
is equal to the amount deemed as measured at
amortized cost all the time and recognized in profit
or loss of each period. When the financial asset is
derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognized in other comprehensive income is
transferred from other comprehensive income to profit
or loss.

After designating a non-trading equity instrument
investment as a financial asset at FVTOCI, the changes
in fair value of such financial assets are recognized
in other comprehensive income. When the financial
asset is derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognized in other comprehensive income
are transferred from other comprehensive income
to retained earnings. During the period that the
Group holds these non-trading equity instrument
investments, the Group has established the right of
collecting dividends, whose economic benefit will
probably flow into the Group, and the amount of the
dividends can be reliably measured, then the Group
will recognize dividend income in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31 December 2020

ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
10. Financial instruments (Continued)

10.1 Classification and measurement of financial

assets (Continued)
10.1.3 Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL shall be subsequently
measured at fair value. Gains or losses from change
in fair value and dividends and interest income related
to such financial assets shall be recognized in profit or

loss.

10.2 Impairment of financial instruments and other

items

The Group shall recognise a loss allowance for expected
credit losses on financial assets at amortized cost, financial
assets classified as FVTOCI, a lease receivable, contract assets
and financial guarantee contracts that are not designated as

financial liabilities at FVTPL.

The Group makes a loss allowance against amount of
expected credit losses during the whole life of the receivables
and contract assets arising from transactions adopting
Standard on Revenue and the lease receivables arising from
transactions adopting Accounting Standards for Business

Enterprises No. 21 — Leases.

148 WercHAI Power Co., LTD. LENHBRHBEMRAD
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) AP EIRERMISE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2020 202012 H31HILFE

III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND - BESFHBRRS5HLEH(ZE)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
10. Financial instruments (Continued)

10.2 Impairment of financial instruments and other

10. €T HR(E)
10.2 @ T AR AMIER #E

items (Continued)

For other financial instruments, at the balance sheet date,
the Group assesses changes in credit risk of relevant financial
instruments since initial recognition. If the credit risk of
the above financial instruments has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group measures loss allowance
based on the amount of expected credit losses during the
whole lifetime; if credit risk of the financial instrument
has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group recognises loss allowance based on 12-month ECL
of the financial instrument. Increase in or reversal of credit
loss allowance is included in profit or loss as loss/gain on
impairment. Except financial assets classified as at FVTOCI,
allowance for credit losses decreases the carrying amount of
the financial assets. For financial assets at FVTOCI, the Group
recognises credit loss allowance in other comprehensive
income and does not decrease the carrying amount of such
financial assets in the balance sheet.

The Group measures loss allowance at the full lifetime ECL
of the financial instruments in the previous accounting
period. However, at the balance sheet date, for the above
financial instruments, if significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition no longer applies, the Group measures
loss allowance for the financial instrument at 12-month ECL
at the balance sheet date for the current period. Relevant
reversal of loss allowance is included in profit or loss for the
current period as gain on impairment.
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ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
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10.

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

Financial instruments (Continued)

10.2 Impairment of financial instruments and other
items (Continued)
1021 Significant increases in credit risk

The Group assesses whether or not the credit risk
of the relevant financial instruments has increased
significantly since the initial recognition at each
balance sheet date. While determining whether the
credit risk has significantly increased since initial
recognition, the Group takes into account the
reasonable and substantiated information that is
accessible without exerting unnecessary cost or effort,
including qualitative and quantitative analysis based
on the historical data of the Group, external credit
risk rating, and forward-looking information. Based
on the single financial instrument or the combination
of financial instruments with similar characteristics of
credit risk, the Group compares the risk of default of
financial instruments on the balance sheet date with
that on the initial recognition date in order to figure
out the changes of default risk in the expected lifetime
of financial instruments. For financial guarantee
contracts, the date that the Group becomes a party
to the irrevocable commitment is considered to be the
date of initial recognition in the application of criteria
related to the financial instrument for impairment.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) AP EIRERMISE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2020 202012 H31HILFE

ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND = - EZ8FHBIRKE S5t hEH(1E)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
10. Financial instruments (Continued)
10.2 Impairment of financial instruments and other
items (Continued)

1021 Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

10. €T HR(E)
10.2 @ T AR AMIER #E
(4

102.1 15 JH J2 B 7 & & 10

Criteria for judging significant increases in credit risk

When triggering one or more of the following
quantitative and qualitative criteria, the Group believes
that the credit risk of financial instruments has
increased significantly:

o Quantitative criteria are primarily that the
probability of default of the remaining duration
of the reporting date rises by more than a
certain proportion compared with the initial
recognition

o Qualitative criteria primarily include major
adverse changes in the debtor’s business or
financial position, the debtor’s internal credit
rating is actually lowered or is expected to be
lowered, etc.

At the balance date, the Group assumes that credit
risk of the financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the Group
determines that the financial instrument is only
exposed to lower credit risk. If the risk of default of
a financial instrument is low, the borrower is highly
capable of meeting its contract cash flow obligations
in the short term, and the financial instrument is
considered to have a lower credit risk even if there
is an adverse change in the economic situation and
operating environment over a longer period of time,
but it may not necessarily reduce the borrower’s
performance of its contract cash obligations.
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ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

152

10.

Financial instruments (Continued)

10.2 Impairment of financial instruments and other
items (Continued)
10.2.2 Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
include observable data about the following events:

(1)

WEICHAI PoweRr Co.,

Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

A breach of contract by the debtor, such as a
default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments;

The creditor, for economic or contracted reasons
relating to the debtor’s financial difficulty,
granting to the debtor a concession which
will not otherwise be granted in any other
circumstances;

[t becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganizations;

The disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties of
the issuer or the debtor.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

10.

Financial instruments (Continued)

10.2 Impairment of financial instruments and other
items (Continued)
10.2.3 Recognition of expected credit losses

The Group assesses the expected credit losses of
financial instruments based on individual and group
basis. The Group recognises the credit loss on
receivables, lease receivables, contract assets, etc., of
significant amount and insignificant amount but with
special credit risk on an individual asset basis, and
otherwise recognises credit loss of relevant financial
instruments on a group basis. The Group considers
the credit risk characteristics of different customers
and evaluates the expected credit losses of accounts
receivable on the basis of groupings by age, by quality
of credit history and by overdue age. The Group
considers various credit risk characteristics including
instrument type, credit risk ratings, collateral type,
date of initial recognition, remaining term to maturity,
industry, geographical location of the debtor and the
value of collateral relative to the financial asset, etc.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
10. Financial instruments (Continued)
10.2 Impairment of financial instruments and other
items (Continued)
10.2.3 Recognition of expected credit losses
(Continued)
The Group determines expected credit losses of
relevant financial instruments using the following
methods:

o For financial assets, a credit loss is the present
value of the difference between the contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group under
the contract and the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive.

o For lease receivables, a credit loss is the present
value of the difference between the contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group under
the contract and the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive.

. For a financial guarantee contract, credit loss
is the present value of difference between the
expected payments to reimburse the holder for
a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that
the Group expects to receive from the holder,
the debtor or any other party.

o For credit-impaired financial assets at the
balance sheet date, credit loss is the difference
between the gross carrying amount of financial
assets and the present value of expected future
cash flows discounted at original effective
interest rate.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31 December 2020

ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
10. Financial instruments (Continued)
10.2 Impairment of financial instruments and other
items (Continued)
10.2.3 Recognition of expected credit losses
(Continued)
The Group’s measurement of ECL of financial
instruments reflects factors including unbiased
probability weighted average amount recognised
by assessing a series of possible results, time value
of money, reasonable and supportable information
related to historical events, current condition and
forecast of future economic position that is available
without undue cost or effort at the balance sheet
date.

10.2.4 Write-off of financial assets
The Group shall directly reduce the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset when the Group has no
reasonable expectations of recovering a financial
asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition of the relevant financial
asset.

10.3 Transfer of financial assets

The Group shall derecognise a financial asset when one of
the following conditions are satisfied: (1) the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, (2)
the financial asset has been transferred and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset is
transferred to the transferee; or (3) although the financial
asset has been transferred, the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the financial asset but has not retained control of the
financial asset.
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10.

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

Financial instruments (Continued)
10.3 Transfer of financial assets (Continued)

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of a financial asset,
and it retains control of the financial asset, the Group will
recognize the financial asset to the extent of its continuing
involvement in the transferred financial asset and recognize
an associated liability. Relevant liabilities are measured using

the following methods:

o If the transferred financial asset is measured at
amortized cost, the carrying amount of relevant
liabilities is the carrying amount of continuing
involvement in the transferred financial asset less
the amortized cost of the rights retained by the
Group (if the Group retains rights for the transfer
of the financial asset) plus the amortized cost of the
obligations undertaken by the Group (if the Group
undertakes relevant obligations for the transfer of
the financial asset), and the relevant liabilities are not

designated as financial liabilities at FVTPL.

° If the transferred financial asset is measured at fair
value, the carrying amount of relevant liabilities is
the carrying amount of continuing involvement in
the transferred financial asset less the fair value of
the rights retained by the Group (if the Group retains
rights for the transfer of the financial asset) plus the
fair value of the obligations undertaken by the Group
(if the Group undertakes relevant obligations for the
transfer of the financial asset), and the fair value of
the rights and liabilities is measured on a stand-alone

basis.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

10.

Financial instruments (Continued)
10.3 Transfer of financial assets (Continued)

For a transfer of a financial asset in its entirety that satisfies
the derecognition criteria, for financial assets classified
as at amortized cost and financial assets at FVTOCI, the
difference between the carrying amount of the financial
asset transferred and the sum of the consideration received
from the transfer and accumulated amount of the fair value
changes originally taken to other comprehensive income
corresponding to the derecognized part shall be taken to
profit or loss for the current period. Where the financial
asset to be transferred by the Group is a non-trading equity
instrument investment designated as at FVTOCI, accumulated
gains or losses previously taken to other comprehensive
income are transferred out from other comprehensive
income and taken to retained earnings.

For a part of transfer of a financial asset that satisfies
the derecognition criteria, the carrying amount of the
transferred financial asset is allocated between the part
that is derecognized and the part that is continuously
involved, based on the respective fair values of those parts
on transfer date. The difference between the sum of the
consideration received for the part of the derecognition and
the accumulated amount of the fair value changes originally
taken to other comprehensive income corresponding to
the derecognized part and the carrying amount on the
date of derecognition for the derecognized part shall be
taken to profit and loss for the current period. Where the
financial asset to be transferred by the Group is a non-
trading equity instrument investment designated as at
FVTOCI, accumulated gains or losses previously taken to
other comprehensive income are transferred out from other
comprehensive income and taken to retained earnings.

For a transfer of a financial asset in its entirety that does not
satisfy the derecognition criteria, the Group will continuously
recognize the transferred financial asset in its entirety.
Considerations received should be recognized as a financial
liability.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

10.4 Classification of financial liabilities and equity

instruments

Financial instruments or their constituent parts issued
by the Group are classified into financial liabilities or
equity instruments on initial recognition on the basis of
the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
economic nature but not only its legal form, together with
the definition of financial liability and equity instruments.

10.4.1 Classification and measurement of financial
liabilities
On initial recognition, financial liabilities are classified
into financial liabilities at FVTPL and other financial
liabilities.

10.4.1.1 Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities at FVTPL consist of financial
liabilities held for trading (including derivative
instruments of financial liabilities) and those
designated as at FVTPL. Financial liabilities
at FVTPL are presented as held-for-trading
financial liabilities or other non-current liabilities

according to their liquidity.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31 December 2020

III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
10. Financial instruments (Continu